South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2024

The Relationship of Macronutrient Intake with Growth in Children with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

Jessica L. Freeling South Dakota State University, jessica.freeling@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2

Part of the Human and Clinical Nutrition Commons

Recommended Citation

Freeling, Jessica L., "The Relationship of Macronutrient Intake with Growth in Children with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus" (2024). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 986. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd2/986

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

THE RELATIONSHIP OF MACRONUTRIENT INTAKE WITH GROWTH IN CHILDREN WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES MELLITUS

BY JESSICA L. FREELING

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy Nutrition and Exercise Sciences South Dakota State University 2024

DISSERTATION ACCEPTANCE PAGE Jessica L. Freeling

This dissertation is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree and is acceptable for meeting the dissertation requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

> Lacey Arneson McCormack Advisor Date

Jessica Meendering Director

Date

Nicole Lounsbery, PhD Director, Graduate School

Date

Dedication

To the courageous children and their families, whose selfless contribution to this study serves to guide us towards a brighter future for children facing this challenging diagnosis. Your resilience and sacrifice in the face of Type 1 diabetes will have a profound impact on the lives of those yet to be diagnosed. With heartfelt gratitude, this dissertation is dedicated to you, for your invaluable contribution to advancing our understanding toward a brighter, healthier future for all.

To my niece, Anastyn, a shining example of resilience, strength, and intelligence, who was recently diagnosed with Type 1 diabetes. You have illuminated the personal dimensions of my research. You are already facing this challenge with grace and determination. You will serve as a daily reminder of the profound impact this devastating disease can have and strengthen my resolve to help in the way that I know how, through science. With each page of this dissertation, know that it is dedicated to you— a brilliant, and strong young lady who undoubtedly has the courage to navigate the complexities of

Type 1 diabetes and emerge victorious. You've got this, Anna!

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I wish to thank my family, who ironically, may have suffered nutritionally because I cooked less over the last five years. While I take pride in the accomplishment of this degree, it is my role as a parent to you two boys that truly defines success for me. I did this for myself, but I hope that you will – someday – see that I also did it for you, so that you know the value of passion, hard work, and determination. To my best friend and husband Steve, I love you. I know this wasn't easy for you either. You are my rock.

I extend my heartfelt appreciation to my mentor, Dr. Lacey McCormack, for her invaluable guidance and patience. Her constant reminder to "focus" and ability to ground me, kept me moving forward.

I am indebted to my committee members, Dr. Moul Dey, Dr. Crystal Levesque, and Dr. Wenfeng An, for their generous time and support. Your mentorship extends beyond this dissertation, and I am honored to now be considered your colleague.

To Dr. Yifan Li, whose impact on my life spans over two decades. From my humble beginnings as your research technician to navigating motherhood, pursuing a Master's degree, and finally completing my Ph.D., your support has been immeasurable. I am immensely grateful for your continued presence in my life, even as you embark on your next journey.

Lastly, I am grateful to the countless friends, colleagues, and scientists who have served as mentors along the way. Your guidance has shaped my journey, and I am committed to paying it forward to future generations. Thank you all for believing in me and for being an integral part of my academic and personal growth.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONSiz	X
ABSTRACTxi	i
Chapter 1: Dietary Macronutrients and Child Height: A Narrative Review	1
INTRODUCTION	1
NATURE: Hormones, Genetics, and Metabolism	3
Hormones	3
Genetics	5
Metabolism	6
Metabolic and Altered Growth States	9
NURTURE: Environment, Socioeconomics, and Nutrition12	2
Environment12	2
Socioeconomics13	3
Nutrition14	4
Guideline Determination Methods: The Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) 14	4
Total Energy Expenditure (TEE) Calculations15	5
Energy Requirement Calculations in Children16	6
Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range (AMDR) Determination 19	9
Dietary PRO20	0
Dietary FAT	6
Dietary CHO	9
Literature Search: Macronutrient Relationships with Linear Growth	2
Macronutrient and Total Energy Associations with Height	4
World View	4
Macronutrient Studies in Low-Income Populations (i.e., TE may not be adequate)	5
Macronutrient Studies in High-Income Populations (i.e., TE likely adequate) 37	7
Discussion of Macronutrient Associations with Linear Growth	0
OVERALL DISCUSSION	2
CONCLUSION	6
TABLES	8
Table 1.1	8

REFERENCES	49
Chapter 2: Longitudinal Analysis of Physical Growth in Children with T1DM: The Potential Impacts of Disease Duration and Blood Glucose Control	68
ABSTRACT	68
BACKGROUND	69
METHODS	72
Data Acquisition	72
Participants	72
Measures	73
Age and age of diagnosis	73
Height	74
Weight	74
Growth rate	74
Disease Duration	75
Blood glucose	75
Stunting and Wasting	75
Data Analysis	76
Statistical Model Selection	76
Outlier Detection and Removal	77
HEIGHT and WEIGHT Models	78
RESULTS	79
Cross-Sectional Analysis Results	79
Baseline Participant Characteristics	79
Descriptive Growth Patterns	79
Stunting and Wasting Rates	80
Blood Glucose Control	81
Longitudinal Analysis Results	81
Fixed Effects Model Results	81
Random Effects Model Results	82
Covariate Model Hypothesis Testing	83
HbA1c Covariate	83
Disease Duration Covariate	85
DISCUSSION	86

CONCLUSION				
TABLES				
Table 2.2A				
Table 2.2B				
Table 2.3A				
Table 2.3B				
Table 2.4				
FIGURES				
Figure 2.1				
Figure 2.2	100			
Figure 2.3	101			
Figure 2.4	101			
Figure 2.5				
Figure 2.6	103			
SUPPLEMENTS				
Supplement 2.1				
Supplement 2.2	105			
REFERENCES	108			
Chapter 3: The Nutritional Geometry of Physical Height Growth in Children	with T1DM			
ABSTRACT				
BACKGROUND	113			
METHODS	117			
Data Acquisition	117			
Participant Characteristics and Data Collection	117			
Statistical Analysis				
Response Surface Analysis (RSA)	119			
RSA: Height	121			
RSA: Z-Height				
RSA: Intakes Associated with Normal Z-Height by Age	122			
Response Surface Analysis (RSA) Coefficient Interpretation	122			
Response Surface Mapping (RSM) Interpretation	123			
RESULTS				

Descriptive Assessments	124
Question 1: What macronutrients are associated with maximal height and metabolic height growth outcomes in children with T1DM?	ormal z- 125
Findings in Boys-Maximal Height	125
Findings in Boys-Normal Z-Height	126
Findings in Girls-Maximal Height	127
Findings in Girls-Normal Z-Height	127
<i>Question 2: What is the relationship of the relative percent intake of each macronutrient with normal z-height, and how does this change with age?</i>	128
Finding in Boys	128
Findings in Girls	129
<i>Question 3: What are the absolute gram intakes associated with normal z-h and how does this change with age?</i>	<i>eight,</i> 130
Findings in Boys	130
Findings in Girls	130
DISCUSSION	131
CONCLUSION	136
TABLES	137
Table 3.1	137
Table 3.2	138
FIGURES	139
Figure 3.1	139
Figure 3.2	140
Figure 3.3	141
Figure 3.4	142
Figure 3.5	143
Figure 3.6	144
SUPPLEMENTS	
Supplement 3.1	145
Supplement 3.2	145
Supplement 3.3	
REFERENCES	149

ABBREVIATIONS

AA	amino acid
ADA	American Diabetes Association
AI	adequate intake
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
ALA	alpha linolenic acid
AMDR	Adequate Macronutrient Distribution Range
aPHV	age at peak height velocity
BCAA	branch chain amino acid
BEE	basal energy expenditure
BFE	basic fixed effect
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMR	basal metabolic rate
BRE	basic random effect
CDC	Center for Disease Control
СНО	carbohydrate (dietary)
СМ	covariate model
CNS	central nervous system
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complication Trial
DGA	Dietary Guidelines for Americans
DHA	docosahexaenoic acid
DHHS	Department of Health and Human Services
DIAAS	digestible indispensable amino acid score
DLW	double labeled water
DONALD	Dortmund Nutritional and Anthropometric Longitudinally Designed Study
DRI	Dietary Reference Intakes
EAR	estimated average requirements
ECHO	Environmental Influences on Child Health Outcomes
ECoG	energy cost of growth
EER	estimated energy requirements
EFA	essential fatty acid
EPA	eicosapentaenoic acid
FA	fatty acid
FAH	final adult height
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FAOSTAT	Food and Agriculture Organization Statistical Database
FAT	fat (dietary)
fat	body or tissue fat
FE	fixed effect

FFM	fat-free mass
FFQ	food frequency questionnaire
FM	fat mass
GAM	generalized additive model
GH	pituitary growth hormone
GH/IGF-1	growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor hormone 1 axis
HAZ	height for age z-score
HbA1c	glycated hemoglobin
HFKD	high fat ketogenic diet
IAAO	indicator amino acid oxidation
IDAA	indispensable amino acids
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IOM	Institute of Medicine
IRB	Institutional Review Board
LA	linoleic acid
LBM	lean body mass
LCD	low carbohydrate diet
LEAD	Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity & Diabetes Center
LRT	likelihood ratio test
MUFA	monounsaturated fatty acid
NB	nitrogen balance
NG	Nutritional Geometry
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NIDDK	National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Diseases
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NLME	nonlinear mixed effects model
PAL	physical activity level
PDCAAS	protein digestibility corrected amino acid score
PEM	protein energy malnutrition
PFAA	perfluoroalkyl acids
PHV	peak height velocity
PRO	protein (dietary)
protein	tissue or body protein
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acid
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RDA	recommended dietary allowance
RE	random effect
ROUT	robust regression and outlier removal
RSA	response surface analysis
RSM	response surface mapping
SD	standard deviation

SES	socioeconomic status
SFA	saturated fatty acid
SRE	selected random effect
SSB	sugar sweetened beverage
T1DM	type 1 diabetes mellitus
TE	total energy
TEE	total energy expenditure
TEF	thermic effect of food
TOT	total caloric intake (equivalent to total energy)
UL	tolerable upper intake level
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
WAZ	weight for age z-score
WHO	World Health Organization
WHZ	weight for height z-score

ABSTRACT

THE RELATIONSHIP OF MACRONUTRIENT INTAKE WITH GROWTH IN CHILDREN WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES MELLITUS

JESSICA L. FREELING

2024

Child growth, a sensitive metric of overall health, results from the intricate interplay of nature and nurture. While the importance of nutrition in child growth is wellestablished, growth trajectories exhibit substantial individual variability, influenced by sex and age, and often characterized by nonlinear patterns. Inadequate nutrition or disease can hinder growth, with potential for recovery upon proper nutrition or acute disease resolution. However, chronic disease or persistent malnutrition may lead to permanent growth perturbation. Notably, before the advent of insulin, chronic stunting and wasting were hallmarks of Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), though the specific impacts under modern standard of care remain incompletely understood.

The three primary macronutrients—protein, carbohydrate, and fat—contribute to growth by supplying calories for total energy. Among healthy children, the roles of each macronutrient in physical growth are well-defined. Dietary protein uniquely supports linear and somatic growth through its dual energy-yielding and nitrogen-obtaining properties. Fatty acids from dietary fat are essential for neurological growth and development. Conversely, any direct role of dietary carbohydrate in growth beyond energy provision is minimal. Whether these macronutrient roles are altered in the presence of T1DM remains unclear. Additionally, recommendations for macronutrient distribution in children, as defined by the Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range (AMDR), were primarily extrapolated from adults and not tailored for diseased populations.

This dissertation first provides context by examining the relationship between macronutrient intake and height growth in healthy children. Subsequent chapters explore growth and nutrition in children with T1DM undergoing standard insulin therapy. Longitudinal descriptive analyses, utilizing nonlinear mixed effects modeling, revealed that these children may experience earlier puberty onset and achieve taller final adult heights compared to their non-T1DM peers. Nutritional Geometry (NG) was applied to uncover disease-, sex-, and age-specific relationships between macronutrient distribution and physical height growth. Findings suggest a significant positive main effect association between fat intake and maximal height in boys, but not girls. However, no relationships with z-height were observed in boys or girls, suggesting macronutrient distribution is unrelated to normal growth in this population. The findings underscore NG's potential to inform disease-specific AMDR recommendations for optimal child growth. Chapter 1: Dietary Macronutrients and Child Height: A Narrative Review

INTRODUCTION

Francis Galton's well-known concept of *nature versus nurture* provides an elegant way to think about child growth. Though unknown to Galton, we now know about epigenetics, namely that the nurture aspect can affect the nature aspect. The two are dynamically interwoven, no longer considered pitted against one another. The primary impacts on growth and development in children involve a complex interplay between *nature* (hormones, genetics, and metabolism) and *nurture* (environment, socioeconomics, and nutrition). This review will explore both the *nature and nurture* aspects of child growth, focusing on the nutritional impacts of macronutrients on linear height.

Studies have explored the genetic/ethnic, socioeconomic, and nutritional predictors of adult height across world populations.^{1,2} As expected, genetic/ethnic factors correlated closely with adult height. However, among 45 nations of European background, including the U.S., the primary factor in stature was nutrition-related². Data across 152 nations, including developing countries, further suggests the primary importance of nutrition.¹ Worldwide, socioeconomic factors correlated mildly with height, but the strongest correlates were protein (PRO) quantity and quality.^{1,2} These data indicate that while genetic and socio-economic factors are important to stature worldwide, nutrition also plays an important role.

Stagnant growth is considered an adaptive response to inadequate nutrition, making the ability of a child to grow a good indicator of overall health.^{3,4} Growth is complicated by the variability in growth rates of infants and children as linear growth occurs in *spurts*, even in healthy children. The timing of the initiation and duration of the growth spurt is also highly variable, as is the onset of puberty. If a child is undernourished, growth slows as an adaptive response to decrease protein synthesis, the basal metabolic rate (BMR), and physical activity level (PAL).⁵ Additionally, the presence of disease may result in alterations in growth patterns. This slowing of growth may be temporary in cases of acute illness or long-term if chronic disease or undernutrition is present. Adaptive slowing may occur with catch-up at the reintroduction of adequate nutrition; however, permanent perturbation of growth due to the sustained presence of disease or lack of caloric or specific macronutrient availability may result in shorter stature, termed *stunting*. Growth deceleration has an upper limit where 1) prolonged suboptimal nutritional intake (namely PRO); 2) poor nutritional absorption (diseases of intestinal nutrient malabsorption or parasitic infections); or 3) decreased substrate deposition (altered cellular glucose uptake as occurs in uncontrolled diabetes) may result in a permanently reduced stature.

Nutrition science has excelled at identifying overt deficiencies and toxicities of single nutrients and defining total energy expenditure (TEE) at various life stages; however, understanding the impact of specific dietary macronutrient patterns on health is complicated by their interrelated (collinear) nature. The Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) and associated Adequate Macronutrient Distribution Ranges (AMDR) were developed by the Institute of Medicine (IOM) of The National Academies to provide a set of reference values for macronutrient intakes for total energy (TE), carbohydrate (CHO), fiber, fat (FAT), fatty acids (FA), cholesterol, protein (PRO), and amino acids (AA). The document was developed for healthy individuals to define a macronutrient range that will "confer decreased risk of disease and provide the most desirable long-term health benefits

to apparently healthy individuals."^{3(p,39)} Even for adults, data on the impact of macronutrients on health was limited at the time of the release of the current DRI, now nearly two decades old. As will be discussed, the DRI and AMDR for children were primarily extrapolated from adult data.

The effects of nutrition on child growth in the context of overweight/obesity have received much attention over the previous two decades. However, this hyper-focus on obesity outcomes has missed "*the forest for the trees*" regarding child growth, as nutritional impacts on linear height have been largely ignored. Many studies have collected height data to calculate body mass index (BMI) but failed to report height-specific outcomes. In light of this, this review will attempt to synthesize the available literature on the potential impacts of macronutrients on stature, exploring how *nature and nurture* influence linear child growth. The *nature* facet will include a review of the 1) hormonal, genetic, and metabolic contexts, and the *nurture* aspect will explore the 2) environmental, socioeconomic, and nutritional factors of linear child growth. Particular focus will be on the methods utilized for the current dietary recommendations for children, with a detailed examination of the potential impacts of the three primary dietary macronutrients on linear growth, excluding obesity.

NATURE: Hormones, Genetics, and Metabolism

Hormones

Growth is driven through the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-1 (GH/IGF-1) axis. The primary hormones involved in growth include the sex hormones estrogen and testosterone, the pituitary growth and gonadotropic hormones, and the thyroid hormones. Deficiencies or overproduction of these various hormones can result in an alteration of normal growth patterns.

Thyroid hormone is needed for normal continual growth and brain function. Thyroid deficiency, when treated, results in catch-up growth but does not appear to play a role in the adolescent growth spurt.^{6,7} It is well known that the pituitary growth hormones (GH) drive linear growth during puberty, as GH is known to have net effects on the breakdown of adipose and the buildup of body tissue.⁸ Produced mainly by the liver, IGF-1 increases the amount of protein deposited in muscle and decreases the amount of fat deposited, resulting in an increase in lean body mass (LBM) and a decrease in fat mass (FM). The sex hormones, testosterone and estrogen, are known to stimulate GH secretion⁷. Therefore, in children, the primary sex hormones bring about the changes of adolescence and are responsible for most of the growth spurt by impacting GH. In boys and girls, respectively, increased testosterone and estrogen during puberty induce secretion of GH and hepatic production of IGF-1.^{5,7,9} Circulating IGF-1 stimulates growth in all cellular systems of the body but is particularly important for skeletal muscle and bone deposition.⁷ Levels of IGF-1 can, however, be altered by other factors besides nutrition, such as physical activity¹⁰ and stress.¹¹ Levels also change over time as children grow.¹²

The GH/IGF-1 axis plays a primary role in metabolic homeostasis by impacting gluconeogenesis, glycogenolysis, and lipolysis.¹³ Clinically, insufficient nutrition or disorders of the axis can result in inadequate child growth. Serum IGF-1 is a standard screening tool for stunting, defined as low height for age z-score (HAZ) since levels are sensitive to acute and chronic nutritional status and potential GH disorders.¹⁴ It is known

that chronic energy or PRO malnutrition results in GH resistance and decreased IGF-1 levels.¹⁴

Linear height in puberty outpaces bone deposition. In a large longitudinal study of healthy adolescents, linear height increased substantially faster than bone mineral content accrued, with a large proportion of bone deposition taking place after adult height was achieved.¹⁵ The deposit of bone before height accrual highlights that growth, at least in linear height and bone accumulation, is driven by hormones and not the availability of substrate for bone.

Genetics

The primary role of genetics in growth, particularly in height accretion in adolescence, is widely accepted.¹⁶ Genetics and ethnicity predict ~25-50% of interindividual variability in body composition and height by one estimate⁵ and ~41-71% by another.¹⁷ In a longitudinal Finnish twin cohort study, genetics explained ~72-81% of the variation in height in boys and 65-86% for girls, while environmental factors, including diet, were estimated to explain just 5-23% of the variation in height.¹⁸ A study using National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) data revealed that ethnicity and birth weight are strongly associated with height for age z-score (HAZ).¹⁹ These data suggest that most of the variation in height within populations results from genetic variation (*nature*). In contrast, the remaining variation can be attributed to environmental factors, such as dietary intake and socioeconomic factors (*nurture*).

While obesity is outside the scope of this review, children with obesity are taller on average and hit puberty earlier than their lean peers due to earlier onset of epiphyseal growth plate maturation; however, final adult heights (FAHs) are similar.^{20–22} A large observational study found that children with obesity were taller than their peers at ages 6-8 years old.²¹ However, they then exhibited a reduction in circulating levels of IGF-1, insulin, and leptin during puberty, thereby reducing growth velocity so that FAH was similar to non-obese controls. These observations suggest that while dietary factors can alter the progression of linear height in children, some other setpoint element, likely genetic potential, plays a primary role in FAH. Depending on age, growth patterns and velocities may be altered by dietary intake and hormonal status, but genetic potential is a primary driver of FAH.

Metabolism

The metabolic flexibility of the human is supported by the capacity of the body to produce and utilize two primary fuels physiologically: glucose and ketones. The human body can *de novo* synthesize most of the types of lipids and all the glucose needed for homeostasis.^{3,23} Aside from n-6 and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), there are no specific requirements for FAT or CHO in the diet.³ However, while the human body can synthesize some AAs *de novo*, nine AAs must be obtained through dietary PRO intake, termed the indispensable amino acids (IDAA). Dietary PRO provides nitrogen to make the non-essential AAs and is required for tissue repair and new cell production, a vital component of growth. Only about half of the body's nitrogen stores can be mobilized before death occurs, highlighting the unique importance of PRO.^{24,25} In comparison, practically all the lipid stores of the body can be mobilized without detrimental effects.^{25,26}

Production and utilization of glucose and ketones as fuel sources act in concert daily in any given individual. Glucose metabolism pathways produce and metabolize glucose for body tissues. Ketone production occurs during periods of fasting, such as during the night, periods of starvation, or in the absence of dietary CHO. Some organs prefer a particular fuel source over the other, but most organs of the body, including the brain, can utilize either glucose or ketones for fuel.^{23,24,26} There is much variation among the organs regarding which fuel source is preferred or optimal.²⁷ However, extensive discussion of this topic is beyond the scope of this paper.

Endogenous glucose production can be accomplished from dietary FAT and PRO. Glucose production via glycogenolysis (glycogen breakdown in the liver) and gluconeogenesis (de novo glucose synthesis in the liver and kidney) can produce needed glucose.²⁴ In adults, it has been reported that about half of glucose in circulation comes from glycogenolysis and half from gluconeogenesis.²⁸ However, in adolescents, Sunehag et al. found that ~64-69% of glucose production comes from gluconeogenesis.²⁹ Gluconeogenesis utilizes PRO to produce needed glucose because FAs cannot be converted very *efficiently* to glucose, from which came the biochemist's mantra that 'you can't make sugar from fat.' Further, FAs cannot be utilized as fuel for the brain because they are bound to albumin in plasma which cannot pass the blood-brain barrier. Because gluconeogenesis primarily uses PRO to produce glucose, this PRO can come from dietary PRO or body tissue protein. In the absence of dietary PRO, to spare this tissue protein, the priority of the liver shifts to ketone production from lipid stores. Without dietary CHO, gluconeogenesis preferentially breaks down dietary PRO to spare tissue protein to produce glucose.²³

It is well known that the body tightly regulates blood glucose levels with only \sim 4g (\sim 1 teaspoon) of glucose in the entire bloodstream at any given time.³⁰ Data collected a

century ago in adults showed that gluconeogenesis can make ~0.56g glucose for every gram of animal PRO ingested.³¹ Estimates of the totality of the various gluconeogenic substrates produce ~100-200 g/day of glucose in adults.²³ Glucose production rates in adolescents and prepubertal children have been recorded as 12.5-13.1 and 19.4-21.2 μ mol/kg/min, respectively; see g/day estimates below.²⁹ Further, isocaloric/isonitrogenous diets containing 30% versus 60% CHO were similar in total glucose production from gluconeogenesis.²⁹

Doing the math: In an adolescent weighing 100 lbs at 13 μ mol/kg/min, the estimated daily total endogenous glucose production is ~153 g/day. A 50 lb prepubertal child at 20 μ mol/kg/min would produce an estimated ~118 g/day of endogenous glucose.

The brain is the most energy-greedy of all the organs, requiring an estimated 50-60% of the glucose energy of the body²⁷ and 20% of the body's total energy expenditure (TEE).³² Therefore, if the adult brain requires ~130g/day of glucose, the argument can be made that the process of hepatic glucose production is adequate and remarkably wellmatched with the needs of the brain for glucose. Research has demonstrated that the brain can utilize ketone bodies and lactate as alternative fuels. Notably, the monocarboxylate transporter mechanisms by which ketones and lactate cross the blood-brain barrier have been identified.^{33,34} Plasma levels of ketone bodies are transported and metabolized by the brain in a dose-dependent manner.^{35,36}

The ability to endogenously produce glucose or ketones for the brain, and whether it is optimal to do so, gets to the center of the disagreement among nutritional physiologists. Regardless, advances in understanding ketone metabolism in the brain bring questions to the long-held view that the brain can only utilize glucose and thus must have constant access to CHO in the diet.

Recent research highlights that child metabolism is dynamic with age. The 12year EARLYBIRD study, which followed children from ~5 to 18 years old, showed complex glucose metabolism alterations and amino/fatty acid molecular changes across time.³⁷ As children progressed through puberty, there was a shift away from fat oxidation resulting in reduced ketogenesis and increased blood glucose levels. However, while the study involved extensive evaluation of metabolic markers across time, no dietary intake data were collected. The changes in metabolism observed at puberty could reflect a change in macronutrient intake during adolescence. Indeed, it is known that U.S. children increase CHO intake in adolescence to the highest level of all age groups across the lifespan.³⁸

A study conducted in prepubertal and adolescent children by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) suggested a similar pattern of change in metabolism with child age. Insulin sensitivity and glucose effectiveness were age, but not sexdependent, with prepubertal children having about double the insulin sensitivity as adolescents.²⁹ These studies suggest that the child's metabolism may differ from that of adults and change dynamically as children grow. Considering this may have important implications given that current child dietary recommendations are primarily based on extrapolation from adult data.

Metabolic and Altered Growth States

The absence of all macronutrients (i.e., low PRO, low FAT, low CHO) is defined as caloric energy starvation or *marasmus*. It is unknown how much glucose can be produced through gluconeogenesis in the absence of dietary PRO before tissue protein stores are affected. However, nitrogen balance (NB) studies in adults suggest that without CHO in the diet, 100-150g of daily PRO is required for adequate substrate for gluconeogenesis to produce needed glucose.³⁹ During starvation and without PRO and CHO in the diet, once fat stores have been depleted and no more ketones are produced, tissue protein is lost until death occurs. The loss of body condition is termed wasting, defined as a low weight-for-age z-score (WAZ).

In the absence of dietary PRO and FAT (i.e., low PRO, low FAT, HIGH CHO), a disease of young children called *kwashiorkor* can develop. Kwashiorkor occurs when there is an adequate caloric intake, but the diet is specifically deficient in PRO, as opposed to *marasmus*, in which total calories are inadequate. Protein has metabolic roles in pH and fluid balance. The extreme lack of PRO in kwashiorkor results in an osmotic imbalance that causes skin edema and "potbelly" due to liver enlargement. Generally, PRO deficiency adversely affects the organs, brain, and immune system, increasing the risk of infections. The condition typically develops once a child transitions from breast milk, which provides required AAs, to a diet high in CHO but lacking in PRO. Another form, protein-energy malnutrition (PEM), can also occur in elderly adults and children with chronic disease, impacting immune and organ function. However, PEM in the U.S. is more often associated with marasmus (total caloric deficiency) than kwashiorkor, though it is not unheard of in developed countries.⁴⁰

In the absence of dietary FAT and CHO (i.e., HIGH PRO, low FAT, low CHO diet), humans can enter "rabbit starvation," also known as "protein poisoning." Rabbit starvation occurs when the diet consists primarily of PRO and is named for the cautionary statements in World War II-era survival manuals for soldiers to not exclusively consume

rabbits in survival situations. Starvation can occur even in the presence of more than sufficient calories from dietary PRO, as the liver has a limited capacity to convert excess nitrogen to urea. This upper limit is estimated to be \sim 35% PRO (\sim 175g PRO in a 2000 calorie diet), but no human studies have examined this threshold. This level fits with anthropological data from pre-agricultural man, estimated to have ingested \sim 35% of calories from PRO.^{41,42} However, despite the adverse effects of excessive PRO in the diet, the DRI has not set an UL for PRO.³

The absence of dietary CHO in the diet (i.e., HIGH PRO, HIGH FAT, and low CHO diet) was common to northern sea-faring nations such as the Inuit.^{43,44} As discussed, the lack of CHO in the diet is managed by the presence of endogenous physiological mechanisms to produce needed glucose and ketones. Indeed, the DRI text states, "the lower limit of dietary carbohydrate compatible with life apparently is zero, provided that adequate amounts of PRO and FAT are consumed."^{3(p.275)} When the diet is absent of dietary PRO and CHO (i.e., low PRO, HIGH FAT, low CHO), this defines a high-fat ketogenic diet (HFKD). This diet is well-researched for the treatment of intractable epilepsy in children. As discussed, some PRO in the diet is presumably required to produce glucose via gluconeogenesis for the brain.

Excessive caloric intake with an abundance of all three macronutrients, especially CHO and FAT (i.e., HIGH PRO, HIGH FAT, HIGH CARB), essentially defines overnutrition. Overnutrition is known to contribute to metabolic syndrome⁴⁵ and obesity⁴⁶ in children.

The human metabolism is remarkably flexible but with limitations. Humans utilize glucose as the primary fuel source if all three primary macronutrients are present in the diet. If CHO is absent from the diet, the human body will endogenously produce needed glucose and ketones as fuel sources. Arguments about what is optimal will always ensue.

NURTURE: Environment, Socioeconomics, and Nutrition

Environment

Environmental exposure to toxins, heavy metals, or pesticides can negatively affect child growth. Lead is one of the most common toxins affecting children. Children exposed to e-waste with elevated plasma lead levels had lower physical growth with lower weight, height, and BMI.⁴⁷ Similarly, Ugandan children exposed to metal mixtures had lower HAZ, with 62% of this effect specifically attributed to lead.⁴⁸ Stunting was associated with pesticide exposure in a case-control study of 160 children in an agricultural area of Indonesia.⁴⁹

In low to middle-income countries, dietary sources of mycotoxin exposure contribute to malnutrition and growth impairment.⁵⁰ Blood biomarkers of aflatoxin exposure in children aged 6 to 12 years in Kenyan children were associated with wasting but not stunting.⁵¹ However, Guatemalan children exposed to aflatoxin in maize were associated with decreased HAZ.⁵²

Among developed countries, exposures to endocrine disruptors and perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in the environment may be of increasing concern. In the Jersey Girls Study, urine mycoestrogens were detectable in 78.5% of 163 girls aged 9-10 years old.⁵³ Among the girls with detectable levels, these levels were associated with decreased HAZ and WAZ at menarche. Bisphenol A (BPA) from plastics also affects height in children. Among 754 Chinese children aged 9-18 years old, urine BPA and HAZ were inversely

associated in boys but not girls.⁵⁴ A study of NHANES children 3-11 years old, detected significant associations of PFAA and PFAA mixtures with decreased HAZ in boys.⁵⁵

Many studies report associations between childhood maltreatment and obesity, but the exploration of height is limited. For example, adverse childhood experiences, such as bullying, were found to be associated with BMI in 10-year-olds⁵⁶ and increased waist-to-hip ratio in adults.⁵⁷ In the National Survey of Children's Health, obesity was associated with having more adverse childhood experiences.⁵⁸ However, impacts on height have also been reported, as clinical psychosocial short stature has been described in Japanese children exposed to physical abuse.⁵⁹ One study reported that stunting and wasting in children were associated with neglect.⁶⁰ Taken together, these studies highlight the importance of a positive social environment for child growth.

Socioeconomics

Socioeconomic and demographic factors have known impacts on child growth and development.⁶¹ Socioeconomic status (SES) may impact growth via many factors, such as lack of access to medical care, the increased prevalence of disease, or decreased food access. Severe deprivation in early childhood was associated with permanent stunting among adoptees, with low HAZ found to be specific to females, with particular impacts on height velocity and FAH.⁶² In a study utilizing NHANES data, the Poverty Income Ratio and HAZ were strongly associated.¹⁹

Within-countries, a low SES and unhealthy dietary pattern were associated, with this relationship maintained across 12 countries.⁶³ These unhealthy diet patterns may contribute to the lack of specific micronutrients,⁶⁴ known to affect growth in children.^{65,66} Worldwide, the presence of iron deficiency anemia is of primary importance, impacting growth and development in children. However, while no less critical, iron deficiency primarily affects psychomotor development rather than growth in terms of height.⁶⁷ The World Health Organization (WHO) considers low iron to be of central importance. The WHO explicitly cites the causes as low iron availability in plant-based foods and poor iron absorption due to parasitic infections.⁶⁸ Many studies in developing nations utilize iron or anemia status as a proxy for PRO intake when studying stunting. In Sub-Saharan Africa, for example, anemia prevalence in children was ~60%, but only ~7% in U.S. children.⁶⁴

However, a meta-analysis of studies that treated children under 5 year old in developing nations with single nutrients, including iron, vitamin A, or zinc, showed that only zinc had a small positive effect on child growth.⁶⁹ Further, a systematic review of over 200 studies that utilized fortification of *multiple* micronutrients in children showed improvement of serum micronutrient concentrations but non-significant impacts on growth.⁷⁰ These data suggest that replacing these micronutrients has little effect on growth in the absence of a complete diet. Thus, this further highlights the importance of total energy (TE) and macronutrient intake, as these directly impact micronutrient availability and absorption.

Nutrition

Guideline Determination Methods: The Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI)

The set of reference values for micro- and macronutrients developed by the IOM, collectively known as the Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI), provide the estimated average requirement (EAR), recommended dietary allowance (RDA), adequate intake (AI), and tolerable upper intake level (UL). These collective DRIs were then used by the USDA and the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) to set the Dietary Guidelines

for Americans (DGA) and are communicated to the general U.S. public using MyPlate. A significant portion of current recommendations for child caloric intake and macronutrient distribution are extrapolated from adult data. Therefore, understanding how the IOM defines the DRI for children first requires understanding how it is defined in adults.

Total Energy Expenditure (TEE) Calculations

The most recent version of the DRI determined total energy expenditure (TEE), essentially the "*caloric cost of living*," from the gold-standard doubly labeled water (DLW) method followed by stepwise multiple linear regression to predict TEE based on age, gender, height, and weight. The DLW method measures TEE in free-living individuals⁷¹ and represents the sum of the basal metabolic rate (BMR), thermic effect of food (TEF), thermoregulation, and physical activity. Stable isotopic forms of water are administered orally, and the disappearance rate from body fluids is monitored, typically for 7-21 days.

Disappearance rates are used to calculate carbon dioxide (CO₂) production and thus, TEE. Consequently, TEE is the energy *expended* during the oxidation of energy-yielding nutrients to water and CO₂. For the DRI, data was compiled from ~20 investigators contacted from the literature who provided data across genders, ages, body weights, heights, and PALs. Further, the data included normal-weight children (n=525), normal-weight adults (n=407), children with overweight/obesity (n=319), and adults with overweight/obesity (n=360).³ Data were evaluated using non-linear regression to produce recommendations based on 1611 individuals.

There is a substantial effect of gender on energy expenditure throughout the lifespan.^{3,72} TEE is estimated at four different PALs in the DRI. PAL is determined by dividing the TEE by the basal metabolic rate (BMR) as calculated using the Basal Energy

Expenditure (BEE), making PAL a function of the ratio of TEE to BEE, creating a standardized set of ratios to define the level of activity into four categories. *The PAL categories are defined here*.³

PAL = TEE/BEE

sedentary (PAL 1.0-1.39)

low active (PAL 1.4-1.59)

active (PAL 1.6-1.89)

very active (PAL 1.9-2.5)

Energy Requirement Calculations in Children

TEE was calculated from data directly collected using DLW in adults and children with and without obesity. However, TEE does not consider the energy needed for tissue deposition, as TEE represents the energy *expended*. The estimated energy requirements (EER) were developed to provide a standardized prediction algorithm for estimating the TE required for energy balance. For children, this must include energy for somatic growth. Therefore, when the EER was determined for growing children, the energy cost of growth (*ECoG*) was added to the TEE for a given child's age and sex. The EER algorithm, which includes TEE in its mathematics, uses multiple factors, including sex, age, weight, height, and physical activity, to make predictions for normal weight, healthy individuals. Therefore, the primary energy expenditures in children can be simplified to include the summation of 1) BMR, 2) physical activity, and 3) ECoG. The largest component, ~60-70% of EER, comes from the BMR, which can be considered the *basal cost of living*.⁷³ The second-largest component is physical activity comprising ~30-

40% of EER.⁷³ The final component is the *ECoG*, estimated to be just \sim 3-4% of the EER in children over the age of 1 year.

Two components comprise the ECoG in children; the energy required to synthesize the new tissue and the energy deposited/stored within the newly acquired tissue.⁷³ Essentially, the ECoG quantifies the cost of energy deposition of body tissue fats and proteins because glucose content within the deposited tissue is negligible. The ECoG was calculated in children recovering from malnutrition to be ~4-6 kcal/g of tissue deposited, with ~ 1 kcal/g of that being the synthesis component.⁷⁴ Similarly, Butte et al. estimated the ECoG at 4.8 kcal/g in a 1989 study of infants across multiple body composition studies.⁷⁵ Therefore, the consensus is that the average energy cost of tissue synthesis and deposition is \sim 5 kcal/g tissue deposited.⁷⁶ More recently, Butte et al. quantified the ECoG in healthy children as a percentage of TEE. The ECoG is ~35% of TEE at 1 month of age, drops to just ~8% of TEE by 4 months, and ~3% of TEE by 1 year of age.^{77,78} The ECoG remains around 3% until the pubertal growth spurt, when it increases to ~4% of TEE.^{77,78} Nutritionally, the DRI concluded that ECoG is only of concern during the first few months of life.³ Indeed, the ECoG, at just 3-4% of the TEE, is negligible compared to the BMR and physical activity. In the DRI, the regression equation estimates the ECoG at just ~20-30 kcal/day for a growing teenager.³ Despite this, humans accrue up to 50% of their adult weight^{5,79} and 15% of their adult height with >90% of total adult bone mass during puberty.⁵ This remarkable increase in body size is despite the minimal ECoG because hormones^{80,81} and genetics^{5,82} play primary roles in growth.

Practical Example: Using the tables provided in the DRI, a sedentary 15year-old, 115 lbs (52kg), 63.8 inch tall female has a TEE of 1706 kcal/day. The same individual with a very active PAL would have a TEE of ~1000 more kcal at 2845 kcal/day. For comparison, the ECoG for this very active child in a growth spurt at 4% of TEE would be estimated at just 114 kcal/day.

Because physical activity is the second-largest component encompassing ~30-40% of TEE, it dramatically impacts energy requirements. Inadequate energy intake for an extended period will reduce physical activity to decrease TEE adaptively. If a child is chronically undernourished, growth slows as an adaptive response to decrease BMR, protein synthesis (i.e., the contribution of proteins for the ECoG), and physical activity.⁵ Data from studies show that physical activity increases with age but does not vary significantly by sex,⁷¹ and PAL estimates for boys and girls aged 6-16 years can be calculated as 0.025 X age + 1.40.⁸³ Young children generally have a *low active* PAL of ~1.4 that gradually increases to an *active PAL of* ~1.75 by age 18 years.⁷¹ The lower PAL of younger children is explained despite their observed non-stop body motion by being in a smaller, less energy-hungry body. Adolescents may have an active or very active PAL during middle and high school sports, particularly if they are engaging in exercise or weight training. Therefore, the impact of PAL on EER may be among the highest of a given individual's lifetime during adolescence. Physical activity is generally considered beneficial for growth⁸⁴ and the prevention of obesity.⁸⁵ However, being overweight or obese is not associated with a lower PAL⁷¹ because higher body mass results in increased TEE, keeping the ratio of TEE to BEE (i.e., PAL) elevated. A review study concluded that physical exercise does not negatively impact child growth.⁸⁶ Physical activity and

height were not associated in an NHANES study of 6116 U.S. children aged 2d-18 years old.¹⁹

Calculating energy requirements in a whole organism is more straightforward

Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range (AMDR) Determination

than determining optimal macronutrient distribution. The AMDR is primarily based on NHANES III oral survey food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) data, representing *habitual* and not necessarily *optimal* intakes. Survey data has inherent issues,^{87,88} particularly with the underreporting of foodstuffs perceived as unhealthy and overreporting of those perceived as healthy.⁸⁹ The IOM embraced data that reported *reasonable agreement* in adults between DLW and FFQ.³ However, this DLW/FFQ relationship has recently been questioned in adults,⁹⁰ older adults,^{91,92} and adolescents.⁹³ In children, the method is reported to be largely accurate at the group level but not for the individual.^{94–96} Across 15 studies, underreporting by FFQ in children varied by a wide range from 2% to 59% compared with DLW,⁹⁴ and may be due to issues unique to FFQ in children, such as lack of child-specific portion sizes.⁹⁷

The IOM states that for "many of the macronutrients, there are few direct data on the requirements of children. In this case, the EARs and RDAs for children are based on extrapolations from adult values".^{3(p.25)} Only infants aged 0 to 6 months were able to be directly defined due to availability of exclusive breast milk intake data. Infants 7 to 12 months and toddlers aged 1 to 3 years were interpolated from the younger infants getting milk. For children aged 4 to 8 years, the DRI cites that "For many nutrients, a reasonable amount of data is available on nutrient intake and various criteria for adequacy..."^{3(p.32)} Still, the ability to directly measure data in this age group varied by macronutrient. AMDRs for adolescent children aged 9 to 17 years were extrapolated from adult data, with statistical adjustments for projected somatic growth needs.³ Depending on age group and macronutrient, AMDR in children is based on direct measurement, extrapolation from adult data, or interpolation from infants. The following section will summarize the foundation for each macronutrient's current DRI for children. A detailed exploration of studies investigating the individual macronutrient intakes of total PRO, FAT, and CHO and their relationships with height will be introduced separately.

Dietary PRO

PRO represents a unique and important macronutrient for child growth. Growth can be thought of as a net deposition of protein (meaning that the rate of anabolism must be greater than that of catabolism). Two important unique properties of PRO must be considered. First, there is no capacity to store dietary PRO, and as such, there is no dedicated storage organ beyond synthesized muscle tissue. Second, no non-PRO foods can be converted into body tissue protein. These properties create the necessity for daily PRO intake, and over-ingestion of PRO does not enable storage for the future, though it can still contribute to TE. While the contribution of PRO to the TE in the diet is lower compared to FAT and CHO, it is simultaneously essential for acquiring nitrogen, contributing to tissue structure and metabolic function. Like all mammals, humans must obtain this nitrogen from their diet to capture dietary nitrogen as body protein. For the growing child, nitrogen accumulation, and thus, growth can be measured by monitoring outcomes in child weight and height. The inability to store protein combined with its unique dual *energy-vielding and nitrogen-obtaining* properties makes daily dietary PRO intake essential in the human diet.

The DRI RDAs specific to PRO intake in children were calculated based on the NB method. NB is interpreted as '*the point at which intake is equivalent to excretion*,' representing the EAR plus a safety factor. A correction for the ECoG in children then reveals the RDA. The RDA represents a *minimum* daily need for protein to maintain short-term NB in healthy people with moderate physical activity³. However, DRI recommendations for total PRO intake in children were not based on direct NB child measurement but extrapolation from adult data and interpolation from infant data. A primary reason for this was that the NB method requires a minimum of three days for each protein level challenge and collecting all urine and feces during this time. Further, it is unethical to underfeed children to determine appropriate linear ranges.

The NB method for determining PRO requirements is based on "*structural maintenance requirements*." It does not account for protein's many metabolic roles (i.e., proper pH and fluid balance, hormone and enzyme production, immune function, or energy contribution).⁹⁸ Therefore, NB determines a minimum requirement only and does not take into account all of the growth and metabolic needs of children, although some algorithmic adjustment for somatic ECoG was made. Currently, the AMDR provides recommendations for a practical range of PRO intakes in a complete diet, with child ranges considerably above the RDA, set at 10-30% of calories. However, in clinical and nutrition practice, PRO recommendations in children are commonly prescribed based on the RDA, intended to represent minimum, not optimum, levels.⁹⁹ Since the publication of the DRI, new methods for determining PRO needs indicate that PRO requirement may be higher in children than determined by previous NB methods¹⁰⁰ and will be discussed in the next section.

The need for dietary PRO for human growth and development is well established.^{101–103} While PRO plays a role in development, there is a widely accepted causal role of PRO in linear height. PRO intakes below 0.79-1.12 g/kg depending on age have been reported to restrict linear growth in children.¹⁰⁴ In a study of 1-year-olds, protein synthesis was highly dependent on dietary PRO intake, with protein synthesis about half that of intake.¹⁰⁵ The rate of tissue protein synthesis is very high in neonates to support rapid growth.¹⁰⁶ It is known that PRO increases fat-free mass (FFM) in children and adolescents¹⁰⁷ and that adequate PRO intake is needed for body composition and FFM in young adults.¹⁰⁸

A prospective study of 229 healthy children 6-18 years of age assessed the impact of long-term dietary PRO intake on bone.¹⁰⁹ PRO intake was positively associated with periosteal circumference, cortical area, bone mineral content, and polar strength strain index, underscoring the net anabolic effect of PRO on bone. The presence of adequate muscle, facilitated by dietary PRO intake, further enables bone development through biomechanics.¹¹⁰ The body is constantly making and breaking down tissue protein, with body protein turnover in adults calculated to be ~210 g/day,¹¹¹ with similar World Health Organization/Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (WHO/FAO) estimates in children.¹¹² Data on direct protein turnover is limited at most stages of child growth. However, data comparing prepuberty to puberty suggests that proteolysis and protein oxidation (protein breakdown mechanisms) are lower in puberty with no difference in protein synthesis.¹¹³ It is accepted that protein turnover decreases across the lifespan, from birth to old age. Proteins that are degraded can be recycled, but this is not 100% efficient.¹¹⁴ Calculations of the minimum dietary PRO required/day to maintain
NB in adults from standard NB methods were 32-46 g by one estimate¹¹¹ and 56g/day by another.¹¹⁵ Protein turnover in pubertal children with FFM of 45 kg and mean age of \sim 13.6 years old has been reported to be \sim 1.0 g/day/kg of FFM,¹¹³ estimated at \sim 45 g/day.

Lack of PRO in the diets of children in developing countries is known to be causative for stunted growth. In the developing world, parasitic infections are a driver of chronic and acute illnesses. Increased catch-up height in children after diarrheic illness was improved with higher PRO levels in the diet.¹¹⁶ The presence of parasites and disease increases the PRO requirement due to decreased absorption and altered immune response, reducing the utilizable PRO. Further, PRO source and quality in these regions may be lacking in addition to PRO quantity, contributing to the need for higher PRO intakes to increase utilizable PRO. A study that examined stunting in children across multiple regions and countries revealed that utilizable and not total PRO was the statistically significant factor.¹¹⁷

Recall that RDA minimum PRO recommendations for children were based on NB data extrapolated from adults and corrected for tissue growth using algorithms. Recent advances in more minimally invasive PRO requirement measurement methods have enabled direct data to be collected in children. The indicator amino acid oxidation (IAAO) method has been validated against NB methods in swine,¹¹⁸ children,^{119–121} and adults.^{122–125} One of the primary reasons that limited data had been collected from children using the NB method is the requirement of a minimum of three days for each PRO level challenge and the collection of all urine and feces across the entire time window. With IAAO, subjects are fed graded amounts of stable carbon-13 (¹³C) labeled IDAAs, and the breath is monitored for the appearance of the carbon-13 labeled carbon

dioxide (¹³CO₂), requiring just 3-4 hours of sampling. A study was performed in 2011 in which healthy 6 to 11 year old children were evaluated using IAAO.¹²⁶ Mean PRO requirements were determined to be nearly double the current RDA.¹²⁷ The calculations for the EAR (mean) and RDA (population safe) equivalents in the study revealed 1.3 and 1.55 g/kg/day, respectively, contrasted with the 0.76 and 0.95 g/day of current DRI recommendations for the age group. Additional studies using IAAO suggest that current recommendations for PRO in the diet of adults are also drastically underestimated by as much as 30-50%, suggesting a need for 1.5-2.2 g/kg/day.¹⁰⁰ The potential role of total PRO on HAZ will be explored later in this review.

Dietary PRO quality has the potential to impact child growth in important ways, given the primary role of the IDAA in muscle, bone, and organ tissue synthesis. There are well-established dose-response relationships between muscle protein synthesis and blood levels of the IDAA in young adults¹²⁸ and the elderly.¹²⁹ Extensive research has explored which and how much IDAA and BCAA are required to retain muscle mass in the elderly. However, dose-response relationships regarding the impact on child growth have been chiefly understudied in healthy children in each age group. Studies have been limited without a method to determine which specific BCAA and IDAA, and their levels, are deficient.

The DRI states the importance of 'high-quality PRO' for growth in children, but tools to define this specific to the growing child were limited to animal-based research methods at the time. From 1991 to 2013, the WHO/FAO consensus was to utilize the protein digestibility corrected amino acid score (PDCAAS) to evaluate PRO quality. This method considered the AA composition, digestibility, and bioavailability, producing a score based on the most limiting AA.¹³⁰ Using the IDAA requirements of a single reference, defined as a growing 2 to 5-year-old child, digestibility/absorption sampling was taken from the feces of mice for calculation. However, the last 30 years have brought forward critical concerns with the PDCAAS method.¹³⁰

Recently, agreement on the best method to define PRO quality has shifted from the PDCAAS to the digestible indispensable amino acid score (DIAAS). Concerns with PDCAAS methods prompted the FAO in 2013 to announce a preference for the new method. DIAAS is superior because instead of being based on a single reference child, it is based upon the IDAA requirements adjusted for age (as determined from NB). Further, instead of sample results being taken from the feces of mice, they are collected from the ileum of pigs, which are more physiologically similar to humans.^{131–133} Multiple studies report improvement in the accuracy of DIAAS over PDCAAS,¹³⁴ prompting the change in consensus by the WHO/FAO.

Recall that the DIAAS is adjusted for age based on NB data. Given child-specific concerns about NB methods and recent IAAO research proposing higher PRO requirements, the DIAAS method also has limitations. Another metric for PRO quality has been proposed using the IAAO PRO quantity method. The IAAO method can also evaluate the bioavailability and, thus, quality of various AA-containing foods.^{125,135} Unlike DIAAS, IAAO can be collected non-invasively and in humans, which is a distinct advantage, particularly for child studies. The IAAO PRO quality method has been validated in swine,¹³⁶ humans,^{137,138} and specifically children¹²⁶ and can also evaluate individual foodstuffs. Moreover, evaluating foods based on preparation and ultra-processing methods is possible. For example, the bioavailability of peas and uncooked

peas was 88% versus 55%, respectively.¹³⁶ Recent data suggests that while food processing may have a limited effect on animal PRO bioavailability, the effect may be more pronounced for plant PRO.¹³⁹ In humans, the method has enabled the investigation of which foodstuffs can be combined to improve specific AA bioavailability.^{138,140} Advantages include a minimally invasive means for determining specific IDAA bioavailability and total PRO requirement in a given human subject. In healthy 6-11 year old children, the method enabled direct measurement of a branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) and specific IDAA requirements.¹²⁶ For example, the IAAO method determined that BCAA requirements were higher in children with liver disease than in healthy children,¹⁴¹ highlighting the potential for improvement of growth outcomes in critically ill children. The field of PRO quality evaluation in human subjects is changing rapidly, and even improvements on IAAO using multiple stable isotopes are being proposed.¹⁴²

Dietary FAT

Fats have critical biological functions in addition to being a rich energy source. Broadly, FAs serve as ligands and in ligand synthesis for receptors that regulate bodily functions impacting inflammatory, neurological, and insulin pathways. FAs also play key roles in cholesterol and lipoprotein metabolism, directly impacting cell signaling and gene expression. In children, FAs are crucial for growth and development. However, unlike PRO, which is known to have specific impacts on linear growth, FAT plays a more significant role in nervous tissue development. Among the FAs, the human body synthesizes both saturated fatty acids (SFAs) and monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs). Thus, no AI, EAR, or RDA is set for these two fat categories. SFA and MUFA are vital for energy and cell membrane function and are the primary FATs in human breast milk.^{143,144}

However, two specific polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) cannot be made by the body and are required in the diet: linoleic acid (LA) and alpha-linolenic acids (ALA). As such, AIs have been established specifically for these essential fatty acids (EFAs) but not broadly for total FATs, MUFAs, or PUFAs. As deficiency of LA and ALA is rare in the U.S., the AI is defined by U.S. median intakes. LA and ALA are important eicosanoid precursors that make hormones and autocrine/paracrine mediators, regulating cell and tissue functions. Less studied, the body synthesizes omega-9 MUFAs, and their role in human health is less clear, so no AI or RDA is set. Omega-3 FAs are particularly important for children as they support nerve and brain development. ALA serves as the precursor to two other important omega-3 FAs: docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). Indeed, the lipid membranes of the brain, central nervous system (CNS), and retina are primarily comprised of DHA. All of these critical roles of FAT impact child development.

FAT is a major source of energy for humans at all stages. However, it is vital in newborns, as breast milk FAT is the primary energy source. As explained with the ECoG concept, the first few months of life require as much as ~35% of TEE for growth, thus the high FAT content of breast milk supplies ~40-50% of TE.¹⁴⁵ Studies in infants suggest that diets with <22% energy from FAT restricts infant growth.¹⁴⁶ Therefore, the AI for FAT in infants is set from known quantities of FAT in breast milk. However, once children are beyond approximately 6 months of age and supplementation of breastfeeding with complementary foods beings, the proportion of FAT required in the diet becomes

more difficult to quantify. AI has been determined for infants up to 12 months of age using habitual average intakes from the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals.³ After 1 year of age, the DRI concluded "...no effect on the level of dietary fat on growth when energy intake is adequate"^{3(p.810)} and did not set an AI for total FAT over 1 year of age, with AMDR set based on interpolation and extrapolation. Known infant breast milk macronutrient content and habitual intakes for children 1 to 3 years old, were used to set FAT AMDR at 30-40%. For children 4 to 18 year old, the AMDR for FAT is 25-30%, based on habitual intakes and extrapolation from adults.

FAT plays a primary role in CNS development rather than linear growth. However, the studies the DRI cited^{146–155} for recommendation determination exclusively focused on growth. Low-fat diets in children have been reported to be associated with deficiency of the fat-soluble vitamins.¹⁵⁵ Further, data suggests that children metabolize fat differently than adults, as pre-pubertal children have higher fat oxidation rates relative to TEE than adults.¹⁵⁶ While the development of the CNS, differences in fat metabolism, and micronutrient deficiencies are outside the scope of this review, these are no less important to child health. Importantly, these were also not considered in developing recommendations for FAT in the DRI.

As mentioned, the AI for ALA and LA were set based on habitual intakes in the U.S. since deficiency of these EFAs is non-existent in developed countries. However, an investigation of the association of HAZ with the various FA blood levels was explored in several developing countries in populations with high stunting prevalence. HAZ was compared in 307 Ghanaian children aged 2-6 years old. While 30% of the population was stunted, EFA deficiency of ALA and LA was not associated with HAZ.¹⁵⁷ However, total

omega-3 and omega-9, but not omega-6, were inversely associated with stunting. Another study found an association of omega-6, but not omega-3, with HAZ in 6 to 10-year-old Ugandan children.¹⁵⁸ However, in Malawian children, HAZ was associated with low serum concentrations of both omega-3 and omega-6.¹⁵⁹ Further study of the impact of specific FAs is warranted. The potential impact of total FAT on HAZ will be explored indepth later in this review.

Dietary CHO

Dietary CHO can serve as a primary energy source for the body. Simple sugars and starches can enter the bloodstream quickly after ingestion. Therefore, dietary CHO is an obvious source of TE which can contribute to overall child growth. But endogenous glucose and not dietary CHO is the ultimate supplier of the cellular energy that contributes to growth. Unlike PRO and FAT, there is no identified physiological requirement of CHO in the diet specific to child growth other than the contribution to TE.

Recommendations for CHO intake in children were not considered in the context of child growth but rather the availability of glucose for the brain. As in adults, the IOM reasons that the continuous availability of glucose for the brain is essential, and humans should not rely on endogenous glucose production to supply such glucose. It has been determined that the adult human brain requires ~110-140 g/day of glucose.^{24,27} The RDA, therefore, advises a minimum of 130 g/day of dietary CHO for adults and children to prevent the *requirement* for additional endogenous glucose (or ketone) production.³ The provided rationale is that the amount of dietary PRO required to support adequate endogenous glucose production for the body approaches "the theoretical maximal rate of gluconeogenesis from amino acids in the liver."^{3(p.288)} This interpretation is despite contradictory statements elsewhere in the DRI that "The lower limit of dietary carbohydrate compatible with life apparently is zero, provided adequate amounts of protein and fat are consumed."^{3(p.275)} An RDA of 130 g/day translates to ~30% of calories in a 2000 calorie diet. Still, the AMDR for CHO is 1.5-2X that amount at 45-65% of calories for children. In practice, AMDR CHO recommendations reflect the balance needed to meet energy needs once "acceptable" amounts of PRO and FAT have been consumed. Whether this amount of dietary CHO is optimal for human health is unknown.

Importantly, a distinction must be made between dietary CHO and glucose. In children, adequate CHO intakes were determined for the different age groups based on limited studies available at the time and largely reflect NHANES III data for *habitual* intakes. Recommendations were determined from intakes by age group combined with extrapolation of estimates for brain needs from adult data. At the time of the DRI release, the amount of endogenous glucose production from protein catabolism in children was unknown, but is now known.²⁹ However, the current recommendations in children are based on extrapolation of adult endogenous glucose production data to children, setting the present RDA for children of all age groups at a minimum of 130 g/day of CHO. Again, this level is consistent with the DRIs rationale that the CHO intake should be high enough to prevent the necessity of endogenous glucose production from PRO.

While there is a clear contribution of CHO in terms of TE, CHO lends no dietary essentiality as it does not directly contribute any amino or fatty acids for physiological functions. Thus, no published studies explore the *specific* necessity of CHO in the diet for child growth. Association studies, foundational to hypothesis generation, have shown either none or lower associations of height outcomes with CHO than PRO or FAT and

will be explored in more detail later in this review. Known causal mechanisms of PRO in growth have primarily resulted in nutritional epidemiology studies targeted to investigate PRO. Available studies, including many randomized controlled trials (RCTs), explore the association of CHO intake with obesity but not growth.

At the time of the release of the DRI, data were limited on the impact of CHO *quality* on human health, concluding that there was a lack of evidence in healthy individuals for recommendations of a CHO-specific glycemic index. Methods to evaluate CHO quality, such as glycemic index and load concepts, have received exhaustive study over the last 20 years, particularly in diabetes.¹⁶⁰ Overall, evidence has accumulated that a higher glycemic index may negatively impact human health,¹⁶¹ but the extent of impact has high interindividual variability.^{162,163}

While obesity is outside the scope of this review, it should be noted that overconsumption of simple CHOs, including sugars and starches, is as implicated in children as it is in adults. High total and added sugar¹⁶⁴ and sugar-sweetened beverage¹⁶⁵ (SSB) intake in childhood has been associated with increased obesity risk. Alarmingly, a study of 2353 children aged 12 years old, showed associations between consumption of one or more SSB daily with retinal microvascular alteration, a marker of cardiovascular disease risk.¹⁶⁶

An RCT in pre-pubertal children reported that slow digesting versus rapid digesting CHO increased endogenous CHO oxidation rates, suggesting that slower digesting CHO could have positive health benefits.¹⁶⁷ Few explorations of CHO-specific impacts on growth have been reported. However, a 2008 PEDIATRICS paper by Ruottinen et al., involving 543 children aged 7 months to 9 years old, showed that improved longitudinal child growth was associated with low versus high sucrose intake.¹⁶⁸

Of particular beneficial focus has been dietary fiber intake, necessary for overall adult human health,¹⁶⁹ principally through the support of the gastrointestinal flora.¹⁷⁰ For example, in a large meta-analysis, dietary fiber showed a relationship with critical non-communicable disease outcomes.¹⁶¹ In children, the relationship between dietary fiber and digestive health has had limited study,¹⁷¹ with an overall lack of data from clinical studies to support the extrapolation of fiber benefits from adults to children.¹⁷² In another publication by Ruottinen et al. in 2010 of data from the same prospective trial involving 543 children, weight and height were similar among three levels of fiber intake, suggesting a limited impact of fiber on child growth.¹⁷³

Regardless of the three primary CHO sources, sugar, starch, or fiber, studies of their individual associations with linear growth are few, with associations in children with obesity receiving some attention.^{174–176} Additional exploration of these associations with specific diseases and obesity is beyond the scope of this review. In practice, children are recommended to consume maximal fiber and minimal simple CHOs, similar to adult recommendations. However, whether the overconsumption of simple CHOs impacts child linear growth remains unexplored in healthy children.

Literature Search: Macronutrient Relationships with Linear Growth

Nutritional interventions are not commonly tested in healthy children without obesity or disease. While there is value in interpreting data from RCTs in children with overweight/obesity, the extrapolation of the results to growth for healthy child populations has limited relevance. Further, such studies seldom include healthy control groups from which to glean information. While BMI is commonly a focus of studies in children with obesity, linear height is rarely explicitly reported as a primary outcome.

Thus, high-level studies on the specific impact of altered macronutrient distribution on linear growth in healthy children are largely nonexistent. Indeed, a recent systematic review by the Dietary Patterns Subcommittee of the USDA 2020 Dietary Guidelines Advisory Committee (the Subcommittee) concluded that "No evidence is available to determine a relationship between diets based on macronutrient distribution consumed during childhood and growth, size, body composition, and risk of overweight/obesity."^{177(p.9)} However, this conclusion reflected the lack of available studies due to a limited inclusion criterion in their review. The Subcommittee restricted their review to include studies of healthy children in which "at least one macronutrient proportion was outside of AMDR for CHO, FAT, and/or PRO, …." Given the wide ranges of the AMDR, no studies met this inclusion criteria leading to the conclusion of 'no available evidence.' Thus, these restrictions effectively excluded all studies that explored habitual intake associations of individual macronutrients with linear child growth, e.g., excluded all available nutritional epidemiology on the subject.

For the current search, we did not include such restrictions. We expanded the scope to explore associations of individual macronutrients and/or macronutrient distribution with stature in children, regardless of whether macronutrients were outside of AMDR. We only excluded studies that did not report these associations with linear height or stunting (i.e., many studies only reported BMI but not linear height association outcomes even though height data was also collected to calculate BMI). No assumptions were made to define "healthy populations" or exclude "unhealthy populations" other than to exclude studies in children with clinical overweight/obesity, diagnosed medical disease, or abnormal blood pathologies (e.g., hyperlipidemia).

Therefore, observational studies across populations *designed to detect obesity/overweight or stunting* were included if linear height metric associations with macronutrients were reported. Studies are presented with a focus on linear height outcomes and without discussion of weight/BMI outcomes. Findings in rural or developing nations, where child stunting was present, were reviewed as these populations present the unique opportunity to detect variation in macronutrient associations with growth. Nutritional influences on height were assumed to result from differences in 1) total energy (TE) intake and/or 2) the influence of each individual macronutrient (PRO, CHO, or FAT) and/or 3) the relative distribution of such macronutrients. Literature searches included Google Scholar and PubMed and incorporated international studies as long as they were reported in English. Included studies and generalized conclusions about the association with height appear in **Table 1.1** in the order of their appearance in this section.

Macronutrient and Total Energy Associations with Height World View

To examine the big picture of height worldwide, Grasgruber et al. in 2020 investigated the association of food supply with male FAH.¹ The Food and Agriculture Organization Corporate Statistical Database (FAOSTAT) of the United Nations across 152 populations was utilized.¹ In addition to TE (calories/day/per capita), PRO for 28 individual food items and total PRO (each as g/day/per capita), in addition to %PRO in the diet, were evaluated for associations with FAH. As expected, TE had a strong positive correlation (r = +0.70) with male height, underscoring that total caloric availability is important for FAH. However, total dairy PRO (r = +0.75) and total PRO (r = +0.71) also exhibited similarly strong correlations. The correlation of %PRO in the diet was r=+0.59. Unfortunately, the other macronutrients (total CHO and total FAT) were not reported, only the foodstuff PROs. The most negative correlate with height was rice protein (r = -0.67), with combinations of grain PROs resulting in even more strongly negative correlations. Animal, plant, and total PRO correlations with FAH were r =+0.68, +0.03, and +0.71, respectively. All calculations were repeated in females with similar trends. Further analysis led authors to suggest that the differences in height in developing countries were associated with PRO *quantity* and TE. In Europe and developed countries, PRO *quality* largely explained height differences. In light of this conclusion, the studies presented next will be organized by whether TE was likely adequate or inadequate.

Macronutrient Studies in Low-Income Populations (i.e., TE may not be adequate)

The relationship of diet with HAZ in developing nations was explored using data previously collected from rural populations in Guatemala (n=878) and the Philippines (n=3080) of children 6 to 24 months old.¹⁷⁸ In 1969-1977, these populations exhibited high percentages of children with stunting, so the Institute of Nutrition of Central America and Panama performed a nutritional supplementation trial. Some villages were randomly selected to receive a high PRO supplement and some an alternative PRO-devoid supplement. Data on height and dietary intake were collected from the children every 2-3 months. In 2016, a retrospective study was performed to explore associations of macronutrients with height across the populations (i.e., not evaluated by the PRO

supplementation group). While TE was associated with height, specifically total PRO, not total FAT nor total CHO was strongly associated with height.

Another study in developing countries explored associations of stunting prevalence with dietary intake across 18 Latin American countries in children under 6 years old.¹⁴⁶ FAOSTAT and the UN Subcommittee on Nutrition collected the data used in the study in 1996-1997. Using simple linear correlation models, TE, PRO, and FAT associations with the prevalence of stunting were -0.529, -0.563, and -0.520, respectively. Unlike the previous study, total FAT was also found to be associated with HAZ, and the association of animal FAT with stunting prevalence was -0.539. Unfortunately, associations with total CHO were not reported. This study suggests that FAT, in addition to TE and PRO, may be important to height in children in the developing world. The authors suggest that diets with <22% of energy from total FAT and <45% animal FAT may even restrict growth.

Similar associations were detected in a U.S. longitudinal observational study reviewing data collected in Depression Era 1930s Boston among 64 Caucasian boys. The study observed that higher total PRO and total FAT intakes resulted in taller FAH.¹⁷⁹ Specifically, in childhood, the intake of total FAT and animal PRO, but not vegetable PRO, was positively associated with FAH. Again, no exploration of total CHO was performed. Unlike other studies, however, there was no association of height with TE. Further, there was a clear association of birth length/childhood height with FAH, maintaining the expected impacts of genetics. Given that these data were collected during the Great Depression and into WW II, we can speculate that this population may have been more like those of developing countries. Another study of Depression Era Boston was conducted in girls rather than boys. Using data collected originally in the 1920s to 1940s, a retrospective multiple regression analysis was performed in 2000.¹⁸⁰ The analysis included 67 Caucasian girls followed from birth to age 18 years old, for which height and dietary intake were collected annually. Stepwise linear regression was used to evaluate whether preschool (aged 1 to 5 years old) and school-age (aged 6-8 years old) dietary variables were associated with adolescent outcomes. The most predictive multiple regression model was one in which more TE and animal PRO resulted in higher peak growth velocity. However, no modeling was attempted to determine the independent relationship of TE on height or the independent relationship of individual macronutrients on height.

Macronutrient Studies in High-Income Populations (i.e., TE likely adequate)

In contrast to the Depression Era Boston studies, a study of modern-day Boston children showed no association between early childhood PRO intake and childhood height.¹⁸¹ Among 1165 children, using linear regression, the β (95% CI) for HAZ per 10g PRO intake increase from early childhood to early teen was barely positive, with +0.07 and +0.05, for boys and girls, respectively. Further, animal versus plant PRO showed no statistically significant associations with height outcome. Notably, this population had very high mean PRO intakes at ~3.77 g/kg/day, well above both EAR and RDA and at the maximal end of AMDR. The study did not report the association between TE and height. Given the high PRO intake in this study and the prevalence of overnutrition in the U.S., we can speculate that the TE of this population was more than adequate, perhaps differentiating these children from the Depression Era Boston studies.

Additional studies explored mid-childhood height outcomes instead of FAH. Among 2154 twins in the United Kingdom Gemini cohort, there was no association of PRO intake collected at 21 months of age with height at 36 and 60 months of age.¹⁸² TE and other macronutrient associations were not explored. In a prospective Netherlands cohort study, dietary intakes were collected in 3565 children at 1 year of age, and height was measured repeatedly until 9 years of age.¹⁸³ Linear mixed modeling found that total PRO, animal PRO, vegetable PRO, and individual IDAAs were all associated with greater height. Animal PRO had a higher association with height than vegetable PRO. In a Danish study involving 105 girls and boys 10 years of age, the association of TE and PRO with height was assessed.¹⁸⁴ There was only a moderate correlation between total PRO and height (r=0.378) and TE with height (r=0.337).

A large cross-sectional 2007-2014 NHANES study with 6116 U.S. children 2-18 years old tested if HAZ was associated with intakes of TE, PRO, CHO, or FAT.¹⁹ HAZ was positively associated individually with caloric intakes of TE, total PRO, total CHO, and total FAT, though individual association statistics were not reported. But, as macronutrient distributions were almost identical across HAZ tertiles, there was no association of %PRO, %CHO, or %FAT with HAZ. While this suggests that TE, and not the distribution of that energy, is associated with HAZ in U.S. children, without variation in macronutrient distribution, this conclusion is limited.

Among modern European populations, a recent publication of the German DONALD study investigated the relationship between TE and total PRO on FAH.¹⁸⁵ Multilinear regression models showed that long-term PRO or animal PRO intake each explained about 80% of the adult height variance in girls and 70% in boys. Interestingly, there was a strong association of total PRO ($R^2 = 0.80$) and animal PRO ($R^2 = 0.82$) with adult height in females but no association of either variable in males. Though the strength of the association was not reported, TE intake was stated to be associated with height. Unfortunately, no associations of the other macronutrients with height were explored. This study highlights that sex differences need consideration.

A small number of association studies focused on FAT in developed nations. A comparison of FAT intakes of <30%, 30-34.9%, and >34.9% were evaluated in children from birth to 8 years old with no significant differences in height.¹⁴⁷ Similarly, there was no difference in height in preschoolers across FAT quintiles in a cohort of 215 Hispanic children aged 3-4 years followed for ~2 years.¹⁵⁴

A series of intervention studies using low-FAT diet RCTs were conducted in the 1990s in Finland. A study published in the Lancet of 1062 young infants aged 7 months were randomized to an intervention or control group and monitored out to 13 months of age.¹⁵⁰ The intervention group families received intensive dietary advice to feed their babies a "low-FAT" diet of 30-35% of energy from FAT with an unrestricted diet in the control group. The authors concluded that there were no differences in height between groups at 13 months. However, while the FAT gram intakes at 13 months were statistically different (p=0.008), they may not have been metabolically different. The mean %FAT intakes of the intervention and control were similar at 26.2% and 27.9%, respectively, at the 13-month endpoint. Effectively, both groups at 13 months were "low-FAT" by study definition, preventing clear conclusions. A follow-up study of the same cohort at 2- and 3 years of age was published in PEDIATRICS in 1997 with continued intensive dietary advice of a "low-FAT" diet.¹⁵² There was more difference in %FAT

between intervention and control at 2 years (29.9% vs. 32.8%) and 3 years (30.8% vs. 33.2%) with no differences in height between groups. However, the other macronutrients were not reported. Finally, a third follow-up study was published in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition (AJCN) in 1999 using associations across the study population rather than by the original intervention category.¹⁴⁹ Children were evaluated using regression at 13 months, 3 years, and 5 years and sorted into five FAT intake groups. Growth was not significantly different throughout the study period among FAT intake groups, with the lowest, mean, and highest FAT intakes of 25.8%, 32.1%, and 37.1%, respectively, at 5 years. However, unlike the earlier two publications, ^{150,152} intakes of the other macronutrients were reported but not evaluated for associations with height. In the lowest FAT intake group, children at 13 months ingested proportionally more PRO than children in the other FAT groups. However, there were no differences in PRO intake among the other FAT intake groups at 5 years. The highest FAT intake group had lower CHO intake consistently across time points. All FAT intake groups and ages in the study were similar in key vitamins, minerals, and FAs. In contrast, studies of the longitudinal effects of macrobiotic diets (low-FAT, vegetarian) in the Netherlands in children 0-10 years old were shown to inhibit growth in children under 18 months.^{186–188} However, diets in these studies were shown to be deficient in TE, PRO, and key vitamins.

Discussion of Macronutrient Associations with Linear Growth

Most of the presented studies in low-income populations investigated PRO, and all reported associations with height outcomes. Studies in high-income populations show less consistency and strength of associations of PRO with height. Further, one study reported sex differences of HAZ with PRO, which were not evaluated in other studies. Among low-income populations, the role of FAT on height is unclear as some studies showed a clear association and others did not. Among high-income countries, a single study detected an association of FAT with reduced height in children, but also reported inadequate TE, PRO, and key vitamins.

A series of longitudinal low-FAT RCTs, which began in infancy, detected no statistical differences in height among FAT intakes out to 5 years of age and reported dietary adequacy. Only two studies explored and reported associations of CHO with height, with one reporting no association and the other detecting an association but did not report the statistical strength of the association. Associations of TE with height were explored in low-income countries, with clear associations of TE on height, as only one study failed to find an association. However, TE was less explored and reported in highincome countries, with only one study testing and finding an association. Studies that evaluated mid-childhood growth utilizing HAZ may reflect alterations in growth patterns that may or may not eventually impact FAH. A few studies explored all three individual macronutrient relationships with height. However, none reported the correlation coefficients for all three macronutrients with height, preventing comparison of the strength of association. Unfortunately, no studies were found that investigated and reported results for the complete macronutrient distribution to understand the whole diet's potential impacts on growth outcomes.

As discussed, associations of the individual macronutrients, particularly PRO, with height were more evident among low- versus high-income. Grasgruber et al.¹ suggested in their world FAOSTAT analysis that differences in FAH in developing countries were strongly associated with TE and total PRO intake after controlling for SES and genetics. In contrast, in developed countries, PRO quality/type was more strongly associated. Among the presented studies, this premise holds, as there were clear and consistent associations between total PRO and height outcomes in low-income countries. This association was less consistent among high-income countries, and the detection of associations of total PRO with growth disappeared in studies in which total PRO intakes were known to be high. As such, it is plausible that PRO quantity versus quality may differentially affect height depending on whether TE is adequate.

OVERALL DISCUSSION

Growth can be considered ~75% *nature* and ~25% *nurture*. Of the ~75% that is *nature*, hormones, metabolism, and genetics play key roles in child growth. However, of the ~25% of *nurture*, socioeconomics, environment, and nutrition are also very important. After exploration of each of these *nature* and *nurture* aspects of child growth, the central focus of this review was to explore the latter, that is, potential nutritional impacts on child growth. The nutritional aspect was examined, focusing on the three primary macronutrients and height outcomes for a clear and targeted search.

Diets are a complex mixture of foods with PRO, CHO, and FAT. The DRI text states this "imposes some limits on the type of research that can be conducted to ascertain causal relationships."^{3(p.53)} There are obvious reasons that nutrition studies have traditionally been observational across populations. Nevertheless, the impact of macronutrients and macronutrient distribution is achievable with RCTs.¹⁸⁹ Indeed, many studies in the last two decades since the release of the DRI have explored the role of macronutrients in children with obesity. However, there is a shortage of high-quality studies on the topic of healthy children without obesity. Among the many studies presented in this review, a single cohort of 1062 children represented the only RCTs that manipulated macronutrient intake and explored height outcomes. As discussed, in the Finnish low-FAT infant RCTs, no differences in height were detected out to 5 years of age.¹⁴⁹ Additional follow-up studies were published when the same cohorts reached 13 years old¹⁹⁰ and adulthood.¹⁹¹ At these follow-ups, however, the focus had shifted from growth to obesity and, unfortunately, did not report subsequent height outcomes with FAT intake. This shift of focus from growth to obesity in children, happening throughout child research, may be missing important aspects of child health. Additionally, focusing on single macronutrients without considering macronutrient distribution prevents a comprehensive understanding of the impact of the whole diet.

Biologically, the goal of the mature individual is longevity, while the goal of the young individual is proper growth and development. Notably, that which provides optimal longevity and reduces the risk of disease in adults may not be appropriate for optimal growth and development in children. Given these opposing goals, the prevailing dogma that "what is good for the adult should also be good for the child" requires critical reassessment. The current DRI for macronutrients is very similar for adults and children. It is acknowledged that different macronutrient distributions for different optimal outcomes are likely to change dynamically across the lifespan, making recommendations complex. Nevertheless, precision nutrition for the growing child is an appealing and important goal. At the least, the opposing biological goals and dynamic changes in child metabolism call for serious questions about the continued extrapolation of adult data for AMDR and RDA to children.

The requirement of dietary PRO for growth in every genus/species, including humans, is well established. Across the animal kingdom, more dietary PRO is required in the young than the mature. Namely, in species ranging from the C. elegans worm to the mouse to primates, a higher PRO intake as a percent of calories is required in the young in the growth phase than in the adult phase of life. In animal agriculture and pet care, this is also widely known. In contradiction, the DRI AMDR PRO ranges are lower for children than adults. Further, RDA for PRO in children and adults is set at an identical value despite their biological differences. Recent literature has addressed how the current RDA for PRO is at odds with AMDR recommendations.⁹⁹ The AMDR seeks to provide PRO ranges in the context of a complete diet and recommends PRO intake to be a minimum of 10% and a maximum of 30% of calories in children over 4 years of age. However, the upper range of AMDR for PRO in children is seldom clinically applied as the RDA and not the AMDR is widely used to define PRO intakes for children. The USDA DRI Calculator for Healthcare Professionals (which references the IOM DRI³) exemplifies this contradiction: https://www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/dri-calculator/.¹⁹² Despite the posted statement that "DRI amounts are set at levels to meet the nutrient requirements of almost all healthy people," suggesting the calculator uses AMDR, the calculator instead yields PRO values consistent with the RDA, intended to be a minimum. Returning to our example 15-year-old, 115#, 63.8", very active female child, using the above calculator, is recommended to consume 44g of PRO and 2845 total calories per day, equivalent to just 176 calories or 6.2% of total calories from PRO. This recommended PRO intake just meets this minimum range at

 \sim 0.84g/kg or 6.2% of total calories from PRO, which does not meet the minimum 10% requirements of AMDR for PRO.

For iteration, the RDA estimates the lowest intake level that meets the NB requirement of nearly all individuals. More simply, the RDA reflects the absolute minimum level of PRO that must be ingested to avoid loss of body nitrogen. However, as discussed, NB data specific to children and adolescents is lacking, and the values used in the DRI were extrapolated from adults and interpolated from infants.^{3,193} The DRI report also states that due to issues with the NB method, it should no longer be considered the gold standard, but then fails to utilize other evidence to derive the RDA for PRO in children.³ Thus, a valid concern is that NB may not be maintained if a child eats only to the current RDA.

Values calculated for PRO requirements derived from newer IAAO methods fit better than NB methods with habitual intakes in the U.S. and worldwide. American adults consume an average of 65-100 g/day¹⁹⁴ translating to ~1.68-2.4 g/kg/day with a worldwide average of ~68 g/day.¹⁹⁵ The World Resources Institute proclaims, "People are eating more PRO than they need, especially in wealthy regions." Yet, even in the world's poorest regions, habitual PRO intakes exceed the current minimum RDA requirements. In 90% of the world's countries, PRO intake far exceeds the RDA, suggesting that there is a biological basis for these "higher" habitual PRO intakes. It seems highly unlikely that across all the world's populations of genetic, dietary, economic, and cultural diversity that 90% of the world population is "over-consuming" PRO. The overconsumption of PRO seems highly unlikely, given the high prevalence of kwashiorkor in many developing countries. Therefore, there are several important concerns specific to PRO recommendations proposed 1) that the RDA and AMDR may be inaccurate for children due to extrapolation from adult NB data, 2) that the RDA is confusing in that the consumer (or even healthcare professional) may believe that the RDA indicates an optimal intake of PRO, and 3) that the lack of clarity prompts clinical professionals to seldom stray from recommending RDA PRO minimums. These issues merit attention, given the importance of PRO for growth and development in children.

CONCLUSION

The human metabolism is remarkably flexible and dynamic across the lifespan. Needed glucose or ketones are endogenously produced depending on the macronutrient content of the diet. Children need just ~3-4% of the EER, an estimated 114 calories/day, in a pubertal growth spurt for somatic growth. This amount is minimal compared with the energy required for the daily cost of living and physical activities.

All three primary macronutrients contribute to growth by providing calories for TE. However, through this review, evidence suggests 1) a causal role for PRO in somatic and linear growth, 2) an essential role of FAT in neurological growth and development rather than stature, and 3) that beyond TE, CHO is unlikely to play a direct role in linear growth, nor development. PRO provides AAs and IDAAs, FAT provides FAs and EFAs, and CHO provides no essentiality.

In a 1970 AJCN article exploring child growth, Dugdale and Hewitt eloquently hypothesized that there was a nutritional basis for the pattern of growth in childhood but with genetic interaction in height growth.¹⁹⁶ They posited that the protein available after energy needs are met is principal to growth in height and muscle; total calories are

fundamental to fat deposition, and genetic factors set a ceiling on height growth which is maximized when nutrition is optimized. While simple, these tenets appear to hold even after 50 years of investigation. *Based on the research presented in this review, we propose that if TE intake is adequate and PRO minimums are met, children will reach their genetic height potential.*

TABLES Table 1.1

Table 1.1: Studies included in literature search examining the relationship between macronutrient intake and height growth. NR denotes no report of result.																
			Income										Positive Association with Height?			
ref#	author	year data	year pub	low	high	study location	#participants	ages	gender	goal	design	method	PRO	FAT	СНО	TE
1	Grasgruber	1995-2013	2020	mixed	mixed	152 world countries	152 countries	adults	M F	protein on FAS	observational	population assocaitions	yes	NR	NR	yes
178	Puentes	1969-1977	2016	yes	no	Guatemala & Philippines	3958	6-24 mos	M F	macros on height	observational	associations	yes	no	no	yes
146	Uauy	1996-1997	2000	yes	no	18 Latin American	18 countries	<6yo	M F	FAT on stunting	observational	population associations	yes	yes	NR	NR
179	Alimujiang	1930s	2018	yes	no	U.S. Boston	64	to adult	Μ	macros on height	observational	longitudinal association	yes	yes	NA	no
180	Berky	1920s-1940s	2000	yes	no	U.S. Boston	67	to adult	F	macros on height	observational	longitudinal association	yes	NR	NR	yes
181	Switkowski	modern	2019	no	yes	U.S Boston	1165	to teen	M F	protein on HAZ	observational	longitudinal association	weak	NR	NR	NR
182	Pimpin	modern	2016	no	yes	U.K. Gemini Twins	2154	36 & 60 mos	MF	protein on height	observational	longitudinal association	no	NR	NR	NR
183	Braun	modern	2016	no	yes	Netherlands	3565	1-9 yo	M F	protein on height	observational	longitudinal association	yes	NR	NR	NR
184	Hoppe	modern	2000	no	yes	Denmark	105	10 yo	M F	protein on height	observational	cross sec assocations	yes	NA	NA	yes
19	Kim	modern	2021	no	yes	U.S. NHANES	6116	2-18 yo	M F	macros on HAZ	observational	cross sec assocations	yes cal, no %	yes cal, no %	yes cal, no %	yes
185	Hua	modern	2022	no	yes	Germany DONALD	189	3-17 уо	M F	protein on FAS	observational	longitudinal association	yes F, no M	NR	NR	yes
147	Boulton	1990s	1995	NR	NR	Australia	140	0-8 yo	M F	Fat on height	observational	longitudinal association	NR	no	NR	no
154	Shea	1986-1989	1993	no	yes	Hispanic	215	3-4 yo	M F	Fat on height	observational	longitudinal association	NR	no	NR	NR
150	Lapinleimu	1990s	1995	no	yes	Finland	1062	7-13 mos	M F	low fat intervention on height	RCT	intervention association	NR	no	NR	NR
152	Niinikoski	1990s	1997	no	yes	Finland	1062	2 and 3 yo	M F	low fat intervention on height	RCT	intervention association	NR	no	NR	NR
149	Langstom	1990s	1999	no	yes	Finland	1062	5 yo	M F	Fat on height	RCT	longitudinal association	NR	no	NR	NR
186*	Dagnelie	1980-1990s	1994	no	yes	Netherlands	243	0-10 yo	M F	macrobiotic diet on height	observational	mixed longitudinal	yes	NR	NR	NR
187*	Dagnelie	1980-1990s	1991	no	yes	Netherlands	110	4-18 mos	M F	macrobiotic diet on height	observational	mixed longitudinal	yes	yes	NR	yes
188*	Dagnelie	1980-1990s	1994	no	yes	Netherlands	110	4-18 mos	M F	advice increase fatty fish & dairy	"intervention"	mixed longitudinal	yes	NR	NR	no

REFERENCES

1. Grasgruber P, Hrazdíra E. Nutritional and socio-economic predictors of adult height in 152 world populations. *Econ Hum Biol.* 2020;37:100848. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2020.100848

2. Grasgruber P, Cacek J, Kalina T, Sebera M. The role of nutrition and genetics as key determinants of the positive height trend. *Econ Hum Biol*. 2014;15:81-100. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2014.07.002

3. Panel, Macronutrients. *Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids.*; 2005. doi:10.17226/10490

4. Lifshitz F. Nutrition and Growth - Review. *J Clin Res Pediatr E*. 2009;1(4):157-163. doi:10.4274/jcrpe.v1i4.39

5. Rogol AD, Clark PA, Roemmich JN. Growth and pubertal development in children and adolescents: effects of diet and physical activity. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;72(2):521S-528S. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.2.521s

6. Tarım Ö. Thyroid Hormones and Growth in Health and Disease - Review. *J Clin Res Pediatr E*. 2011;3(2):51-55. doi:10.4274/jcrpe.v3i2.11

7. Robson H, Siebler T, Shalet SM, Williams GR. Interactions between GH, IGF-I, Glucocorticoids, and Thyroid Hormones during Skeletal Growth. *Pediatr Res*. 2002;52(2):137-147. doi:10.1203/00006450-200208000-00003

8. Vijayakumar A, Novosyadlyy R, Wu Y, Yakar S, LeRoith D. Biological effects of growth hormone on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. *Growth Horm Igf Res*. 2010;20(1):1-7. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2009.09.002

9. Styne DM. The Regulation of Pubertal Growth. *Horm Res Paediat*. 2003;60(Suppl 1):22-26. doi:10.1159/000071222

10. Eliakim A, Brasel JA, Mohan S, Wong WLT, Cooper DM. Increased physical activity and the growth hormone-IGF-I axis in adolescent males. *Am J Physiology-regulatory Integr Comp Physiology*. 1998;275(1):R308-R314. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.1998.275.1.r308

11. Sävendahl L. The Effect of Acute and Chronic Stress on Growth. *Sci Signal*. 2012;5(247):pt9. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2003484

12. Yumani DFJ, Calor AK, Weissenbruch MirjamM van. The Course Of IGF-1 Levels and Nutrient Intake in Extremely and Very Preterm Infants During Hospitalisation. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(3):675. doi:10.3390/nu12030675

13. Møller N, Jørgensen JOL. Effects of Growth Hormone on Glucose, Lipid, and Protein Metabolism in Human Subjects. *Endocr Rev.* 2009;30(2):152-177. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0027

14. Hawkes CP, Grimberg A. Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I is a Marker for the Nutritional State. *Pediatric Endocrinol Rev Per.* 2015;13(2):499-511.

15. McCormack SE, Cousminer DL, Chesi A, Mitchell JA, Roy SM, Kalkwarf HJ, Lappe JM, Gilsanz V, Oberfield SE, Shepherd JA, Winer KK, Kelly A, Grant SFA, Zemel BS. Association Between Linear Growth and Bone Accrual in a Diverse Cohort of Children and Adolescents. *Jama Pediatr*. 2017;171(9):e171769-e171769. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.1769

16. P B, ID A. Human Growth and Development. PMID: 33620844 Bookshelf ID: NBK567767. Published March 1, 2022. Accessed March 1, 2022. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK567767/

17. Tanner JM. Foetus Into Man: Physical Growth from Conception to Maturity. (Press HU, ed.).; 1990. Accessed October 11, 2021. https://www.google.com/books/edition/Foetus_Into_Man/YxpimctaWd4C?hl=en&gbpv= 0

18. Jelenkovic A, Ortega-Alonso A, Rose RJ, Kaprio J, Rebato E, Silventoinen K. Genetic and environmental influences on growth from late childhood to adulthood: A longitudinal study of two Finnish twin cohorts. *Am J Hum Biol*. 2011;23(6):764-773. doi:10.1002/ajhb.21208

19. Kim K, Melough MM, Kim D, Sakaki JR, Lee J, Choi K, Chun OK. Nutritional Adequacy and Diet Quality Are Associated with Standardized Height-for-Age among U.S. Children. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(5):1689. doi:10.3390/nu13051689

20. Aksglaede L, Juul A, Olsen LW, Sørensen TIA. Age at Puberty and the Emerging Obesity Epidemic. *Plos One*. 2009;4(12):e8450. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008450

21. Kempf E, Vogel M, Vogel T, Kratzsch J, Landgraf K, Kühnapfel A, Gausche R, Gräfe D, Sergeyev E, Pfäffle R, Kiess W, Stanik J, Körner A. Dynamic alterations in linear growth and endocrine parameters in children with obesity and height reference values. *Eclinicalmedicine*. 2021;37:100977. doi:10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100977

22. Shalitin S, Gat-Yablonski G. Associations of Obesity with Linear Growth and Puberty. *Horm Res Paediat*. Published online 2021:1-17. doi:10.1159/000516171

23. Stipanuk. *Biochemical, Physiological, and Molecular Aspects of Human Nutrition*. 4th edition 2019. Elsevier

24. Owen OE, Morgan AP, Kemp HG, Sullivan JM, Herrera MG, Cahill GF. Brain Metabolism during Fasting*. *J Clin Invest*. 1967;46(10):1589-1595. doi:10.1172/jci105650

25. Owen OE. Ketone bodies as a fuel for the brain during starvation. *Biochem Mol Biol Edu*. 2005;33(4):246-251. doi:10.1002/bmb.2005.49403304246

26. Owen OE, Felig P, Morgan AP, Wahren J, Cahill GF. Liver and kidney metabolism during prolonged starvation. *J Clin Invest*. 1969;48(3):574-583. doi:10.1172/jci106016

27. Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry. . New York: ; . Section 30.2, Each Organ Has a Unique Metabolic Profile. Available From: 5th edition. (Freeman WH, ed.).; 2002. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK22436/

28. Adashi EY, Bilezikian JP, Chrousos GP, Fukata J, Imperato-McGinley J, Imura H, Liuzzi A, Moore FL, Porte D, Rehfeld JF, Samols E, Schonfeld G, Sizonenko PC, Wiersinga WM, eds. *Encyclopedia of Endocrine Disease*. Academic Press; 2004.

29. Sunehag AL, Toffolo G, Treuth MS, Butte NF, Cobelli C, Bier DM, Haymond MW. Effects of Dietary Macronutrient Content on Glucose Metabolism in Children. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabolism*. 2002;87(11):5168-5178. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-020674

30. Wasserman DH. Four grams of glucose. *Am J Physiol-endoc M*. 2009;296(1):E11-E21. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90563.2008

31. Janney NW. THE METABOLIC RELATIONSHIP OF THE PROTEINS TO GLUCOSE. *J Biol Chem.* 1915;20(3):321-350. doi:10.1016/s0021-9258(18)88247-3

32. Rolfe DF, Brown GC. Cellular energy utilization and molecular origin of standard metabolic rate in mammals. *Physiol Rev.* 1997;77(3):731-758. doi:10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.731

33. Pierre K, Pellerin L. Monocarboxylate transporters in the central nervous system: distribution, regulation and function. *J Neurochem*. 2005;94(1):1-14. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03168.x

34. Simpson IA, Carruthers A, Vannucci SJ. Supply and Demand in Cerebral Energy Metabolism: The Role of Nutrient Transporters. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metabolism*. 2007;27(11):1766-1791. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600521

35. Cunnane SC, Courchesne-Loyer A, Vandenberghe C, St-Pierre V, Fortier M, Hennebelle M, Croteau E, Bocti C, Fulop T, Castellano CA. Can Ketones Help Rescue Brain Fuel Supply in Later Life? Implications for Cognitive Health during Aging and the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Mol Neurosci*. 2016;9:53. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2016.00053 36. Courchesne-Loyer A, Fortier M, Tremblay-Mercier J, Chouinard-Watkins R, Roy M, Nugent S, Castellano CA, Cunnane SC. Stimulation of mild, sustained ketonemia by medium-chain triacylglycerols in healthy humans: Estimated potential contribution to brain energy metabolism. *Nutrition*. 2013;29(4):635-640. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2012.09.009

37. Cominetti O, Hosking J, Jeffery A, Pinkney J, Martin FP. Contributions of Fat and Carbohydrate Metabolism to Glucose Homeostasis in Childhood Change With Age and Puberty: A 12-Years Cohort Study (EARLYBIRD 77). *Frontiers Nutrition*. 2020;7:139. doi:10.3389/fnut.2020.00139

38. Intake of Calories and Selected Nutrients for the United States Population, 1999-2000.

39. AZAR GJ, BLOOM WL. Similarities of Carbohydrate Deficiency and Fasting: II. Ketones, Nonesterified Fatty Acids, and Nitrogen Excretion. *Arch Intern Med.* 1963;112(3):338-343. doi:10.1001/archinte.1963.03860030092007

40. Lunn PG, Morley CJ, Neale G. A case of kwashiorkor in the UK. *Clin Nutr*. 1998;17(3):131-133. doi:10.1016/s0261-5614(98)80007-1

41. Cordain L, Miller JB, Eaton SB, Mann N, Holt SH, Speth JD. Plant-animal subsistence ratios and macronutrient energy estimations in worldwide hunter-gatherer diets. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;71(3):682-692. doi:10.1093/ajcn/71.3.682

42. Eaton S, Eaton S, Konner M. Review Paleolithic nutrition revisited: A twelve-year retrospective on its nature and implications. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 1997;51(4):207-216. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600389

43. Gadsby P, Steele L. The Inuit Paradox: How can people who gorge on fat and rarely see a vegetable be healthier than we are? *DISCOVER Biology & Medicine*. chem494.community.uaf.edu

44. Kuhnlein HV, Kubow S, Soueida R. Lipid components of traditional inuit foods and diets of Baffin Island. *J Food Compos Anal*. 1991;4(3):227-236. doi:10.1016/0889-1575(91)90034-4

45. Wu YE, Zhang CL, Zhen Q. Metabolic syndrome in children (Review). *Exp Ther Med.* 2016;12(4):2390-2394. doi:10.3892/etm.2016.3632

46. Perng W, Oken E, Dabelea D. Developmental overnutrition and obesity and type 2 diabetes in offspring. *Diabetologia*. 2019;62(10):1779-1788. doi:10.1007/s00125-019-4914-1

47. Luo X, Huo X, Zhang Y, Cheng Z, Chen S, Xu X. Increased intestinal permeability with elevated peripheral blood endotoxin and inflammatory indices for e-waste lead

exposure in children. *Chemosphere*. 2021;279:130862. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130862

48. Moody EC, Colicino E, Wright RO, Mupere E, Jaramillo EG, Amarasiriwardena C, Cusick SE. Environmental exposure to metal mixtures and linear growth in healthy Ugandan children. *Plos One*. 2020;15(5):e0233108. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0233108

49. Kartini A, Subagio HW, Hadisaputro S, Kartasurya MI, Suhartono S, Budiyono B. Pesticide Exposure and Stunting among Children in Agricultural Areas. *Int J Occup Environ Med Ijoem*. 2018;10(1 January):1428-17-29. doi:10.15171/ijoem.2019.1428

50. Smith LE, Stoltzfus RJ, Prendergast A. Food Chain Mycotoxin Exposure, Gut Health, and Impaired Growth: A Conceptual Framework. *Adv Nutr*. 2012;3(4):526-531. doi:10.3945/an.112.002188

51. Wangia-Dixon RN, Xue KS, Alcala J, Quach THT, Song X, Tang L, Ombaka J, Githanga DP, Anzala OA, Wang JS. Nutrition and growth outcomes are affected by aflatoxin exposures in Kenyan children. *Food Addit Contam Part*. 2020;37(12):2123-2134. doi:10.1080/19440049.2020.1825825

52. Voth-Gaeddert LE, Stoker M, Torres O, Oerther DB. Association of aflatoxin exposure and height-for-age among young children in Guatemala. *Int J Environ Heal R*. 2018;28(3):280-292. doi:10.1080/09603123.2018.1468424

53. Rivera-Núñez Z, Barrett ES, Szamreta EA, Shapses SA, Qin B, Lin Y, Zarbl H, Buckley B, Bandera EV. Urinary mycoestrogens and age and height at menarche in New Jersey girls. *Environ Health-uk*. 2019;18(1):24. doi:10.1186/s12940-019-0464-8

54. Wang Z, Liang H, Tu X, Yuan W, Zhou Z, Jin L, Miao M, Li DK. Bisphenol A and pubertal height growth in school-aged children. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiology*. 2019;29(1):109-117. doi:10.1038/s41370-018-0063-8

55. Scinicariello F, Buser MC, Abadin HG, Attanasio R. Perfluoroalkyl substances and anthropomorphic measures in children (ages 3–11 years), NHANES 2013–2014. *Environ Res.* 2020;186:109518. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2020.109518

56. Soares S, Santos AC, Fraga S. Adverse childhood experiences, bullying, inflammation and BMI in 10-year-old children: The biological embodiment. *Plos One*. 2022;17(8):e0273329. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0273329

57. Fleischer T, Ulke C, Beutel M, Binder H, Brähler E, Johar H, Atasoy S, Kruse J, Otten D, Tibubos AN, Zöller D, Speerforck S, Grabe HJ, Ladwig KH, Schomerus G. The relation between childhood adversity and adult obesity in a population-based study in women and men. *Sci Rep-uk*. 2021;11(1):14068. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-93242-4

58. Kyler KE, Hall M, Halvorson EE, Davis AM. Associations between Obesity and Adverse Childhood Experiences in the United States. *Child Obes*. 2021;17(5):342-348. doi:10.1089/chi.2020.0261

59. Hiraoka T, Nishizaki M, Ueda K, Kondo Y. Growth recovery lines in children: A comparison between psychosocial short stature and other pathological causes of short stature. *Child Abuse Neglect*. 2022;123:105388. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105388

60. Martín-Martín V, Romo-González C, González-Zamora JF. Frequency of malnutrition in children and adolescents with child maltreatment. *Nutrición Hosp*. 2021;39(2):282-289. doi:10.20960/nh.03820

61. Frongillo EA, Onis M de, Hanson KMP. Socioeconomic and Demographic Factors Are Associated with Worldwide Patterns of Stunting and Wasting of Children. *J Nutrition*. 1997;127(12):2302-2309. doi:10.1093/jn/127.12.2302

62. Sonuga-Barke EJS, Hanć T, Stehli A, Trampush JW, Kennedy M, Kreppner J, Rutter M, Swanson JM, team the EYAF up. Severe deprivation in early childhood leads to permanent growth stunting: Longitudinal analysis of height trajectories from childhood-to-adulthood. *Child Abuse Neglect*. 2022;123:105427. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105427

63. Manyanga T, Tremblay MS, Chaput JP, Katzmarzyk PT, Fogelholm M, Hu G, Kuriyan R, Kurpad A, Lambert EV, Maher C, Maia J, Matsudo V, Olds T, Onywera V, Sarmiento OL, Standage M, Tudor-Locke C, Zhao P, Mikkila V, Broyles ST, Katzmarzyk PT, Church TS, Lambert DG, Barreira T, Broyles S, Butitta B, Champagne C, Cocreham S, Denstel KD, Drazba K, Harrington D, Johnson W, Milauskas D, Mire E, Tohme A, Rodarte R, Amoroso B, Luopa J, Neiberg R, Rushing S, Olds T, Maher C, Lewis L, Ferrar K, Georgiadis E, Stanley R, Matsudo VKR, Matsudo S, Araujo T, Oliveira LC de, Fabiano L, Bezerra D, Ferrari G, Tremblay MS, Chaput JP, Bélanger P, Borghese M, Boyer C, LeBlanc A, Francis C, Leduc G, Zhao P, Hu G, Diao C, Li W, Li W, Liu E, Liu G, Liu H, Ma J, Qiao Y, Tian H, Wang Y, Zhang T, Zhang F, Sarmiento O, Acosta J, Alvira Y, Diaz MP, Gamez R, Garcia MP, Gómez LG, Gonzalez L, Gonzalez S, Grijalba C, Gutierrez L, Leal D, Lemus N, Mahecha E, Mahecha MP, Mahecha R, Ramirez A, Rios P, Suarez A, Triana C, Fogelholm M, Hovi E, Kivelä J, et al. Socioeconomic status and dietary patterns in children from around the world: different associations by levels of country human development? Bmc Public Health. 2017;17(1):457. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4383-8

64. Ritchie H, Roser M. Micronutrient Deficiency. Published 2017. https://ourworldindata.org/micronutrient-deficiency

65. Yakoob MY, Lo CW. Nutrition (Micronutrients) in Child Growth and Development. *J Dev Behav Pediatrics*. 2017;38(8):665-679. doi:10.1097/dbp.00000000000482

66. Branca F, Ferrari M. Impact of Micronutrient Deficiencies on Growth: The Stunting Syndrome. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 2002;46(Suppl 1):8-17. doi:10.1159/000066397

67. Castillo-Durán, C, Cassorla, F. Trace Minerals in Human Growth and Development. J Pediatric Endocrinol Metabolism. 1999;12(5):589-602. doi:10.1515/jpem.1999.12.5.589

68. (WHO) WHO. Dissemination of WHO Guidelines and Recommendations on Micronutrients: Policy, Practice and Service Delivery Issues. Regional Office for South-East Asia.; 2015. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/160764</u>

69. Ramakrishnan U, Nguyen P, Martorell R. Effects of micronutrients on growth of children under 5 y of age: meta-analyses of single and multiple nutrient interventions. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2009;89(1):191-203. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2008.26862

70. Das JK, Salam RA, Kumar R, Bhutta ZA. Micronutrient fortification of food and its impact on woman and child health: a systematic review. *Syst Rev.* 2013;2(1):67. doi:10.1186/2046-4053-2-67

71. Westerterp KR. Physical activity and physical activity induced energy expenditure in humans: measurement, determinants, and effects. *Front Physiol*. 2013;4:90. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00090

72. Herrmann SD, McMurray RG, Kim Y, Willis EA, Kang M, McCurdy T. The influence of physical characteristics on the resting energy expenditure of youth: A metaanalysis. *Am J Hum Biol*. 2017;29(3). doi:10.1002/ajhb.22944

73. Wiskin AE, Davies JH, Wootton SA, Beattie RM. Energy expenditure, nutrition and growth. *Arch Dis Child*. 2011;96(6):567. doi:10.1136/adc.2009.158303

74. Spady DW, Payne PR, Picou D, Waterlow JC. Energy balance during recovery from malnutrition. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1976;29(10):1073-1088. doi:10.1093/ajcn/29.10.1073

75. Butte NF, Wong WW, Garza C. Energy cost of growth during infancy. *P Nutr Soc*. 1989;48(2):303-312. doi:10.1079/pns19890042

76. FAO/WHO/UNU. ENERGY REQUIREMENTS OF CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS. Published 2001. Accessed August 19, 2021. http://www.fao.org/3/y5686e/y5686e06.htm

77. Butte NF, Hopkinson JM, Wong WW, Smith EO, Ellis KJ. Body Composition during the First 2 Years of Life: An Updated Reference. *Pediatr Res.* 2000;47(5):578-585. doi:10.1203/00006450-200005000-00004

78. Butte NF, Wong WW, Hopkinson JM, Heinz CJ, Mehta NR, Smith EO. Energy requirements derived from total energy expenditure and energy deposition during the first 2 y of life. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;72(6):1558-1569. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.6.1558

79. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Mei Z, Wei R, Curtin LR, Roche AF, Johnson CL. 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States:

methods and development. *Vital Heal Statistics Ser 11 Data National Heal Surv*. 2002;(246):1-190.

80. Lam BYH, Williamson A, Finer S, Day FR, Tadross JA, Soares AG, Wade K, Sweeney P, Bedenbaugh MN, Porter DT, Melvin A, Ellacott KLJ, Lippert RN, Buller S, Rosmaninho-Salgado J, Dowsett GKC, Ridley KE, Xu Z, Cimino I, Rimmington D, Rainbow K, Duckett K, Holmqvist S, Khan A, Dai X, Bochukova EG, Team G& HR, Trembath RC, Martin HC, Coll AP, Rowitch DH, Wareham NJ, Heel DA van, Timpson N, Simerly RB, Ong KK, Cone RD, Langenberg C, Perry JRB, Yeo GS, O'Rahilly S. MC3R links nutritional state to childhood growth and the timing of puberty. *Nature*. 2021;599(7885):436-441. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-04088-9

81. Devesa J, Almengló C, Devesa P. Multiple Effects of Growth Hormone in the Body: Is it Really the Hormone for Growth? *Clin Medicine Insights Endocrinol Diabetes*. 2016;9:47-71. doi:10.4137/cmed.s38201

82. Perkins JM, Subramanian SV, Smith GD, Özaltin E. Adult height, nutrition, and population health. *Nutr Rev.* 2016;74(3):149-165. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuv105

83. Hoos MB, Gerver WJM, Kester AD, Westerterp KR. Physical activity levels in children and adolescents. *Int J Obesity*. 2003;27(5):605-609. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802246

84. Landry BW, Driscoll SW. Physical Activity in Children and Adolescents. *Pm&r*. 2012;4(11):826-832. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2012.09.585

85. Wyszyńska J, Ring-Dimitriou S, Thivel D, Weghuber D, Hadjipanayis A, Grossman Z, Ross-Russell R, Dereń K, Mazur A. Physical Activity in the Prevention of Childhood Obesity: The Position of the European Childhood Obesity Group and the European Academy of Pediatrics. *Frontiers Pediatrics*. 2020;8:535705. doi:10.3389/fped.2020.535705

86. Alves JGB, Alves GV. Effects of physical activity on children's growth. *J Pediat*. 2019;95:72-78. doi:10.1016/j.jped.2018.11.003

87. Tooze JA, Krebs-Smith SM, Troiano RP, Subar AF. The accuracy of the Goldberg method for classifying misreporters of energy intake on a food frequency questionnaire and 24-hour recalls: Comparison with doubly labeled water. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2012;66(5):569-576. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2011.198

88. Bedard D, Shatenstein B, Nadon S. Underreporting of energy intake from a selfadministered food-frequency questionnaire completed by adults in Montreal. *Public Health Nutr.* 2004;7(5):675-681. doi:10.1079/phn2003578

89. Feskanich D, Rimm EB, Giovannucci EL, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Litin LB, Willett WC. Reproducibility and validity of food intake measurements from a

semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. J Am Diet Assoc. 1993;93(7):790-796. doi:10.1016/0002-8223(93)91754-e

90. Burrows TL, Ho YY, Rollo ME, Collins CE. Validity of Dietary Assessment Methods When Compared to the Method of Doubly Labeled Water: A Systematic Review in Adults. *Front Endocrinol*. 2019;10:850. doi:10.3389/fendo.2019.00850

91. Batista LD, França NAG de, Fontanelli M de M, Martinez-Arroyo AG, Fisberg RM. Misreporting of dietary energy intake obtained by 24 h recalls in older adults: a comparison of five previous methods using doubly labeled water. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. Published online 2021:1-9. doi:10.1038/s41430-021-00998-z

92. Shai I, Schwarzfuchs D, Henkin Y, Shahar DR, Witkow S, Greenberg I, Golan R, Fraser D, Bolotin A, Vardi H, Tangi-Rozental O, Zuk-Ramot R, Sarusi B, Brickner D, Schwartz Z, Sheiner E, Marko R, Katorza E, Thiery J, Fiedler GM, Blüher M, Stumvoll M, Stampfer MJ. Weight Loss with a Low-Carbohydrate, Mediterranean, or Low-Fat Diet. *New Engl J Medicine*. 2008;359(3):229-241. doi:10.1056/nejmoa0708681

93. Stice E, Palmrose CA, Burger KS. Elevated BMI and Male Sex Are Associated with Greater Underreporting of Caloric Intake as Assessed by Doubly Labeled Water. *J Nutrition*. 2015;145(10):2412-2418. doi:10.3945/jn.115.216366

94. Burrows TL, Martin RJ, Collins CE. A Systematic Review of the Validity of Dietary Assessment Methods in Children when Compared with the Method of Doubly Labeled Water. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2010;110(10):1501-1510. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2010.07.008

95. Perks SM, Roemmich JN, Sandow-Pajewski M, Clark PA, Thomas E, Weltman A, Patrie J, Rogol AD. Alterations in growth and body composition during puberty. IV. Energy intake estimated by the Youth-Adolescent Food-Frequency Questionnaire: validation by the doubly labeled water method. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;72(6):1455-1460. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.6.1455

96. JOHNSON RK, DRISCOLL P, GORAN MI. Comparison of Multiple-Pass 24-Hour Recall Estimates of Energy Intake With Total Energy Expenditure Determined By the Doubly Labeled Water Method in Young Children. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 1996;96(11):1140-1144. doi:10.1016/s0002-8223(96)00293-3

97. Collins CE, Burrows TL, Truby H, Morgan PJ, Wright IMR, Davies PSW, Callister R. Comparison of Energy Intake in Toddlers Assessed by Food Frequency Questionnaire and Total Energy Expenditure Measured by the Doubly Labeled Water Method. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2013;113(3):459-463. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2012.09.021

98. Layman DK. Dietary Guidelines should reflect new understandings about adult protein needs. *Nutr Metabolism.* 2009;6(1):12-12. doi:10.1186/1743-7075-6-12

99. Wolfe RR, Cifelli AM, Kostas G, Kim IY. Optimizing Protein Intake in Adults: Interpretation and Application of the Recommended Dietary Allowance Compared with the Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Range. *Adv Nutrition Int Rev J*. 2017;8(2):266-275. doi:10.3945/an.116.013821

100. Pencharz PB, Elango R, Wolfe RR. Recent developments in understanding protein needs – How much and what kind should we eat?1. *Appl Physiology Nutrition Metabolism*. 2016;41(5):577-580. doi:10.1139/apnm-2015-0549

101. Pencharz P, Elango R. 1.3.3 Protein. Published online 2008:37-41. doi:10.1159/000155244

102. Martorell R, Lechtig A, Yarbrough C, Delgado H, Klein RE. Protein-calorie supplementation and postnatal physical growth: a review of findings from developing countries. *Arch Latinoam Nutr*. 1976;26(2):115-128.

103. DUGDALE AE, CHEN ST, HEWITT G. Patterns of Growth and Nutrition in Childhood. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1970;23(10):1280-1287. doi:10.1093/ajcn/23.10.1280

104. Allen LH. Nutritional influences on linear growth: a general review. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 1994;48 Suppl 1:S75-89.

105. AA J, MH G, R B, F J, J R, L. S. Whole-body protein turnover and nitrogen balance in young children at intakes of protein and energy in the region of maintenance. *Hum Nutr Clin Nutr*. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/6668227/</u>

106. Reeds PJ, Burrin DG, Davis TA, Fiorotto ML, Stoll B, Goudoever JB van. Protein nutrition of the neonate. *P Nutr Soc.* 2000;59(1):87-97. doi:10.1017/s0029665100000112

107. Cameron JD, Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Alberga AS, Prud'homme D, Phillips P, Doucette S, Goldfield G. Body composition and energy intake — skeletal muscle mass is the strongest predictor of food intake in obese adolescents: The HEARTY trial. *Appl Physiology Nutrition Metabolism.* 2016;41(6):611-617. doi:10.1139/apnm-2015-0479

108. Correa-Rodríguez M, Rueda-Medina B, González-Jiménez E, Schmidt-RioValle J. Associations between body composition, nutrition, and physical activity in young adults. *Am J Hum Biol*. 2017;29(1):e22903. doi:10.1002/ajhb.22903

109. Alexy U, Remer T, Manz F, Neu CM, Schoenau E. Long-term protein intake and dietary potential renal acid load are associated with bone modeling and remodeling at the proximal radius in healthy children. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2005;82(5):1107-1114. doi:10.1093/ajcn/82.5.1107

110. Millward DJ. Interactions between Growth of Muscle and Stature: Mechanisms Involved and Their Nutritional Sensitivity to Dietary Protein: The Protein-Stat Revisited. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(3):729. doi:10.3390/nu13030729
111. Trumbo P, Schlicker S, Yates AA, Poos M, Academies F and NB of the I of M The National. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein and Amino Acids. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2002;102(11):1621-1630. doi:10.1016/s0002-8223(02)90346-9

112. Consultation JWE. Protein and amino acid requirements in human nutrition. *World Heal Organization Technical Rep Ser*. 2007;(935):1-265, back cover.

113. Arslanian SA, Kalhan SC. Protein turnover during puberty in normal children. *Am J Physiol-endoc M*. 1996;270(1):E79-E84. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1996.270.1.e79

114. Nuttall FQ, Gannon MC. Dietary Protein and the Blood Glucose Concentration. *Diabetes*. 2013;62(5):1371-1372. doi:10.2337/db12-1829

115. Bilsborough S, Mann N. A Review of Issues of Dietary Protein Intake in Humans. *Int J Sport Nutr Exe.* 2006;16(2):129-152. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.16.2.129

116. Kabir I, Malek MA, Mazumder RN, Rahman MM, Mahalanabis D. Rapid catch-up growth of children fed a high-protein diet during convalescence from shigellosis. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1993;57(3):441-445. doi:10.1093/ajcn/57.3.441

117. Ghosh S, Suri D, Uauy R. Assessment of protein adequacy in developing countries: quality matters. *Brit J Nutr.* 2011;108(S2):S77-S87. doi:10.1017/s0007114512002577

118. Ball RO, Bayley HS. Tryptophan Requirement of the 2.5-kg Piglet Determined by the Oxidation of an Indicator Amino Acid. *J Nutrition*. 1984;114(10):1741-1746. doi:10.1093/jn/114.10.1741

119. Mager DR, Wykes LJ, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Branched-Chain Amino Acid Requirements in School-Aged Children Determined by Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation (IAAO). *J Nutrition*. 2003;133(11):3540-3545. doi:10.1093/jn/133.11.3540

120. Turner JM, Humayun MA, Elango R, Rafii M, Langos V, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Total sulfur amino acid requirement of healthy school-age children as determined by indicator amino acid oxidation technique. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2006;83(3):619-623. doi:10.1093/ajcn.83.3.619

121. Elango R, Humayun MA, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Lysine requirement of healthy school-age children determined by the indicator amino acid oxidation method. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2007;86(2):360-365. doi:10.1093/ajcn/86.2.360

122. Zello GA, Pencharz PB, Ball RO. Dietary lysine requirement of young adult males determined by oxidation of L-[1-13C]phenylalanine. *Am J Physiol-endoc M*. 1993;264(4):E677-E685. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1993.264.4.e677

123. Bross R, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Development of a Minimally Invasive Protocol for the Determination of Phenylalanine and Lysine Kinetics in Humans during the Fed State. *J Nutrition*. 1998;128(11):1913-1919. doi:10.1093/jn/128.11.1913

124. Elango R, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Individual amino acid requirements in humans: an update. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr*. 2008;11(1):34-39. doi:10.1097/mco.0b013e3282f2a5a4

125. Elango R, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation: Concept and Application. *J Nutrition*. 2008;138(2):243-246. doi:10.1093/jn/138.2.243

126. Elango R, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Recent advances in determining protein and amino acid requirements in humans. *Brit J Nutr*. 2012;108(S2):S22-S30. doi:10.1017/s0007114512002504

127. Elango R, Humayun MA, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Protein requirement of healthy school-age children determined by the indicator amino acid oxidation method. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2011;94(6):1545-1552. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.012815

128. Bohé J, Low A, Wolfe RR, Rennie MJ. Human Muscle Protein Synthesis is Modulated by Extracellular, Not Intramuscular Amino Acid Availability: A Dose-Response Study. *J Physiology*. 2003;552(1):315-324. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.050674

129. Paddon-Jones D, Sheffield-Moore M, Zhang XJ, Volpi E, Wolf SE, Aarsland A, Ferrando AA, Wolfe RR. Amino acid ingestion improves muscle protein synthesis in the young and elderly. *Am J Physiol-endoc M*. 2004;286(3):E321-E328. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00368.2003

130. Schaafsma G. The Protein Digestibility–Corrected Amino Acid Score. *J Nutrition*. 2000;130(7):1865S-1867S. doi:10.1093/jn/130.7.1865s

131. Walters EM, Wells KD, Bryda EC, Schommer S, Prather RS. Swine models, genomic tools and services to enhance our understanding of human health and diseases. *Lab Animal*. 2017;46(4):167-172. doi:10.1038/laban.1215

132. Swindle MM, Makin A, Herron AJ, Clubb FJ, Frazier KS. Swine as Models in Biomedical Research and Toxicology Testing. *Vet Pathol.* 2012;49(2):344-356. doi:10.1177/0300985811402846

133. Schomberg DT, Tellez A, Meudt JJ, Brady DA, Dillon KN, Arowolo FK, Wicks J, Rousselle SD, Shanmuganayagam D. Miniature Swine for Preclinical Modeling of Complexities of Human Disease for Translational Scientific Discovery and Accelerated Development of Therapies and Medical Devices. *Toxicol Pathol*. 2016;44(3):299-314. doi:10.1177/0192623315618292

134. Mathai JK, Liu Y, Stein HH. Values for digestible indispensable amino acid scores (DIAAS) for some dairy and plant proteins may better describe protein quality than values calculated using the concept for protein digestibility-corrected amino acid scores (PDCAAS). *Brit J Nutr*. 2017;117(4):490-499. doi:10.1017/s0007114517000125

135. Hudson JL, Baum JI, Diaz EC, Børsheim E. Dietary Protein Requirements in Children: Methods for Consideration. *Nutrients*. 2021;13(5):1554. doi:10.3390/nu13051554

136. Moehn S, Bertolo RFP, Pencharz PB, Ball RO. Development of the Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation Technique to Determine the Availability of Amino Acids from Dietary Protein in Pigs. *J Nutrition*. 2005;135(12):2866-2870. doi:10.1093/jn/135.12.2866

137. Humayun MA, Elango R, Moehn S, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Application of the Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation Technique for the Determination of Metabolic Availability of Sulfur Amino Acids from Casein versus Soy Protein Isolate in Adult Men. *J Nutrition*. 2007;137(8):1874-1879. doi:10.1093/jn/137.8.1874

138. Paoletti A, Fakiha A, Tul-Noor Z, Pencharz PB, Levesque CL, Ball RO, Kong D, Elango R, Courtney-Martin G. Bioavailable Lysine Assessed Using the Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation Method in Healthy Young Males is High when Sorghum is Cooked by a Moist Cooking Method. *J Nutrition*. Published online 2021:nxab410-. doi:10.1093/jn/nxab410

139. Gaudichon C, Calvez J. Determinants of amino acid bioavailability from ingested protein in relation to gut health. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr*. 2021;24(1):55-61. doi:10.1097/mco.000000000000708

140. Rafii M, Pencharz PB, Ball RO, Tomlinson C, Elango R, Courtney-Martin G. Bioavailable Methionine Assessed Using the Indicator Amino Acid Oxidation Method Is Greater When Cooked Chickpeas and Steamed Rice Are Combined in Healthy Young Men. *J Nutrition*. 2020;150(7):1834-1844. doi:10.1093/jn/nxaa086

141. Mager DR, Wykes LJ, Roberts EA, Ball RO, Pencharz PB. Branched-Chain Amino Acid Needs in Children with Mild-to-Moderate Chronic Cholestatic Liver Disease. *J Nutrition*. 2006;136(1):133-139. doi:10.1093/jn/136.1.133

142. Bandyopadhyay S, Kashyap S, Calvez J, Devi S, Azzout-Marniche D, Tomé D, Kurpad AV, Gaudichon C. Evaluation of Protein Quality in Humans and Insights on Stable Isotope Approaches to Measure Digestibility – A Review. *Adv Nutr*. Published online 2021:nmab134. doi:10.1093/advances/nmab134

143. Miliku K, Duan QL, Moraes TJ, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, Turvey SE, Lefebvre DL, Sears MR, Subbarao P, Field CJ, Azad MB. Human milk fatty acid composition is associated with dietary, genetic, sociodemographic, and environmental factors in the

CHILD Cohort Study. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2019;110(6):1370-1383. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqz229

144. Ramiro-Cortijo D, Singh P, Liu Y, Medina-Morales E, Yakah W, Freedman SD, Martin CR. Breast Milk Lipids and Fatty Acids in Regulating Neonatal Intestinal Development and Protecting against Intestinal Injury. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(2):534. doi:10.3390/nu12020534

145. Léké A, Grognet S, Deforceville M, Goudjil S, Chazal C, Kongolo G, Dzon BE, Biendo M. Macronutrient composition in human milk from mothers of preterm and term neonates is highly variable during the lactation period. *Clin Nutrition Exp.* 2019;26:59-72. doi:10.1016/j.yclnex.2019.03.004

146. Uauy R, Mize CE, Castillo-Duran C. Fat intake during childhood: metabolic responses and effects on growth. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;72(5):1354s-1360s. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.5.1354s

147. Boulton T, Magarey A. Effects of differences in dietary fat on growth, energy and nutrient intake from infancy to eight years of age. *Acta Pædiatrica*. 1995;84(2):146-150. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1995.tb13597.x

148. FOMON SJ, THOMAS LN, FILER LJ, ANDERSON TA, NELSON SE. INFLUENCE OF FAT AND CARBOHYDRATE CONTENT OF DIET ON FOOD INTAKE AND GROWTH OF MALE INFANTS. *Acta Pædiatrica*. 1976;65(2):136-140. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1976.tb16526.x

149. Lagström H, Seppänen R, Jokinen E, Niinikoski H, Rönnemaa T, Viikari J, Simell O. Influence of dietary fat on the nutrient intake and growth of children from 1 to 5 y of age: the Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1999;69(3):516-523. doi:10.1093/ajcn/69.3.516

150. Lapinleimu H, Viikari J, Jokinen E, Salo P, Routi T, Leino A, Rönnemaa T, Seppänen R, Välimäki I, Simell O. Prospective randomised trial in 1062 infants of diet low in saturated fat and cholesterol. *Lancet*. 1995;345(8948):471-476. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(95)90580-4

151. Niinikoski H, Viikari J, Rönnemaa T, Helenius H, Jokinen E, Lapinleimu H, Routi T, Lagström H, Seppänen R, Välimäki I, Simell O. Regulation of Growth of 7- to 36-Month-Old Children by Energy and Fat Intake in the Prospective, Randomized STRIP Baby Trial. *Pediatrics*. 1997;100(5):810-816. doi:10.1542/peds.100.5.810

152. Niinikoski H, Lapinleimu H, Viikari J, Rönnemaa T, Jokinen E, Seppänen R, Terho P, Tuominen J, Välimäki I, Simell O. Growth Until 3 Years of Age in a Prospective, Randomized Trial of a Diet With Reduced Saturated Fat and Cholesterol. *Pediatrics*. 1997;99(5):687-694. doi:10.1542/peds.99.5.687

153. Obarzanek E, Hunsberger SA, Horn LV, Hartmuller VV, Barton BA, Stevens VJ, Kwiterovich PO, Franklin FA, Kimm SYS, Lasser NL, Simons-Morton DG, Lauer RM. Safety of a Fat-reduced Diet: The Dietary Intervention Study in Children (DISC). *Pediatrics*. 1997;100(1):51-59. doi:10.1542/peds.100.1.51

154. Shea S, Basch CE, Stein AD, Contento IR, Irigoyen M, Zybert P. Is there a relationship between dietary fat and stature or growth in children three to five years of age? *Pediatrics*. 1993;92(4):579-586.

155. Vobecky JS, Vobecky J, Normand L. Risk and Benefit of Low Fat Intake in Childhood. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 1995;39(2):124-133. doi:10.1159/000177852

156. Kostyak JC, Kris-Etherton P, Bagshaw D, DeLany JP, Farrell PA. Relative fat oxidation is higher in children than adults. *Nutr J*. 2007;6(1):19. doi:10.1186/1475-2891-6-19

157. Adjepong M, Pickens CA, Jain R, Harris WS, Annan RA, Fenton JI. Association of whole blood n-6 fatty acids with stunting in 2-to-6-year-old Northern Ghanaian children: A cross-sectional study. *Plos One*. 2018;13(3):e0193301. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0193301

158. Jain R, Ezeamama AE, Sikorskii A, Yakah W, Zalwango S, Musoke P, Boivin MJ, Fenton JI. Serum n-6 Fatty Acids are Positively Associated with Growth in 6-to-10-Year Old Ugandan Children Regardless of HIV Status—A Cross-Sectional Study. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(6):1268. doi:10.3390/nu11061268

159. Semba RD, Trehan I, Li X, Salem N, Moaddel R, Ordiz MI, Maleta KM, Kraemer K, Manary MJ. Low serum ω -3 and ω -6 polyunsaturated fatty acids and other metabolites are associated with poor linear growth in young children from rural Malawi. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2017;106(6):1490-1499. doi:10.3945/ajcn.117.164384

160. Zafar MI, Mills KE, Zheng J, Regmi A, Hu SQ, Gou L, Chen LL. Low-glycemic index diets as an intervention for diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2019;110(4):891-902. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqz149

161. Reynolds A, Mann J, Cummings J, Winter N, Mete E, Morenga LT. Carbohydrate quality and human health: a series of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Lancet*. 2019;393(10170):434-445. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(18)31809-9

162. Matthan NR, Ausman LM, Meng H, Tighiouart H, Lichtenstein AH. Estimating the reliability of glycemic index values and potential sources of methodological and biological variability. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2016;104(4):1004-1013. doi:10.3945/ajcn.116.137208

163. Zeevi D, Korem T, Zmora N, Israeli D, Rothschild D, Weinberger A, Ben-Yacov O, Lador D, Avnit-Sagi T, Lotan-Pompan M, Suez J, Mahdi JA, Matot E, Malka G,

Kosower N, Rein M, Zilberman-Schapira G, Dohnalová L, Pevsner-Fischer M, Bikovsky R, Halpern Z, Elinav E, Segal E. Personalized Nutrition by Prediction of Glycemic Responses. *Cell*. 2015;163(5):1079-1094. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.11.001

164. Magriplis E, Michas G, Petridi E, Chrousos GP, Roma E, Benetou V, Cholopoulos N, Micha R, Panagiotakos D, Zampelas A. Dietary Sugar Intake and Its Association with Obesity in Children and Adolescents †. *Children*. 2021;8(8):676. doi:10.3390/children8080676

165. Bleich SN, Vercammen KA. The negative impact of sugar-sweetened beverages on children's health: an update of the literature. *Bmc Obes*. 2018;5(1):6. doi:10.1186/s40608-017-0178-9

166. Gopinath B, Flood VM, Wang JJ, Smith W, Rochtchina E, Louie JC, Wong TY, Brand-Miller J, Mitchell P. Carbohydrate nutrition is associated with changes in the retinal vascular structure and branching pattern in children. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2012;95(5):1215-1222. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.031641

167. Gillen ZM, Mustad VA, Shoemaker ME, Mckay BD, Leutzinger TJ, Lopez-Pedrosa JM, Rueda R, Cramer JT. Impact of slow versus rapid digesting carbohydrates on substrate oxidation in pre-pubertal children: A randomized crossover trial. *Clin Nutr*. 2021;40(6):3718-3728. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2021.05.004

168. Ruottinen S, Niinikoski H, Lagström H, Rönnemaa T, Hakanen M, Viikari J, Jokinen E, Simell O. High Sucrose Intake Is Associated With Poor Quality of Diet and Growth Between 13 Months and 9 Years of Age: The Special Turku Coronary Risk Factor Intervention Project. *Pediatrics*. 2008;121(6):e1676-e1685. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1642

169. Dahl WJ, Stewart ML. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Health Implications of Dietary Fiber. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2015;115(11):1861-1870. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2015.09.003

170. Slavin J. Fiber and Prebiotics: Mechanisms and Health Benefits. *Nutrients*. 2013;5(4):1417-1435. doi:10.3390/nu5041417

171. Korczak R, Kamil A, Fleige L, Donovan SM, Slavin JL. Dietary fiber and digestive health in children. *Nutr Rev.* 2017;75(4):241-259. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuw068

172. Kranz S, Brauchla M, Slavin JL, Miller KB. What Do We Know about Dietary Fiber Intake in Children and Health? The Effects of Fiber Intake on Constipation, Obesity, and Diabetes in Children. *Adv Nutr.* 2012;3(1):47-53. doi:10.3945/an.111.001362

173. Ruottinen S, Lagström HK, Niinikoski H, Rönnemaa T, Saarinen M, Pahkala KA, Hakanen M, Viikari JS, Simell O. Dietary fiber does not displace energy but is associated

with decreased serum cholesterol concentrations in healthy children. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2010;91(3):651-661. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2009.28461

174. Parillo M, Licenziati MR, Vacca M, Marco DD, Iannuzzi A. Metabolic changes after a hypocaloric, low-glycemic-index diet in obese children. *J Endocrinol Invest*. 2012;35(7):629-633. doi:10.3275/7909

175. Spieth LE, Harnish JD, Lenders CM, Raezer LB, Pereira MA, Hangen SJ, Ludwig DS. A Low–Glycemic Index Diet in the Treatment of Pediatric Obesity. *Arch Pediat Adol Med.* 2000;154(9):947-951. doi:10.1001/archpedi.154.9.947

176. Kong APS, Chan RSM, Nelson EAS, Chan JCN. Role of low-glycemic index diet in management of childhood obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2011;12(7):492-498. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789x.2010.00768.x

177. Boushey C, Ard J, Bazzano L, Heymsfield S, Mayer-Davis E, Sabaté J, Snetselaar L, Horn LV, Schneeman B, English L, Bates M, Callahan E, Butera G, Terry N, Obbagy J. Dietary Patterns and Growth, Size, Body Composition, and/or Risk of Overweight or Obesity: A Systematic Review. doi:10.52570/nesr.dgac2020.sr0101

178. Puentes E, Wang F, Behrman JR, Cunha F, Hoddinott J, Maluccio JA, Adair LS, Borja JB, Martorell R, Stein AD. Early life height and weight production functions with endogenous energy and protein inputs. *Econ Hum Biol*. 2016;22:65-81. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2016.03.002

179. Alimujiang A, Colditz GA, Gardner JD, Park Y, Berkey CS, Sutcliffe S. Childhood diet and growth in boys in relation to timing of puberty and adult height: the Longitudinal Studies of Child Health and Development. *Cancer Cause Control*. 2018;29(10):915-926. doi:10.1007/s10552-018-1068-2

180. Berkey CS, Gardner JD, Frazier AL, Colditz GA. Relation of Childhood Diet and Body Size to Menarche and Adolescent Growth in Girls. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2000;152(5):446-452. doi:10.1093/aje/152.5.446

181. Switkowski KM, Jacques PF, Must A, Fleisch A, Oken E. Associations of protein intake in early childhood with body composition, height, and insulin-like growth factor I in mid-childhood and early adolescence. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2019;109(4):1154-1163. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqy354

182. Pimpin L, Jebb S, Johnson L, Wardle J, Ambrosini GL. Dietary protein intake is associated with body mass index and weight up to 5 y of age in a prospective cohort of twins12. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2016;103(2):389-397. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.118612

183. Braun KV, Erler NS, Jong JCK de, Jaddoe VW, Hooven EH van den, Franco OH, Voortman T. Dietary Intake of Protein in Early Childhood Is Associated with Growth

Trajectories between 1 and 9 Years of Age. *J Nutrition*. 2016;146(11):2361-2367. doi:10.3945/jn.116.237164

184. Hoppe C, Mølgaard C, Michaelsen KF. Bone Size and Bone Mass in 10-Year-Old Danish Children: Effect of Current Diet. *Osteoporosis Int*. 2000;11(12):1024-1030. doi:10.1007/s001980070023

185. Hua Y, Remer T. Adult Stature and Protein Intake During Childhood and Adolescence From 3 Years Onward. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabolism*. 2022;107(7):e2833-e2842. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgac205

186. Dagnelie PC, Staveren WA van. Macrobiotic nutrition and child health: results of a population-based, mixed-longitudinal cohort study in The Netherlands. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1994;59(5):1187S-1196S. doi:10.1093/ajcn/59.5.1187s

187. DAGNELIE PC, STAVEREN WAV, HAUTVAST JGJA. Stunting and Nutrient Deficiences in Children on Alternative Diets. *Acta Paediatr*. 1991;80(s374):111-118. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.1991.tb12013.x

188. Dagnelie PC, Dusseldorp M van, Staveren WA van, Hautvast JG. Effects of macrobiotic diets on linear growth in infants and children until 10 years of age. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 1994;48 Suppl 1:S103-11; discussion S111-2.

189. Lichtenstein AH, Petersen K, Barger K, Hansen KE, Anderson CAM, Baer DJ, Lampe JW, Rasmussen H, Matthan NR. Perspective: Design and Conduct of Human Nutrition Randomized Controlled Trials. *Adv Nutr*. 2020;12(1):4-20. doi:10.1093/advances/nmaa109

190. Lagström H, Hakanen M, Niinikoski H, Viikari J, Rönnemaa T, Saarinen M, Pahkala K, Simell O. Growth Patterns and Obesity Development in Overweight or Normal-Weight 13-Year-Old Adolescents: The STRIP Study. *Pediatrics*. 2008;122(4):e876-e883. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-2354

191. Nummela SR, Salo P, Pahkala K, Raitakari OT, Viikari J, Rönnemaa T, Jula A, Rovio SP, Niinikoski H. Weight gain in infancy and markers of cardiometabolic health in young adulthood. *Acta Paediatr*. 2022;111(8):1603-1611. doi:10.1111/apa.16349

192. (USDA) USD of A. DRI Calculator for Health Care Professionals. Accessed December 29, 2021. <u>https://www.nal.usda.gov/legacy/fnic/dri-calculator/</u>

193. Giovannini M, Agostoni C, Gianní M, Bernardo L, Riva E. Adolescence: macronutrient needs. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2000;54(Suppl 1):S7-S10. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600977

194. Fulgoni VL. Current protein intake in America: analysis of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2003–2004. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2008;87(5):1554S-1557S. doi:10.1093/ajcn/87.5.1554s

195. Ranganathan J. People Are Eating More Protein than They Need—Especially in Wealthy Regions. Accessed February 22, 2022. <u>https://www.wri.org/data/people-are-eating-more-protein-they-need-especially-wealthy-regions</u>

196. DUGDALE AE, CHEN ST, HEWITT G. Patterns of Growth and Nutrition in Childhood. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1970;23(10):1280-1287. doi:10.1093/ajcn/23.10.1280

Chapter 2: Longitudinal Analysis of Physical Growth in Children with T1DM: The Potential Impacts of Disease Duration and Blood Glucose Control

ABSTRACT

Background: Child growth is an important and sensitive metric of overall child health, yet the specific impacts of Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) on growth metrics remain unclear. Even with modern interventions, children with T1DM have historically exhibited poor glycemic control, measured by glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c). High HbA1c and early age of diagnosis have the potential to alter growth patterns.

Objective: To investigate the long-term effects of Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) on child growth patterns, specifically focusing on height, weight, and the timing and tempo of growth.

Participants: The analysis included 1516 children with etiologic T1DM, followed from ages 2 to 20 years (71% white, 53% female) with a mean age of diagnosis of 9 years.

Study Design & Statistical Analysis: A longitudinal analysis using nonlinear mixed effects (NLME) statistical models was employed to describe the growth trajectories of children with T1DM. This approach allowed for the evaluation of sex-specific, individual and population-level growth metrics, including timing (age at takeoff), tempo (slope at takeoff), and upper asymptotic height and weight. The potential impact of disease duration and glycemic control on growth metrics was also explored.

Results: Children with T1DM showed differences in growth metrics compared to reports of children without T1DM, including earlier age of growth takeoff. Although stunting and wasting rates may be cause for clinical concern, final adult heights (FAH) in both boys and girls were predicted to be taller. Disease duration was found to have a greater negative impact on FAH than HbA1c levels.

Conclusion: This study highlights the potential for long-term effects of T1DM on child growth, with implications for earlier puberty onset and taller FAH. Although glycemic control is an important factor in growth, modeling suggests that disease duration has a more significant impact. The mechanisms involved in these altered growth patterns remain to be elucidated.

BACKGROUND

Growth and growth rate (height velocity) are standard clinical metrics for child health. Poor blood glucose control in children with Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) has known negative effects on diabetes-specific health outcomes detectable even at a young age.¹⁻⁵ Before the invention of insulin, early studies reported that the disease profoundly impacted growth, making stunting and wasting hallmarks of the disease.⁶ Once insulin became available, alterations in growth were attributed to poor blood glucose control.^{7,8} However, these early studies pre-dated the landmark Diabetes Control and Complication Trial (DCCT), modern blood glucose control methods, and robust study design and analysis. Post-DCCT reviews conclude that impacts on growth metrics in children with T1DM are remarkably inconsistent,^{9,10} despite generally improved HbA1c levels. More recently, studies have suggested that the lack of blood glucose control can negatively impact final adult height (FAH) and was primarily related to whether the diagnosis was before or after puberty.^{11,12} However, the precise quantification of longitudinal impacts on growth in children with T1DM remains unclear. The present analysis describes the longitudinal growth profile of children with etiologic T1DM.

The *timing* and *tempo* of growth provide context for growth dynamics in children. James Tanner coined these foundational metrics for growth in children, which still bear his name.¹³ Of particular physiological interest to Tanner was the *tempo* of the adolescent growth spurt for which the age at peak height velocity (aPHV) and the peak height velocity (PHV) could be utilized to define the *timing* and *rate* of growth, respectively. These important growth metrics can be easily extracted from cross-sectional data of child populations using readily available metrics of linear height. However, the current clinical definition of the Tanner stage is based on the presence of specific secondary sex characteristics.¹⁴ Therefore, in the individual-participant clinical context, the *timing* of growth is often interpreted as the Tanner stage of a child compared to peers. In terms of *tempo*, the clinical interpretation considers a child's progression from Tanner stage 2 to menarche/spermarche compared to peers.

Unfortunately, adequate Tanner data, particularly for both sexes, is often absent when studying child populations. As discussed, aPHV and PHV can be calculated from cross-sectional height data, giving important descriptive clues about child growth. However, more advanced longitudinal statistical modeling can be employed using these same basic growth metrics to calculate the *timing* and *tempo* of growth in the absence of Tanner scores. Therefore, the present analysis sought nonlinear mixed effects (NLME) modeling to calculate the *timing* and *tempo* of growth in a longitudinal rather than crosssectional fashion.

In a longitudinal and population data context, instead of relying on Tanner scores, *timing* can be interpreted more directly as the age at which specific growth milestones are met compared to their same-sex peers. In logistical statistical modeling, *timing* can be represented by an inflection point (i.e., age) at which half of child growth has occurred. Similarly, *tempo* can be considered as the rate of progress of growth (i.e., how fast or slow the child or population is growing at a specific point) represented as the slope at the same inflection point defined with *timing*. Importantly, *timing* and *tempo* apply regardless of physical sexual development stage (i.e., Tanner), making the metrics relevant to both girls and boys without knowledge of primary and secondary sex characteristics or the onset of menarche/spermarche. NLME can also calculate the FAH, an additional standard clinical metric for evaluating maturation outcomes that does not rely on secondary sex characteristics.

In the present analysis, NLME modeling enabled a mathematically robust determination of the nonlinear dynamic process of child growth. An NLME model was adapted from Marceau et al.,¹⁵ including coefficients for FAH, *timing*, and *tempo* of the population by sex. The modeling enabled the exploration of both fixed and random effects and the inclusion of covariates of interest to T1DM. Traditional cross-sectional growth metrics such as PHV and aPHV were explored descriptively outside the model. Further, analysis of stunting and wasting provided an understanding of potential growth dysfunction in populations.

The goal of this analysis is largely descriptive. However, undertaking this dataset was driven by the central hypothesis that the presence of T1DM may negatively impact growth. Given the early-age diagnosis of the disease,¹⁶ the long-term¹⁷ and early onset¹⁸ of adverse health outcomes of the overall population, and the inability of children to meet American Diabetes Association (ADA) HbA1c goals,¹⁹ we hypothesize that growth metrics may be negatively affected in children with T1DM. Further, we hypothesize that blood glucose control and disease duration may adversely affect physical height and weight metrics.

METHODS

Data Acquisition

Data was obtained from a two-decade-long multicenter longitudinal study of children diagnosed with diabetes. The study was conducted from ~2000 to 2020 by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Diseases (NIDDK) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH). Study centers were located in five states: Colorado, Ohio, Washington, South Carolina, and California, with the coordinating center located in North Carolina.

The present secondary data analysis was approved by the coordinating center, and data were obtained through the Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity & Diabetes (LEAD) Center at the Colorado School of Public Health of the University of Colorado (IRB#CRV018). Data were received in de-identified form and deemed exempt from oversight by South Dakota State University IRB (#IRB-2210012-EXM). The present analysis is focused on physical child growth metrics encompassing height and weight.

Participants

The methods for data collection from participants have been described previously.²⁰ Briefly, anthropomorphic and demographic data were collected via surveys, and clinical data were collected by medical personnel at study visits. Surveys obtained self-reported information on income, race, and education.^{21–23} At initial enrollment, blood was drawn for diabetes autoantibodies and utilized to confirm etiologic T1DM. Study visits included a brief physical examination with the collection of height and weight. Blood was drawn for HbA1c testing at each study visit with specifics for the laboratory analysis methods as previously reported.²⁰

Participant data were collected across time, with a maximum of six visits across childhood, with data collected at baseline, one-year, two-year, and five-year follow-up, with two later cohorts collected at approximately five-year intervals. Only participants with etiologic T1DM were included in the present analysis and were enrolled after diagnosis. The majority of participants were within one year of diagnosis at baseline enrollment. No exclusions were made to restrict participants with a particular disease duration to enable consideration as a covariate in models. Data were restricted to participants whose exact age was known between 2 and 20 years. Physiologically implausible data and outliers were detected using robust regression and outlier removal (ROUT),²⁴ a *non-ad-hoc* method for outlier detection and removal, with slight modifications described below. The ROUT method detects outliers specific to the statistical model being fit. Table 2.1 reflects baseline data removed of outliers using ROUT after fitting the fixed-effects-only HEIGHT and WEIGHT NLME models for each sex. As the longitudinal and repeated-measures nature of growth is an important aspect of the present analysis, participants without at least two visit time points were excluded. **Supplement 2.1** depicts the inclusion and exclusion flowchart. Two separate NLME statistical models were applied, one for HEIGHT and one for WEIGHT for each sex. Each analysis reflects the pattern of child growth across the ages of 2 and 20, with an NLME model-fitted to represent the average growth of the population.

Measures

Age and age of diagnosis

A precise date of birth was not provided in the dataset due to patient protection protocols. However, the exact age of diagnosis was provided for a subset of participants, and disease duration was provided for all participants. Due to the age-dependent nature of growth, only those participants with the exact age of diagnosis were utilized for analysis. Therefore, child age was calculated as age at diagnosis added to the disease duration.

Height

Logically, height cannot decrease across time; however, decreases in height were noted in the dataset. Therefore, decreases in height of up to 2.5 cm were presumed to be due to measurement error and converted to zero. All other height decreases of more than 2.5 cm were deemed physiologically implausible and removed. Mean height is reported by age for each sex in **Tables 2.2A**, **2.2B**, **2.3A**, and **2.3B**.

Weight

Unlike height, weight can decrease over time. Therefore, weight-related outliers were only removed using ROUT. Mean weight is reported by age for each sex in **Tables 2.2A**, **2.2B**, **2.3A**, and **2.3B**.

Growth rate

Height velocity was calculated as the difference in height as a ratio to the difference in age between visits. By definition, height velocity cannot be negative. Therefore, any mildly negative height velocity values were converted to zero before analysis (i.e., these resulted from the negative height values of up to -2.5 cm deemed as acceptable measurement error described above, which had remained in the dataset). The height velocity was calculated for a given individual directly from height, and a mean height velocity was reported by age and sex in **Tables 2.2A**, **2.2B**, **2.3A**, and **2.3B**. The mean PHV and aPHV were also calculated and reported as a single mean value for boys and girls.

Disease Duration

The disease duration was provided in the dataset to the nearest month. Duration was not restricted in the analysis, although 66.1% of children in the dataset were enrolled within one year of diagnosis. Disease duration was explored as an explanatory covariate in the models for any potential relationship between disease duration and growth outcomes.

Blood glucose

The HbA1c was collected within approximately one month of growth metric collection. HbA1c was used as an explanatory covariate to explore any potential relationship between blood glucose control and growth outcomes.

Stunting and Wasting

Z-scores were provided in an already-calculated form from the LEAD Center and were based on CDC 2000 growth charts. Stunting and wasting parameters were calculated based on z-score using height-for-age (HAZ) and weight-for-height (WHZ) z-scores. The severity of stunting and wasting were calculated using the standard deviation (SD) of z-scores with marginal, moderate, and severe stunting classified as -2<HAZ<-1, -3<HAZ<-2, and HAZ<-3, respectively. Similarly, marginal, moderate, and severe wasting was classified as -2<WHZ<-1, -3<WHZ<-2, and WHZ<-3, respectively. Total stunting or wasting was defined as the SD of HAZ or WHZ<-1 (that is, the sum of marginal, moderate, and severe stunting) representative of the rate of each metric at each one-year age interval. Total burdens, which can be thought of as the longitudinal prevalence or the proportion of time with stunting or wasting, were each calculated as the

total number of stunted or wasted cases divided by the total number of person-years across ages 2 to 20 years.

Data Analysis

Statistical Model Selection

Multiple models for child growth analysis have been reported in the literature, but there is no consensus on the ideal model. Physiologically, child growth follows a nonlinear pattern.^{25,26} Even Tanner suggested a nonlinear pattern when describing puberty as occurring in "spurts."²⁷ Nonlinear, rather than linear models, have been reported to model child growth more accurately.^{15,28,29} Not only is growth in physical height and weight known to occur "in spurts," it also exhibits a logistic curve pattern. Growth data from children with T1DM in the present dataset is longitudinal. However, the interval between participant samples is inconsistent, and the data is unbalanced. The use of NLME modeling is ideal for unbalanced, repeated measurement data with irregular intervals. Repeated measurements of height and weight are inherently autocorrelated (height at a given timepoint for an individual is related to height at a later timepoint, i.e., not intra-individual independent). Thus, models including random effects (REs), enable the incorporation of individual-to-individual (inter-individual) and within-individual (intra-individual) variability. NLME models enable flexibility for modeling such data signatures by accommodating more than one source of random variability in the data, with the potential for modeling REs of intercepts and slopes.

The variability of REs in nonlinear models has a similar interpretation of residual variance in linear models; that is, if the SD of the RE is high, then the inclusion of the RE does not improve the model. Alternatively, if the SD of the RE decreases, then the

inclusion of the RE contributes to model improvement. This principle and the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) were utilized to determine the best models. In the present study, models were attempted, including REs for intercepts and slopes and combinations thereof. However, all selected models included REs exclusively for intercepts, as all RE slope models failed to converge, suggesting overparameterization. All models were given initial values to aid in convergence. The best statistical models were chosen based on the ability to converge, model-fit using residuals, evaluation of change in SD with the addition of each coefficient RE, and the lowest AIC. Covariates of interest were added to models for comparison after choosing the best primary RE model for each metric of interest (HEIGHT or WEIGHT). Comparison of the basic fixed effects (BFE) vs. basic random effects (BRE) vs. selected random effects (SRE) models was performed using *post hoc* likelihood ratio tests (LRT) with a Probability $> \chi^2$, and a p-value < 0.05 was considered significant for improvement in model-fit. SRE vs. SRE covariate models (CM) were also compared to identify if the inclusion of explanatory covariates improved model-fit. All data handling, modeling, and model graphing were primarily performed in Stata18, though some graphs were created in GraphPad Prism v10. Graphical depiction of RE models were smoothed using the *-lowess-* command in Stata. The NLME modeling was performed using *-menl -, a* function that employs maximum likelihood least-squares regression with error distributions assumed to be Gaussian.

Outlier Detection and Removal

Inter-individual outliers were identified using the ROUT method for nonlinear regression.²⁴ The *non-ad-hoc* ROUT method was applied to detect inter-individual outliers by fitting each sex-specific BFE *-menl-* model and setting the false discovery rate

Q-value to 1%. All Stata code for the ROUT method and NLME models is provided in **Supplement 2.2.**

HEIGHT and WEIGHT Models

The NLME logistic HEIGHT and WEIGHT models utilized are physiologically relevant and interpretable. The model was proposed by Grimm and Ram³⁰ et al. in 2007 and applied by Marceau et al.¹⁵ in 2011, hereafter referred to as the Marceau model. The four-coefficient Marceau model enables the calculation of a lower asymptote representing the initial height (or weight), an upper asymptote representing the FAH or asymptotic weight, a growth slope or *tempo* at the inflection point when 50% of growth has occurred, and a centering term which represents the age or timing at this inflection point, commonly considered the age at pubertal takeoff. The statistical formula and a graphical explanation of the models and their coefficients are depicted in **Figure 2.1**.

The basic Marceau model with FEs (i.e., without REs) was used to visualize model prediction and graphing of individual and predicted whole population growth trajectories, run separately for HEIGHT and WEIGHT for each sex. Once a Marceau model for each metric with the inclusion of REs was chosen, this model was used for subsequent analyses involving the potential explanatory covariates of duration and HbA1c. **Table 2.4** depicts the various Marceau models and their reported AICs. Models containing covariates and their statistical comparison are also reported in **Table 2.4**.

RESULTS

Cross-Sectional Analysis Results

Baseline Participant Characteristics

Baseline demographic and anthropomorphic data of participants at enrollment are shown in **Table 2.1**. The analysis study population was 73.5% white, and 81.1% of children had a household member who attended at least some college. The average age at enrollment was 9.9 ± 3.5 years, with an age of diagnosis of 9.0 ± 3.5 years and a mean HbA1c of $7.61\pm1.41\%$. The mean birthweight of participants was $3393\pm589g$. **Table 2.1** also reports these metrics by sex.

Descriptive Growth Patterns

The mean annual physical growth parameters for participants aged 2 to 20 are reported for boys in **Tables 2.2A** and **2.2B** and for girls in **Tables 2.3A** and **2.3B**. Included are annual mean metrics for disease duration (years), height (cm), height velocity (HV, cm/year), height z-score, height-for-age z percentile, weight (kg), BMI zscore, BMI z percentile, and HbA1c (%).

As expected, the mean height in boys and girls increased steadily across childhood. In boys and girls, the mean maximal height appears to be reached around age 15-16 years. In the context of height velocity, boys exhibit the expected bi-phasic growth pattern in which a high growth rate is present in early childhood, then levels off until a second growth spurt occurs around 12-14 years and begins to slow after about age 15. In girls, early childhood growth rates were higher than in boys and retained at a higher level, without an apparent growth spurt in the early teens nor a decline in height velocity until after age 13. The calculated mean PHV and aPHV for boys was 5.49±2.37 cm/year at

14.12±3.42 years of age. In girls, the mean PHV was 4.84±2.66 cm/year at 13.39±3.43 years of age.

For z-score metrics, the mean height z-score illustrates normal or above normal average height (HAZ>0) across childhood in both sexes. Similarly, the mean BMI z-score also depicts normal or above normal average weight (WHZ>0) across childhood. However, there is a trend of decreased height z-score in males, but not in females, after age 10. In contrast, the BMI z-score in females increases over time after age 10, but this trend is absent in boys.

Stunting and Wasting Rates

To further investigate descriptive growth phenomena, the stunting and wasting rates were explored and included in **Tables 2.2** and **2.3**. Across both sexes, most stunting and wasting were classified as marginal (-2<HAZ<-1). In boys, stunting rates were highest at younger ages, improved during mid-childhood, and increased again during the late teen years, creating a convex pattern. In girls, a different pattern of increased stunting rates appeared around age 6-7 but declined and reappeared in the early teen years before dropping again in the late teens, creating a concave pattern. For wasting, rates among boys were highest at age 4-7, declined, and then increased again in the late teen years. For girls, wasting rates overall were lower than boys but had similarly high rates during the toddler years. However, wasting rates peaked at age 12 in girls and continued to improve as they approached adulthood. Stunting and wasting rates across ages 2 to 20 years are depicted in graphical form in **Figure 2.2**. The total burden of stunting (HAZ<-1) and wasting (WHZ<-1) in males was calculated to be 8.35% and 6.85%, respectively, and 8.89% and 4.38% in females.

Blood Glucose Control

In boys and girls, mean HbA1c was largely stable from ages 3 to 8; however, began to climb thereafter (**Table 2.3A and 2.3B**). Girls had more significant increases in blood glucose at an earlier age than boys, with girls having a mean HbA1c above ~8.3% by age 11. However, boys did not exceed ~8.3% until age ~13 years. Further, girls had a mean HbA1c of 9.6% in their 19th year compared with 9.0% in boys.

Longitudinal Analysis Results

As discussed, growth in children is nonlinear. As such, the exploration of descriptive patterns and population averages is inadequate for understanding the complexities of growth. Further, such cross-sectional analysis has limited utility for studying any potential impacts of explanatory variables (covariates) on longitudinal growth outcomes. Therefore, NLME models were developed to enable a more precise assessment of height and weight trajectories across time.

Fixed Effects Model Results

For height in boys, the BFE model (i.e., without REs) resulted in a height *tempo* slope coefficient (α) of +0.309 at the age at takeoff *timing* (λ) of 9.3 years of age. The initial height (β_0) was 92cm, and the FAH (β_1) was 183 cm. For height in girls, the BFE model reported a higher slope (α) of +0.408 at an earlier age (λ) of 8.2 years compared to boys. The initial height in girls was higher than in boys, with a β_0 of 94 cm and an expected lower FAH (β_1) of 167 cm.

For weight in boys, the BFE model resulted in a weight *tempo* slope coefficient (α) of +0.360 at a *timing* (λ) of 12.2 years of age. The initial weight (β_0) was 16.3 kg with an asymptotic weight of 81.2 kg. Weight in girls had a slope (α) of +0.424 with a *timing*

takeoff (λ) of 11.3 years. In girls, the initial weight (β_0) was 17.1 kg, and the final weight (β_1) was 72.3 kg.

Results for each BFE HEIGHT and WEIGHT model are reported in Table 2.4.

Random Effects Model Results

All models which included REs for slope, failed to converge. However, models including REs for intercepts, converged well. Values for each coefficient in the models and the AICs are presented in **Table 2.4.** After consideration of models including intercept REs for each coefficient and combinations thereof, a SRE intercept model which enabled all four coefficients (β_0 , β_1 , λ , and α) to vary by each individual participant in the HEIGHT and WEIGHT models each resulted in the best (lowest) AIC. The inclusion of intercept REs resulted in the improvement of model-fit AIC in both HEIGHT and WEIGHT models over BFE and BRE models. All RE models exhibited statistical improvement of model-fit by LRT over BFE models (p=0.000).

The SRE models are plotted for males and females in **Figures 2.3** and **2.4**, respectively. These plots depict individual growth trajectories in light gray (n=710 male, n=806 female). The solid black line represents the predicted mean of the SRE trajectory by sex using each associated NLME model for HEIGHT or WEIGHT.

For height in boys, the SRE model reported a height *tempo* slope (α) of +0.331, age of takeoff (λ) of 9.6 years, initial height of 96 cm, and FAH (β_1) of 182 cm. For height in girls, the SRE model reported a higher *tempo* slope (α) of +0.460 than boys but at an earlier *timing* age (λ) of 8.6 years. The initial height in girls was higher than in boys, with a β_0 of 98.7 cm but an expected lower FAH (β_1) of 166 cm.

For weight in boys, the SRE weight *tempo* slope (α) was +0.416 at a *timing* age (λ) of 12.2 years, with an initial weight (β_0) of 17.8 kg and a final weight (β_1) of 79.0 kg. The weight slope (α) was higher in girls than boys at +0.495 at a takeoff age (λ) of 11.3 years. In girls, initial and final weight, β_0 and β_1 , was 17.6 kg and 71.4 kg, respectively.

These age of takeoff (λ) results illustrate that height takeoff precedes weight takeoff by ~2.5 years in both girls and boys.

Covariate Model Hypothesis Testing

Poor glycemic control (as measured by HbA1c) and disease duration are hypothesized to negatively impact growth outcomes in children with T1DM. To explore this, these two factors were investigated as explanatory variables (covariates) in each resulting SRE HEIGHT and WEIGHT model for each sex. The impacts of each covariate on each available coefficient (β_0 , β_1 , λ , and α) were explored in each SRE model. These data are presented in **Table 2.4**, and impacts on FAH (β_1) are graphed in **Figures 2.5** and **2.6**. Coefficients for the initial height, β_0 , were not explored as the average age of diagnosis was ~10 years. Comparisons of SRE models with and without each covariate were evaluated for model improvement by LRT and the results are reported in **Table 2.4**.

HbA1c Covariate

Exploration of the hypothesized impact of the HbA1c covariate on the upper height asymptote (β_1) in boys resulted in a coefficient term of -0.339, suggesting that for every 1% increase in HbA1c, FAH was reduced by 0.339 cm. In girls, this coefficient was -0.209, suggesting that for every 1% increase in HbA1c, FAH was reduced by 0.209. For weight in boys, the coefficient term was -1.496, suggesting that for every 1% increase in HbA1c, the upper asymptotic weight was reduced by 1.496 kg. In girls, this value was -1.146, suggesting that for every 1% increase in HbA1c, the upper asymptotic weight was reduced by 1.146. All SRE β 1 covariate models for HEIGHT and WEIGHT significantly differed from the SRE model without covariates as determined by LRT (p<0.009). The results suggest that HbA1c may have some impact on FAH and asymptotic weight in children with T1DM.

The HbA1c covariate impact on the slope *tempo* (α) on height was nearly zero in males and females at -0.001 and +0.008, respectively, suggesting that blood glucose control has no impact on height *tempo*. The LRT for the α HEIGHT covariate model in girls was statistically different from the SRE model (p<0.001), indicating model improvement with the inclusion of the HbA1c covariate for *tempo*. The impact of HbA1c on weight *tempo* in boys was -0.010 with model-fit p<0.004. This value was +0.009 in girls, but the model-fit was insignificant with p=1.000. Taken together, HbA1c may improve model-fit, but near-zero coefficient values suggest little impact of HbA1c on height *tempo*.

Finally, the HbA1c covariate for height *timing* (λ) resulted in a coefficient of +0.029 in males and +0.011 in females, suggesting that for each 1% increase in HbA1c, the *timing* of age of height takeoff was delayed by just 11 and 4 days in males and females, respectively. As such, there was no significant difference in the LRT between the SRE model and the height *timing* HbA1c covariate model in either sex. For the HbA1c covariate for weight, the *timing* coefficient (λ) resulted in longer delays with coefficients of +0.144 and +0.085 in males and females, suggesting delays of 53 and 31 days per 1% increase in HbA1c, respectively. These weight *timing* models were

statistically significantly different from the SRE model (p<0.002). However, whether this slight timing delay is physiologically relevant is questionable.

Graphical depictions of the impact of the HbA1c covariate on FAH can be seen in **Figure 2.5**. This graph has been restricted in scale to enable visualization of the differences in FAH. Note that despite negative coefficients for height β_1 in boys and girls, and the detection of model improvement with the inclusion of the HbA1c covariate, there is little graphical impact of HbA1c on FAH in either sex.

Disease Duration Covariate

The disease duration covariate produced more strongly negative coefficient values for FAH in both sexes than the HbA1c covariate but did not affect *tempo* and *timing* of height. Duration as a covariate for β_1 resulted in an FAH coefficient of -0.666 and -0.773 in males and females, suggesting that FAHs were reduced by 0.695 and 0.798 cm, respectively, for each additional year of disease duration. LRT showed statistical significance compared with SRE models in boys and girls for duration as a covariate for FAH (p=0.000). Graphs of the disease duration covariate on FAH can be seen in **Figure 2.5** alongside the HbA1c covariate model. To provide physiological context, **Figure 2.6** depicts in-sample covariate model predictions with 2, 4, 6, and 8-year disease durations for FAH in boys and girls. Too few participants had durations beyond 8 years to explore longer duration prediction impacts due to the average age of diagnosis of ~10 years.

Duration as a covariate for male upper asymptotic weight (β_1) resulted in a coefficient of -1.006, which was statistically different from the SRE model via LRT (p=0.000). The duration covariate model for the female upper asymptotic weight (β_1) was -1.111 (p=0.000).

The duration covariate impact on the height *tempo* (α) in males were, as with HbA1c, nearly unaffected with coefficient terms of +0.002 (p=1.000). The height *tempo* model failed to converge for females. The duration covariate models for male weight *tempo* (α) resulted in a coefficient of +0.014 but did not improve the model-fit (p=1.000). For girls, this coefficient was +0.021 but was significant (p=0.000). Duration covariates for height *timing* (λ) coefficients in males and females were +0.070 and +0.063, respectively; however, neither model was significant for improving the model-fit. Finally, the model for the duration covariate for weight impacts on *timing* (λ) was +0.093 and +0.072 in males and females, respectively, but both resulted in no improvement in modelfit (p=1.000).

Together, these results suggest that disease duration has more impact on FAH than HbA1c, though HbA1c may have more impact on asymptotic weight than duration. However, both explanatory covariates have little impact on the *tempo* or *timing* of height or weight.

DISCUSSION

Obesity has been a primary focus of much of the research conducted relative to children with diabetes. We chose height growth as the primary focus of the present analysis, with particular attention on potential negative height outcomes. In the presented analysis, both cross-sectional and longitudinal data were investigated. The analysis presented here provides important information about the complex growth dynamics in children with T1DM. In addition to cross-sectional mean annual growth metrics, stunting and wasting metrics were explored. Next, we plotted individual growth trajectories overlaid with NLME models for HEIGHT and WEIGHT to enable visualization and

calculation of average growth metrics in this population. Finally, we explored HbA1c and disease duration as explanatory covariates for potential impacts on growth metrics.

Pediatric growth charts developed by the CDC from cross-sectional population data are relied upon for individual patient monitoring. In our analysis, we chose to explore stunting and wasting using z-scores. Of note, the CDC does not have guidance for stunting and wasting based on z-scores, but instead, describes just two categories: *underweight* and *short stature*, defined as <5th percentiles. However, these are intended for cross-sectional population-wide surveillance, not for understanding the potential growth dynamics of a specific disease-state. Similarly, the WHO defines stunting and wasting as height or weight as -2SD below the population mean. We argue that CDC and WHO definitions are not appropriate or sensitive enough to detect alterations of growth patterns relevant to the individual participant in the clinical setting. As such, we expanded our analysis categories to include *marginal, moderate, and severe* stunting and wasting categories. These categories enabled more sensitive detection and a clearer understanding of this population's potential growth abnormalities.

Utilizing the three categories, we found many children with stunting and wasting rates in the marginal categories, which may have been missed using CDC or WHO definitions. While it is true that most children in this study population were normal or above normal for height and weight, detecting at-risk children is critically important for early clinical intervention. The high *marginal* stunting rates in boys are particularly concerning, though the NLME model predicted FAH exceeding NHANES at-large American population means.³¹ Still, this does not mean that stunting and wasting are not clinical concerns in T1DM, as FAH is but one metric. Stunting and wasting can have

short-term impacts on health, such as increased risk for infection³² and decreased cognitive development.³³ Long-term impacts include increased risks for chronic diseases,³⁴ obesity,³⁵ and decreased bone density.³⁶ Further, alteration of pubertal patterns may contribute to social and mental health abnormalities.³⁷ Whether the stunting and wasting in this population contribute to the long-term adverse diabetic-specific health outcomes in individuals with T1DM is unknown. Nonetheless, even temporary alterations of growth patterns are clinically relevant. Critically, close monitoring and early detection of stunting and wasting may enable mitigation of any potential long-term negative health consequences.

The present longitudinal analysis was accomplished using a physiologically relevant and interpretable NLME model. The classical use of linear regression or analysis of variance (ANOVA) is inappropriate for the nonlinear patterns of longitudinal child growth. Polynomial modeling is common but does not enable physiological interpretability; the coefficients do not provide clinically translatable values. Therefore, we chose an NLME model for several reasons. First, logistical modeling has long been used to understand the complex dynamics of biological growth.³⁸ Second, utilizing a mixed-effects model provided flexibility to accommodate inter- and intra-individual differences in growth across time. Our SRE versus BFE models showed clear improvement as detected by AIC and *post hoc* model-fit analysis. Third, the coefficients in nonlinear regression could be interpreted similarly to linear regression. That is, interpretation is dependent on the context and units of measure. In the present study, the Marceau model utilized readily available, non-subjective, and commonly collected

metrics of clinical health, namely height (cm), weight (kg), and age (years). The outcome coefficients could be directly interpreted in these same unit measures.

The metrics of primary clinical importance in our NLME model are arguably the FAH (β_1) and age at takeoff (λ), as these metrics are readily available for the U.S. population. A review published by Abbassi in the journal Pediatrics in 1998 compiled growth data from multiple cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of U.S. children³⁹ and will be used for comparison here.

The mean FAH reported by Abbassi was ~177 cm and ~161 cm for boys and girls, respectively, ³¹ lower than the ~182 cm and ~165 cm (β_1) heights reported in our SRE model analysis, suggesting that our study population may be taller than the U.S. population at large. Interestingly, our SRE model reported an age of takeoff (λ) of 9.6 years for boys and 8.6 years for girls, which differs with the reported age of takeoff in U.S. children of ~11 and 9 years.³⁹ The earlier age of takeoff could explain an increased FAH, that is, if growth began earlier and was sustained for longer, perhaps altering the *tempo*. While the *tempo* (α) slope was an important metric produced by our model, unfortunately, it can only be determined from longitudinal and not cross-sectional analysis, which makes comparison to U.S. child growth data impossible without running a corresponding NLME model. Notably, this population's mean age of diagnosis was 9.4 years in males and 8.8 years in females, corresponding closely with the model prediction of age of takeoff of 9.6 and 8.6 years for boys and girls, respectively. Whether an earlier age of takeoff for this population compared with the U.S. population at large is related to disease onset is indeed interesting.

An additional benefit of NLME modeling is the ability to test covariates of interest in models for hypothesized impacts on each growth-specific coefficient. Covariate coefficients in NLME have the utility to not only explore negative versus positive effects on an outcome but also share straightforward interpretations in terms of unit measure. For example, the HbA1c covariate models produced negative height and weight coefficients for FAH and exhibited statistically significant improvement in modelfit as determined by LRT. However, centimeter units were used in the NLME models, and as such, coefficient values for β_1 , while negative, were small, suggesting little physiological impact of HbA1c on FAH. Further, graphing of the complete HbA1c covariate height model showed almost no difference compared with the SRE model.

We are not the first to hypothesize that disease duration and lack of blood glucose control may negatively impact growth in children with T1DM. Work by Holl et al. suggested that age of diagnosis and long-term metabolic control reduce height and delay growth, concluding that reaching FAH depended on whether T1DM was diagnosed before or after puberty.¹¹ Others have also reported that growth is more impacted in children diagnosed before puberty.¹² Indeed, our data support this conclusion, as longer disease duration was associated with lower FAH (β_1) and delayed age at takeoff (λ). Importantly, our modeling enabled the quantification of these effects using covariate models.

For duration as a covariate, coefficient values were more strongly negative than HbA1c as a covariate. Graphing of duration supported a larger physiologic impact on FAH than HbA1c. Further, utilization of the principle of coefficient interpretability enabled quick estimates of the impact of duration on FAH. For example, assuming a child has reached their FAH and has had T1DM for 6 years, with a duration coefficient of -0.7 cm (i.e., the FAH is reduced by 0.7 cm for each year of disease duration), this results in a child that is predicted to be 0.7 X 6 cm = 4.2 cm = \sim 1.5 inches shorter. The authors propose that this level of estimated reduction in height for the average child with T1DM is physiologically and clinically relevant. Indeed, the fact that any effect is detectable is critical to understand, as growth is widely accepted as a sensitive metric of child health.

HbA1c and disease duration as covariates are arguably multicollinear. As such, we explored each separately as explanatory variables to clarify their respective influences. However, the true impact of HbA1c may logically be "hidden" within the disease duration. It is conceivable that the more substantial impact of duration on FAH than HbA1c on FAH is related to "metabolic load," that is, exposure to higher blood glucose levels for longer. Future modeling could explore this relationship, among other potential covariates, such as the potential impacts of diet. Importantly, our code is provided so that others can compare their data using the NLME modeling.

Several limitations of the present analysis must be acknowledged. First, we acknowledge that no attempts were made to control for any socioeconomic or demographic factors in the NLME modeling. Future use of these modeling methods should incorporate appropriate controls to ensure that model predictions are accurate relative to physiologic outcomes.

Second, due to patient protection protocols, the dataset did not provide exact birth dates for participants. Ages were provided for all participants but were unfortunately rounded down to the nearest year. Knowledge of the exact age is critical for model-fit and accuracy. Fortunately, one of the later cohorts reported the exact disease duration and age of diagnosis, making the calculation of the exact age possible for a subset of participants. Unfortunately, this reduced the participant population for analysis by approximately half. However, even after outlier removal, our analysis contained a robust number of approximately 1500 participants.

Third, while Tanner scores were included in the provided dataset, exploration indicated a high number of missing data points and a severely limited number of participants with repeated measures of the metric. Attempts at longitudinal NLME model development using Tanner scores failed. Of note, Marceau et al.,¹⁵ which utilized the Tanner metric for NLME modeling, had access to annual Tanner scores across childhood. Further, while Tanner data was provided in our dataset more consistently for females (due to a precise date of menarche), no data on male spermarche was provided. Therefore, to enable sex-specific analysis of growth metrics, models in the present analysis were instead developed with the available measures of height and weight.

Fourth, PHV and aPHV were determined by cross-sectional analysis of our data outside our NLME models. For velocity metrics, we reported a PHV at aPHV of 5.5 cm/year at 14 years for boys and 4.9 cm/year at 13.3 years for girls. Abbassi³⁹ reported much higher PHVs of 9.5 cm/year at 13.5 years and 8.3 cm/year at 11.5 years for girls in the at-large U.S. population. While interesting, we must use caution here. Importantly, our data's PHV and aPHV metrics were cross-sectional, and visit time points were infrequent. The average age at diagnosis and enrollment was ~10 years, with the next visit at the five-year follow-up. It is plausible that the PHV was not captured in all participants, making the cross-sectional analysis of PHV and aPHV inaccurate. To overcome this limitation, a height velocity analysis was attempted using NLME

methodology, but while models could converge, model-fit was inaccurate and unable to find the required peak.

Finally, a limitation of this study is the lack of direct comparison to child populations without T1DM. As discussed, our models cannot compare directly to clinical CDC growth charts as the charts were developed using cross-sectional and not longitudinal data. However, we propose that our model can be utilized as longitudinal data becomes available from studies such as the Environmental Influences on Child Health Outcomes (ECHO) study.⁴⁰

CONCLUSION

Clinical awareness of stunting and wasting rates in children with T1DM is important. However, despite higher blood glucose levels than current ADA recommendations, NLME modeling suggests that FAHs are similar to, or taller, than U.S. children without T1DM. Modeling also suggested that the age at pubertal takeoff was earlier in children with T1DM than reports of those without, suggesting that the disease may impact pubertal growth patterns. Exploration of covariate models for blood glucose control as measured by the HbA1c predicted minor decreases in FAH but no impacts on *timing* and *tempo* of height growth. Disease duration as a covariate also showed no impact on the *timing* and *tempo* of height growth. However, disease duration covariate models predicted reductions in FAH, which may be clinically relevant.

TABLES

Table 2.2A

Table 2.2A. Mean characteristics of boys aged 2 to 10 years old in one year increments.

Age (year)	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
No. participants (n)	1	26	41	68	73	100	119	131	140
	Mean and (SD)								
duration of disease (years)		0.71 (0.50)	0.94 (0.71)	1.23 (0.85)	1.49 (1.16)	1.53 (1.12)	2.48 (2.00)	2.43 (2.14)	2.83 (2.28)
height (cm)		100.32 (5.42)	108.79 (6.50)	114.54 (5.24)	121.40 (5.45)	127.23 (5.18)	132.89 (6.10)	139.42 (6.32)	144.40 (6.33)
height velocity (cm/year)			6.72 (3.02)	6.62 (1.92)	6.29 (1.45)	5.87 (1.48)	6.07 (1.64)	5.88 (1.12)	5.39 (0.95)
height z-score	•	0.09 (1.20)	0.53 (1.27)	0.32 (1.00)	0.40 (0.98)	0.36 (0.87)	0.25 (0.96)	0.45 (0.94)	0.45 (0.88)
height z percentile		50.90 (32.58)	61.72 (32.36)	59.02 (28.59)	61.07 (28.00)	61.41 (26.22)	57.01 (28.41)	63.31 (27.68)	62.95 (26.36)
weight (kg)	•	16.49 (2.22)	19.24 (2.79)	21.74 (3.28)	24.31 (4.17)	26.96 (3.87)	30.93 (5.89)	35.41 (6.94)	40.21 (8.45)
BMI z-score		0.41 (0.92)	0.46 (0.92)	0.59 (1.05)	0.44 (0.85)	0.39 (0.88)	0.47 (0.89)	0.52 (0.89)	0.61 (0.90)
BMI z percentile		64.23 (27.25)	63.52 (27.13)	67.19 (28.26)	63.44 (25.41)	62.59 (25.77)	63.87 (25.71)	65.95 (25.01)	67.60 (26.04)
HbA1c (%)		7.67 (0.87)	7.84 (1.13)	7.86 (1.10)	7.88 (1.17)	7.88 (1.36)	7.87 (1.18)	7.77 (1.19)	8.00 (1.50)
_					n and (%)				
Stunting (HAZ)									
Above Normal Height (HAZ>0)		13 (50.0%)	28 (68.3%)	43 (63.2%)	49 (67.1%)	67 (67.0%)	65 (54.6%)	90 (68.7%)	93 (66.4%)
Normal Height (-1 <haz<0)< td=""><td></td><td>8 (30.8%)</td><td>7 (17.1%)</td><td>18 (26.5%)</td><td>15 (20.5%)</td><td>26 (26.0%)</td><td>46 (38.7%)</td><td>32 (24.4%)</td><td>40 (28.6%)</td></haz<0)<>		8 (30.8%)	7 (17.1%)	18 (26.5%)	15 (20.5%)	26 (26.0%)	46 (38.7%)	32 (24.4%)	40 (28.6%)
Marginally Stunted (-2 <haz<-1)< td=""><td></td><td>4 (15.4%)</td><td>6 (14.6%)</td><td>7 (10.3%)</td><td>9 (12.3%)</td><td>7 (7.0%)</td><td>7 (5.9%)</td><td>9 (6.9%)</td><td>7 (5.0%)</td></haz<-1)<>		4 (15.4%)	6 (14.6%)	7 (10.3%)	9 (12.3%)	7 (7.0%)	7 (5.9%)	9 (6.9%)	7 (5.0%)
Moderately Stunted (-3 <haz<-2)< td=""><td>•</td><td>1 (3.8%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.8%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></haz<-2)<>	•	1 (3.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Severely Stunted (HAZ<-3)		0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Total Stunted (HAZ<-1)	•	5 (19.2%)	6 (14.6%)	7 (10.3%)	9 (12.3%)	7 (7.0%)	8 (6.7%)	9 (6.9%)	7 (5.0%)
Wasting (WHZ)									
Above Normal Weight (HAZ>0)		18 (69.2%)	29 (70.7%)	52 (76.5%)	54 (74.0%)	71 (71.0%)	87 (73.1%)	100 (76.3%)	102 (72.9%)
Normal Weight (-1 <whz<0)< td=""><td>•</td><td>6 (23.1%)</td><td>8 (19.5%)</td><td>8 (11.8%)</td><td>14 (19.2%)</td><td>21 (21.0%)</td><td>25 (21.0%)</td><td>24 (18.3%)</td><td>30 (21.4%)</td></whz<0)<>	•	6 (23.1%)	8 (19.5%)	8 (11.8%)	14 (19.2%)	21 (21.0%)	25 (21.0%)	24 (18.3%)	30 (21.4%)
Marginally Wasted (-2 <whz<-1)< td=""><td></td><td>1 (3.8%)</td><td>4 (9.8%)</td><td>7 (10.3%)</td><td>5 (6.8%)</td><td>7 (7.0%)</td><td>7 (5.9%)</td><td>6 (4.6%)</td><td>8 (5.7%)</td></whz<-1)<>		1 (3.8%)	4 (9.8%)	7 (10.3%)	5 (6.8%)	7 (7.0%)	7 (5.9%)	6 (4.6%)	8 (5.7%)
Moderately Wasted (-3 <whz<-2)< td=""><td></td><td>1 (3.8%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (1.5%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (1.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.8%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></whz<-2)<>		1 (3.8%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.5%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.8%)	0 (0.0%)
Severely Wasted (WHZ<-3)		0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Total Wasted (WHZ<-1)	•	2 (7.7%)	4 (9.8%)	8 (11.8%)	5 (6.8%)	8 (8.0%)	7 (5.9%)	7 (5.3%)	8 (5.7%)

HAZ, height-for-age z-score. WHZ, weight-for-height z-score
Table 2.2B

Table 2.2B. Mean characteristics of boys aged 10 to 20 years old in one year increments.

Age (year)	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	
No. participants (n)	177	146	189	167	176	147	140	119	113	
	Mean and (SD)									
duration of disease (years)	3.33 (2.66)	3.45 (2.83)	4.26 (3.20)	4.24 (3.18)	5.10 (3.30)	5.48 (3.38)	6.52 (3.47)	7.11 (3.34)	8.23 (3.75)	
height (cm)	150.34 (7.00)	157.03 (7.73)	164.04 (7.51)	169.07 (6.38)	172.83 (6.32)	176.24 (6.79)	176.09 (6.38)	177.55 (6.35)	176.14 (6.42)	
height velocity (cm/year)	5.75 (1.31)	6.44 (2.16)	6.34 (1.47)	6.38 (1.60)	5.18 (1.73)	3.74 (1.91)	2.81 (1.83)	1.70 (1.48)	1.09 (1.22)	
height z-score	0.54 (0.94)	0.56 (0.99)	0.49 (0.90)	0.24 (0.79)	0.14 (0.82)	0.24 (0.94)	0.05 (0.89)	0.16 (0.89)	-0.08 (0.90)	
height z percentile	64.80 (27.37)	65.23 (27.90)	64.17 (26.50)	57.41 (24.82)	54.15 (26.14)	56.83 (28.25)	51.32 (27.58)	54.03 (27.30)	46.61 (27.50)	
weight (kg)	43.97 (8.91)	49.30 (9.93)	55.90 (10.47)	60.97 (9.70)	67.37 (11.76)	71.93 (11.65)	73.59 (12.47)	73.97 (10.97)	75.71 (11.98)	
BMI z-score	0.47 (0.90)	0.39 (0.98)	0.44 (0.88)	0.44 (0.80)	0.52 (0.90)	0.50 (0.91)	0.44 (1.03)	0.22 (0.93)	0.29 (1.04)	
BMI z percentile	64.52 (26.30)	62.31 (27.69)	63.75 (25.69)	63.97 (24.73)	65.42 (26.55)	65.62 (26.05)	62.94 (28.69)	56.50 (28.51)	59.45 (28.22)	
HbA1c (%)	8.16 (1.24)	8.03 (1.58)	8.30 (1.51)	8.62 (2.09)	8.56 (1.87)	8.51 (1.54)	8.97 (2.17)	8.97 (2.02)	9.00 (1.84)	
					n and (%)					
Stunting (HAZ)										
Above Normal Height (HAZ>0)	118 (66.7%)	109 (74.7%)	130 (68.8%)	110 (65.9%)	91 (51.7%)	85 (57.8%)	74 (52.9%)	64 (53.8%)	50 (44.2%)	
Normal Height (-1 <haz<0)< td=""><td>54 (30.5%)</td><td>27 (18.5%)</td><td>49 (25.9%)</td><td>46 (27.5%)</td><td>71 (40.3%)</td><td>46 (31.3%)</td><td>48 (34.3%)</td><td>44 (37.0%)</td><td>43 (38.1%)</td></haz<0)<>	54 (30.5%)	27 (18.5%)	49 (25.9%)	46 (27.5%)	71 (40.3%)	46 (31.3%)	48 (34.3%)	44 (37.0%)	43 (38.1%)	
Marginally Stunted (-2 <haz<-1)< td=""><td>5 (2.8%)</td><td>10 (6.8%)</td><td>10 (5.3%)</td><td>11 (6.6%)</td><td>14 (8.0%)</td><td>15 (10.2%)</td><td>18 (12.9%)</td><td>11 (9.2%)</td><td>20 (17.7%)</td></haz<-1)<>	5 (2.8%)	10 (6.8%)	10 (5.3%)	11 (6.6%)	14 (8.0%)	15 (10.2%)	18 (12.9%)	11 (9.2%)	20 (17.7%)	
Moderately Stunted (-3 <haz<-2)< td=""><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.7%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></haz<-2)<>	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	
Severely Stunted (HAZ<-3)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	
Total Stunted (HAZ<-1)	5 (2.8%)	10 (6.8%)	10 (7.6%)	11 (6.5%)	14 (8.0%)	16 (10.9%)	18 (12.9%)	11 (9.2%)	20 17.7%)	
Wasting (WHZ)										
Above Normal Weight (HAZ>0)	127 (71.8%)	101 (69.2%)	135 (71.4%)	116 (69.5%)	127 (72.2%)	108 (73.5%)	98 (70.0%)	73 (61.3%)	75 (66.4%)	
<i>Normal Weight (-1<whz<0)< i=""></whz<0)<></i>	38 (21.5%)	35 (24.0%)	45 (23.8%)	41 (24.6%)	39 (22.2%)	30 (20.4%)	31 (22.1%)	33 (27.7%)	29 (25.7%)	
Marginally Wasted (-2 <whz<-1)< td=""><td>11 (6.2%)</td><td>7 (4.8%)</td><td>7 (3.7%)</td><td>9 (5.4%)</td><td>9 (5.1%)</td><td>7 (4.8%)</td><td>8 (5.7%)</td><td>13 (10.9%)</td><td>6 (5.3%)</td></whz<-1)<>	11 (6.2%)	7 (4.8%)	7 (3.7%)	9 (5.4%)	9 (5.1%)	7 (4.8%)	8 (5.7%)	13 (10.9%)	6 (5.3%)	
Moderately Wasted (-3 <whz<-2)< td=""><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>2 (1.4%)</td><td>2 (1.1%)</td><td>1 (0.6%)</td><td>1 (0.6%)</td><td>2 (1.4%)</td><td>2 (1.4%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.9%)</td></whz<-2)<>	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.4%)	2 (1.1%)	1 (0.6%)	1 (0.6%)	2 (1.4%)	2 (1.4%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.9%)	
Severely Wasted (WHZ<-3)	1 (0.6%)	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.7%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.8%)	
Total Wasted (WHZ<-1)	12 (6.8%)	10 (6.8%)	9 (4.8%)	10 (6.0%)	10 (5.7%)	9 (6.1%)	11 (7.9%)	13 (10.9%)	9 (8.0%)	

HAZ, height-for-age z-score. WHZ, weight-for-height z-score

Table 2.3A

Table 2.3A. Mean characteristics of girls aged 2 to 10 years old in one year increments.

Age (year)	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
No. participants (n)		27	54	87	98	98 121		150	178		
		Mean and (SD)									
duration of disease (years)		0.87 (0.54)	0.81 (0.66)	1.17 (0.86)	1.34 (0.93)	1.75 (1.29)	2.06 (1.74)	2.58 (2.09)	2.87 (2.44)		
height (cm)	•	99.58 (4.79)	106.71 (5.30)	113.39 (4.55)	119.84 (5.48)	125.86 (5.34)	132.56 (5.89)	138.61 (6.57)	145.36 (7.03)		
height velocity (cm/year)		. (.)	7.03 (1.09)	6.85 (1.09)	6.16 (1.43)	5.87 (1.56)	6.20 (2.65)	6.09 (1.12)	6.24 (1.49)		
height z-score	•	0.40 (0.93)	0.49 (0.89)	0.38 (0.81)	0.24 (1.01)	0.17 (0.89)	0.31 (0.85)	0.42 (0.94)	0.54 (0.94)		
height z percentile		59.70 (24.26)	63.31 (24.91)	61.40 (24.81)	57.98 (29.67)	55.37 (27.38)	58.85 (25.05)	61.94 (27.57)	65.31 (26.38)		
weight (kg)		17.13 (5.44)	19.09 (4.59)	21.98 (4.57)	23.82 (3.78)	27.08 (5.43)	30.60 (5.47)	35.83 (7.43)	41.07 (9.11)		
BMI z-score	•	0.69 (1.19)	0.60 (1.07)	0.75 (1.03)	0.48 (0.94)	0.44 (0.91)	0.39 (0.88)	0.55 (0.82)	0.50 (0.93)		
BMI z percentile	•	67.87 (27.30)	66.48 (29.17)	69.37 (27.04)	65.08 (25.52)	62.23 (26.88)	62.09 (26.26)	66.80 (23.65)	64.85 (26.90)		
HbA1c (%)		7.81 (1.02)	8.04 (1.18)	7.86 (1.12)	7.84 (1.06)	7.76 (1.14)	7.85 (1.27)	8.07 (1.38)	8.01 (1.32)		
					n and (%)						
Stunting (HAZ)											
Above Normal Height (HAZ>0)		17 (63.0%)	37 (68.5%)	61 (70.1%)	61 (62.2%)	67 (55.4%)	72 (62.6%)	99 (66.0%)	127 (71.3%)		
Normal Height (-1 <haz<0)< td=""><td>•</td><td>10 (37.0%)</td><td>16 (29.6%)</td><td>24 (27.6%)</td><td>24 (24.5%)</td><td>41 (33.9%)</td><td>37 (32.2%)</td><td>41 (27.3%)</td><td>38 (21.3%)</td></haz<0)<>	•	10 (37.0%)	16 (29.6%)	24 (27.6%)	24 (24.5%)	41 (33.9%)	37 (32.2%)	41 (27.3%)	38 (21.3%)		
Marginally Stunted (-2 <haz<-1)< td=""><td></td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (1.9%)</td><td>2 (2.3%)</td><td>12 (12.2%)</td><td>13 (10.7%)</td><td>6 (5.2%)</td><td>10 (6.7%)</td><td>13 (7.3%)</td></haz<-1)<>		0 (0.0%)	1 (1.9%)	2 (2.3%)	12 (12.2%)	13 (10.7%)	6 (5.2%)	10 (6.7%)	13 (7.3%)		
Moderately Stunted (-3 <haz<-2)< td=""><td>•</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (1.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></haz<-2)<>	•	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)		
Severely Stunted (HAZ<-3)	•	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)		
Total Stunted (HAZ<-1)	•	0 (0.00%)	1 (1.9%)	2 (2.3%)	13 (13.2%)	13 (10.7%)	6 (5.2%)	10 (6.7%)	13 (7.3%)		
Wasting (WHZ)											
Above Normal Weight (HAZ>0)		19 (70.4%)	39 (72.2%)	65 (74.7%)	70 (71.4%)	78 (64.5%)	79 (68.7%)	110 (73.3%)	131 (73.6%)		
Normal Weight (-1 <whz<0)< td=""><td>•</td><td>6 (22.2%)</td><td>11 (20.4%)</td><td>18 (20.7%)</td><td>23 (23.5%)</td><td>37 (30.6%)</td><td>30 (26.1%)</td><td>35 (23.3%)</td><td>36 (20.2%)</td></whz<0)<>	•	6 (22.2%)	11 (20.4%)	18 (20.7%)	23 (23.5%)	37 (30.6%)	30 (26.1%)	35 (23.3%)	36 (20.2%)		
Marginally Wasted (-2 <whz<-1)< td=""><td></td><td>2 (7.4%)</td><td>4 (7.4%)</td><td>4 (4.6%)</td><td>2 (2.0%)</td><td>6 (5.0%)</td><td>5 (4.3%)</td><td>4 (2.7%)</td><td>10 (5.6%)</td></whz<-1)<>		2 (7.4%)	4 (7.4%)	4 (4.6%)	2 (2.0%)	6 (5.0%)	5 (4.3%)	4 (2.7%)	10 (5.6%)		
Moderately Wasted (-3 <whz<-2)< td=""><td>•</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>3 (3.1%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.9%)</td><td>1 (0.7%)</td><td>1 (0.6%)</td></whz<-2)<>	•	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	3 (3.1%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.9%)	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.6%)		
Severely Wasted (WHZ<-3)		0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)		
Total Wasted (WHZ<-1)	•	2 (7.4%)	4 (7.4%)	4 (4.6%)	5 (5.1%)	6 (5.0%)	6 (5.2%)	5 (3.3%)	11 (6.2%)		

HAZ, height-for-age z-score. WHZ, weight-for-height z-score

Table 2.3B	
------------	--

Age (year)	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19		
No. participants (n)	226	231	199	181	157	165	161	131	138		
				1	Mean and (SD)					
duration of disease (years)	3.40 (2.66)	3.47 (2.89)	4.37 (3.26)	5.12 (3.25)	5.68 (3.05)	6.23 (3.35)	7.31 (3.38)	8.08 (3.32)	8.73 (3.29)		
height (cm)	150.91 (7.40)	156.99 (6.71)	160.21 (5.99)	162.32 (6.60)	164.36 (5.79)	164.00 (6.43)	165.16 (6.03)	163.87 (6.70)	165.50 (6.54)		
height velocity (cm/year)	6.16 (1.55)	6.13 (1.63)	4.68 (1.86)	3.96 (1.93)	2.73 (1.60)	1.78 (1.44)	1.00 (0.92)	0.67 (0.95)	0.50 (0.74)		
height z-score	0.43 (0.96)	0.35 (0.93)	0.16 (0.89)	0.16 (1.00)	0.32 (0.90)	0.19 (0.99)	0.33 (0.93)	0.11 (1.03)	0.34 (1.01)		
height z percentile	62.40 (28.56)	60.23 (27.30)	54.28 (26.67)	54.19 (29.11)	59.50 (26.32)	55.48 (28.13)	59.20 (27.43)	52.27 (29.53)	59.29 (28.46)		
weight (kg)	45.29 (10.22)	49.96 (9.50)	58.61 (10.96)	61.28 (10.87)	65.93 (10.90)	67.14 (10.08)	68.89 (11.89)	67.99 (12.62)	70.85 (12.51)		
BMI z-score	0.42 (0.93)	0.37 (0.97)	0.81 (0.85)	0.77 (0.79)	0.89 (0.72)	0.90 (0.70)	0.81 (0.79)	0.72 (0.82)	0.79 (0.78)		
BMI z percentile	62.77 (27.15)	62.19 (27.02)	73.46 (24.44)	73.25 (22.74)	76.84 (20.29)	77.12 (19.50)	75.25 (20.72)	72.31 (23.74)	74.47 (22.40)		
HbA1c (%)	8.35 (1.60)	8.31 (1.75)	8.41 (1.83)	8.75 (1.90)	8.88 (1.62)	9.03 (2.12)	9.13 (1.97)	9.22 (2.28)	9.65 (2.30)		
	n and (%)										
Stunting (HAZ)											
Above Normal Height (HAZ>0)	156 (69.0%)	154 (66.7%)	112 (56.3%)	102 (56.4%)	94 (59.9%)	97 (58.8%)	100 (62.1%)	70 (53.4%)	84 (60.9%)		
Normal Height (-1 <haz<0)< td=""><td>51 (22.6%)</td><td>56 (24.2%)</td><td>69 (34.7%)</td><td>52 (28.7%)</td><td>53 (33.8%)</td><td>50 (30.3%)</td><td>50 (31.1%)</td><td>42 (32.1%)</td><td>40 (29.0%)</td></haz<0)<>	51 (22.6%)	56 (24.2%)	69 (34.7%)	52 (28.7%)	53 (33.8%)	50 (30.3%)	50 (31.1%)	42 (32.1%)	40 (29.0%)		
Marginally Stunted (-2 <haz<-1)< td=""><td>19 (8.4%)</td><td>21 (9.1%)</td><td>18 (9.0%)</td><td>25 (13.8%)</td><td>9 (5.7%)</td><td>16 (9.7%)</td><td>11 (6.8%)</td><td>17 (13.0%)</td><td>12 (8.7%)</td></haz<-1)<>	19 (8.4%)	21 (9.1%)	18 (9.0%)	25 (13.8%)	9 (5.7%)	16 (9.7%)	11 (6.8%)	17 (13.0%)	12 (8.7%)		
Moderately Stunted (-3 <haz<-2)< td=""><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>2 (1.1%)</td><td>1 (0.6%)</td><td>2 (1.2%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>2 (1.5%)</td><td>2 (1.4%)</td></haz<-2)<>	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.1%)	1 (0.6%)	2 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.5%)	2 (1.4%)		
Severely Stunted (HAZ<-3)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)		
Total Stunted (HAZ<-1)	19 (8.4%)	21 (9.1%)	18 (9.0%)	27 (14.9%)	10 (6.3%)	18 (10.9%)	11 (6.8%)	19 (14.5%)	14 (10.1%)		
Wasting (WHZ)											
Above Normal Weight (HAZ>0)	159 (70.4%)	155 (67.1%)	162 (81.4%)	156 (86.2%)	143 (91.1%)	147 (89.1%)	141 (87.6%)	107 (81.7%)	117 (84.8%)		
Normal Weight (-1 <whz<0)< td=""><td>51 (22.6%)</td><td>56 (24.2%)</td><td>30 (15.1%)</td><td>19 (10.5%)</td><td>11 (7.0%)</td><td>16 (9.7%)</td><td>18 (11.2%)</td><td>20 (15.3%)</td><td>18 (13.0%)</td></whz<0)<>	51 (22.6%)	56 (24.2%)	30 (15.1%)	19 (10.5%)	11 (7.0%)	16 (9.7%)	18 (11.2%)	20 (15.3%)	18 (13.0%)		
Marginally Wasted (-2 <whz<-1)< td=""><td>14 (6.2%)</td><td>18 (7.8%)</td><td>7 (3.5%)</td><td>6 (3.3%)</td><td>3 (1.9%)</td><td>2 (1.2%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>4 (3.1%)</td><td>2 (1.4%)</td></whz<-1)<>	14 (6.2%)	18 (7.8%)	7 (3.5%)	6 (3.3%)	3 (1.9%)	2 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (3.1%)	2 (1.4%)		
Moderately Wasted (-3 <whz<-2)< td=""><td>2 (0.9%)</td><td>1 (0.4%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>2 (1.2%)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td><td>1 (0.7%)</td></whz<-2)<>	2 (0.9%)	1 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	2 (1.2%)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.7%)		
Severely Wasted (WHZ<-3)	0 (0.0%)	1 (0.4%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)		
Total Wasted (WHZ<-1)	16 (7.1%)	20 (8.7%)	7 (3.5%)	6 (3.3%)	3 (1.9%)	2 (1.2%)	2 (1.2%)	4 (3.1%)	3 (2.2%)		

Table 2.3B. Mean characteristics of girls aged 10 to 20 years old in one year increments.

HAZ, height-for-age z-score. WHZ, weight-for-height z-score

Table 2.4

Table 2.4. Non-linear mixed effects modeling of height and weight in children (n=710 boys, n=806 girls).Model comparison significance was determined by likelihood ratio test with a p < 0.05 considered significant.

	Basic Fixed Effect (BFE) Model				Basic Random Effects (BRE) Model				Selected Random Effects (SRE) Model				
	Boys		Girls		Boys		Girls		Boys		Gi	Girls	
	Height	Weight	Height	Weight	Height*	Weight*	Height*	Weight*	Height*	Weight*	Height*	Weight*	
α (alpha)	0.309	0.360	0.408	0.424	0.318	0.375	0.424	0.433	0.331	0.416	0.460	0.495	
β0 (beta0)	91.961	16.254	94.200	17.126	96.581	18.851	97.350	17.343	95.883	17.825	98.665	17.561	
β1 (beta1)	182.969	81.210	166.783	72.332	182.540	81.096	166.199	72.261	182.131	79.019	165.910	71.360	
λ (lambda)	9.283	12.150	8.222	11.258	9.597	12.460	8.376	11.281	9.580	12.177	8.566	11.266	
AIC	13698	15213	15734	17842	12577	14205	14163	16566	12519	13568	13927	15917	
Model Fit Prob > χ2					0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
	SRE	+ HbA1c C	Covariate I	Model	SRE	+ HbA1c (Covariate N	lodel	SRE	+ HbA1c (Covariate N	1 odel	
		upper asyn	ptote (β1)			temp	ο (α)			timin	g (λ)		
	Bo	oys	G	irls	Bo	oys	Gi	rls	Bo	oys	Gi	Girls	
	Height*	Weight*	Height*	Weight*	Height	Weight*	Height*	Weight	Height	Weight*	Height	Weight*	
α (alpha)	0.335	0.411	0.456	0.483	0.341	0.498	0.390	0.421	0.334	0.426	0.461	0.502	
β0 (beta0)	96.983	17.773	98.507	17.302	96.295	18.045	97.500	17.477	96.313	17.991	98.679	17.586	
β1 (beta1)	185.030	93.462	167.914	82.567	182.156	79.245	165.868	71.205	182.148	79.360	165.915	71.448	
λ (lambda)	9.703	12.383	8.587	11.412	9.614	12.212	8.465	11.247	9.391	11.058	8.482	10.585	
AIC	12514	13476	13922	15835	12521	13562	13918	15923	12519	13531	13929	15909	
Coefficient	-0.339	-1.496	-0.209	-1.146	-0.001	-0.010	0.008	0.009	0.029	0.144	0.011	0.085	
Coefficient Sig P> z	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.509	0.001	0.000	0.032	0.074	0.000	0.451	0.000	
Model Fit Prob > χ2 (SRE vs. CM)	0.009	0.000	0.009	0.000	0.770	0.004	0.001	1.000	0.167	0.000	1.000	0.002	
	SRE +	Duration	Covariate	Model	SRE + Duration Covariate Model				SRE +	SRE + Duration Covariate Model			
		upper asyn	ptote (β1)		tempo (a)				timing (λ)				
	Bo	oys	G	irls	Boys Girls			Bo	oys	Girls			
	Height*	Weight*	Height*	Weight*	Height	Weight	Height	Weight*	Height	Weight	Height	Weight	
α (alpha)	0.343	0.399	0.419	0.454	0.289	0.358	NC	0.407	0.356	0.448	0.490	0.523	
β0 (beta0)	99.487	17.312	97.954	16.698	87.063	16.171	NC	15.727	97.537	17.978	99.708	17.549	
β1 (beta1)	187.795	89.154	173.083	82.402	182.709	77.360	NC	70.197	182.184	79.847	165.965	71.719	
λ (lambda)	10.239	12.690	9.023	11.833	8.902	11.890	NC	11.011	9.591	11.938	8.573	11.081	
AIC	12657	13548	13806	15903	12532	13573	NC	15899	12518	13582	13934	15945	
Coefficient	-0.666	-1.006	-0.773	-1.111	0.002	0.014	NC	0.021	0.070	0.093	0.063	0.072	
Coefficient Sig P> z	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.016	0.000	NA	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Model Fit Prob > χ2 (SRE vs. CM)	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000	1.000	-	0.000	0.074	1.000	1.000	1.000	

CM, covariate model. AIC, Akaike information criterion. *, denotes BOTH significance of coefficient AND model improvement by likelihood ratio test (LRT).

FIGURES

Figure 2.1

Figure 2.1: Graphical depiction of the NLME modeling and explanation of coefficients.

HEIGHT or WEIGHT = $\beta_0 + (\beta_1 - \beta_0) \left\{ \frac{1}{1 + \exp[-\alpha_i (AGE_{ti} - \lambda_i)]} \right\} + r_{ti}$

 α (alpha) = slope at λ = "tempo" (cm/year) or (kg/year) = slope at take-off β_0 (beta0) = lower asymptote = initial height (cm) or initial weight (kg) β_1 (beta1) = upper asymptote = final adult height (cm) or asymptotic weight (kg) λ (lambda) = age of reaching 50% of height or weight growth = "timing" (years) = age at take-off



Figure 2.2: Sex specific cross-sectional annual mean stunting (HAZ<-1) and wasting (WHZ<-1) rates in children with T1DM aged 2 to 20 years. Stunting and wasting represented as solid and dashed lines, respectively, in boys (black) and girls (grey). Graphed as the percentage (%) of children stunted or wasted at each one-year age increment. Tables 2.2 and 2.3 provide *No. of participants (n)* for each sex and age.

20 % Stunted or Wasted 15 boys stunted boys wasted 10· girls stunted 5 girls wasted 0 r ზ 2 5 6 ٩ ծ 9 Age (years)

Stunting and Wasting Rates

Figure 2.3: Modeling of height trajectories of boys and girls with T1DM across ages 2 to 20 years old using the selected random effects (SRE) model. The gray lines represent individual trajectories, and the solid black line represents the NLME model predicted mean height trajectory.



Figure 2.4

Figure 2.4: Modeling of weight trajectories of boys and girls with T1DM across ages 2 to 20 years old using the selected random effects (SRE) model. The gray lines represent individual trajectories, and the black line represents the NLME model predicted mean weight trajectory.



Figure 2.5: Graphical depiction of the NLME HEIGHT models for boys (black) and girls (grey) with the graph scaled to 14 years and older to focus on final adult height (β 1). Overlaid are the selected random effects (SRE) model (solid lines), the SRE model including the HbA1c covariate (long dashed lines), and the SRE model including the Duration covariate (short dashed lines)



Figure 2.6: Exploration of the predicted impact of duration of disease as a covariate on final adult height (β 1). Durations of 2, 4, 6, and 8 years are shown in boys (black) and girls (gray), with the graph scaled to ages 10 years and older.



SUPPLEMENTS Supplement 2.1

Supplement 2.1: Inclusion and exclusion flowchart of participants.



Supplement 2.2

Supplement 2.2: Code for NLME models and ROUT outlier detection and removal.

*BASIC FIXED EFFECTS MODEL, MALES ONLY (M1m)

menl HEIGHT = {beta0:}+({beta1:}-{beta0:})*($1/(1+exp(-{alpha:}*(AGE-$ {lambda:})))) if GENDERr==0, stddeviations define(beta0: {b0}) define(beta1: {b1}) define(alpha: {a2}) define(lambda: {13}) initial (b0 80 b1 150 a2 0.3 l3 7, fixed) estat ic estimates store M1m predict fitheightM1m if e(sample), yhat *BASIC RANDOM EFFECTS MODEL, MALES ONLY (M2m) menl HEIGHT = {beta0}+({beta1}-{beta0})*($1/(1+exp(-{alpha})*(AGE-$ {lambda}))))+{U[id]} if GENDERr==0, stddeviations initial (beta0 80 beta1 150 alpha 0.3 lambda 7, fixed) estat ic estimates store M2m predict fitheightM2m if e(sample), yhat Irtest M1m M2m *SELECTED RANDOM EFFECTS MODEL, MALES ONLY (M9m) menl HEIGHT = {beta0:}+({beta1:}-{beta0:})*($1/(1+\exp(-{alpha:})*(AGE-$ {lambda:})))) if GENDERr==0, stddeviations define(beta0: {b0}+{U0[id]}) define(beta1: $\{b1\}+\{U1[id]\}$) define(alpha: $\{a2\}+\{U2[id]\}$) define(lambda: $\{13\}+\{U3[id]\}\)$ initial (b0 80 b1 150 a2 0.3 13 7, fixed) estat ic estimates store M9m predict fitheightM9m if e(sample), yhat Irtest M2m M9m ****** *RANDOM EFFECTS COVARIATE MODEL for HbA1c, MALES ONLY (M9mHbA1cPcnt beta1) *HYPOTHESIS: BG WILL DECREASE FAH (SO COVARIATE NEEDS ADDED TO b1) ***** ***** menl HEIGHT = {beta0:}+({beta1:}-{beta0:})*($1/(1+exp(-{alpha:}*(AGE-$ {lambda:})))) if GENDERr==0, stddeviations define(beta0: {b0}+{U0[id]}) define(beta1: $\{b10\}+\{b11\}$ *HbA1cPcnt+ $\{U1[id]\}$) define(alpha: $\{a2\}+\{U2[id]\}$) define(lambda: {13}+{U3[id]}) initial (b0 80 b10 150 a2 0.3 13 7, fixed) estat ic estimates store M9mHbA1cPcnt beta1 predict fitheightM9mHbA1cPcnt beta1 if e(sample), yhat

*calculate the residuals and graph them predict ROUTheightM_res if e(sample), residuals scatter ROUTheightM_res ROUTheightM qnorm ROUTheightM_res, name(q, replace) msize(small) pnorm ROUTheightM_res, name(p, replace) msize(small) kdensity ROUTheightM_res, normal

*calculate the RSDR *calculate the absolute value of the residuals generate RSDRheightM = abs(ROUTheightM_res) *rank them from low to high egen RSDRheightMrank = group(RSDRheightM) sort RSDRheightMrank *calculate the 68.27th percentile egen P68heightM = pctile(RSDRheightM), p(68.27) *7.8635

*for each point now take this abs value of the residual and divide it by the RSDR (this is called the tratio) generate tratioheightM = RSDRheightM/P68heightM *calculate a P-value from the tratio (one-tailed) generate pvalueheightM = ttail(10,tratioheightM) *double it to get two-tailed p-value replace pvalueheightM = (pvalueheightM*2) sort pvalueheightM egen pvalueheightM egen pvalueheightMrank = group(pvalueheightM) *graph the FDR with pvaluerank on the x-axis and p-value on the Y axis, ranked from small to large twoway (line pvalueheightM pvalueheightMrank)

*decide on Q for FDR and calculate threshold for outliers = q-value *Q=1% generate qvalueheightM = 0.01*(pvalueheightM*_N)/pvalueheightMrank sort qvalueheightM *flag outliers 0=ok 1=outside 1% generate outlierheightM = pvalueheightM<qvalueheightM

*drop outliers count if outlierheightM>0 drop if outlierheightM>0

REFERENCES

1. Jaiswal M, Divers J, Dabelea D, Isom S, Bell RA, Martin CL, Pettitt DJ, Saydah S, Pihoker C, Standiford DA, Dolan LM, Marcovina S, Linder B, Liese AD, Pop-Busui R, Feldman EL. Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in Youth With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes: SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(9):1226-1232. doi:10.2337/dc17-0179

2. Hautala N, Hannula V, Palosaari T, Ebeling T, Falck A. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in young adults with type 1 diabetes since childhood: the Oulu cohort study of diabetic retinopathy. *Acta Ophthalmol.* 2014;92(8):749-752. doi:10.1111/aos.12426

3. Shapiro ALB, Bellatorre A, Dabelea D, Stafford JM, D'Agostino R, Shah AS, Urbina EM, Barrett CE, Pihoker C, Marcovina S, Liese AD, Mottl AK, Jensen ET, Wilkening G. Diabetes Complications and Cognitive Function in Young Adults with Youth-Onset Type 1 or Type 2 Diabetes: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2023;2023:1-10. doi:10.1155/2023/4860831

4. Rodriguez BL, Dabelea D, Liese AD, Fujimoto W, Waitzfelder B, Liu L, Bell R, Talton J, Snively BM, Kershnar A, Urbina E, Daniels S, Imperatore G, Group SS. Prevalence and Correlates of Elevated Blood Pressure in Youth with Diabetes Mellitus: The Search for Diabetes in Youth Study. *J Pediatr*. 2010;157(2):245-251.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.02.021

5. Rodriguez BL, Fujimoto WY, Mayer-Davis EJ, Imperatore G, Williams DE, Bell RA, Wadwa RP, Palla SL, Liu LL, Kershnar A, Daniels SR, Linder B. Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in U.S. Children and Adolescents With Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2006;29(8):1891-1896. doi:10.2337/dc06-0310

6. WAGNER R, WHITE P, BOGAN IK. DIABETIC DWARFISM. *Am J Dis Child*. 1942;63(4):667-727. doi:10.1001/archpedi.1942.02010040035003

7. Jackson RL, Kelly HG. Growth of children with diabetes mellitus in relationship to level of control of the disease. *J Pediatr*. 1946;29(3):316-328. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(46)80146-x

8. Tattersall RB, Pyke DA. GROWTH IN DIABETIC CHILDREN Studies in Identical Twins. *Lancet*. 1973;302(7838):1105-1109. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(73)90931-8

9. Koren D. Growth and development in type 1 diabetes. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. 2022;29(1):57-64. doi:10.1097/med.00000000000694

10. Santi E, Tascini G, Toni G, Berioli MG, Esposito S. Linear Growth in Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Int J Environ Res Pu.* 2019;16(19):3677. doi:10.3390/ijerph16193677

11. Holl RW, Grabert M, Heinze E, Sorgo W, Debatin KM. Age at onset and long-term metabolic control affect height in type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Pediatr*. 1998;157(12):972-977. doi:10.1007/s004310050980

12. Brown M, Ahmed ML, Clayton KL, Dunger DB. Growth During Childhood and Final Height in Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetic Med.* 1994;11(2):182-187. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.1994.tb02017.x

13. Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Growth and Physiological Development During Adolescence. *Annu Rev Med.* 1968;19(1):283-300. doi:10.1146/annurev.me.19.020168.001435

14. M E, BR B. Tanner Stages. [Updated 2022 Dec 11]. In: Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022. Accessed January 1, 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK470280/

15. Marceau K, Ram N, Houts RM, Grimm KJ, Susman EJ. Individual Differences in Boys' and Girls' Timing and Tempo of Puberty: Modeling Development With Nonlinear Growth Models. *Dev Psychol.* 2011;47(5):1389-1409. doi:10.1037/a0023838

16. Dabelea D, Pihoker C, Talton JW, D'Agostino RB, Fujimoto W, Klingensmith GJ, Lawrence JM, Linder B, Marcovina SM, Mayer-Davis EJ, Imperatore G, Dolan LM, Study S for D in Y. Etiological Approach to Characterization of Diabetes Type. *Diabetes Care*. 2011;34(7):1628-1633. doi:10.2337/dc10-2324

17. Daneman D. Type 1 diabetes. *Lancet*. 2006;367(9513):847-858. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(06)68341-4

18. Dabelea D, Stafford JM, Mayer-Davis EJ, D'Agostino R, Dolan L, Imperatore G, Linder B, Lawrence JM, Marcovina SM, Mottl AK, Black MH, Pop-Busui R, Saydah S, Hamman RF, Pihoker C, Group S for D in YR. Association of Type 1 Diabetes vs Type 2 Diabetes Diagnosed During Childhood and Adolescence With Complications During Teenage Years and Young Adulthood. *JAMA*. 2017;317(8):825. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.0686

19. Foster NC, Beck RW, Miller KM, Clements MA, Rickels MR, DiMeglio LA, Maahs DM, Tamborlane WV, Bergenstal R, Smith E, Olson BA, Garg SK. State of Type 1 Diabetes Management and Outcomes from the T1D Exchange in 2016–2018. *Diabetes Technol The*. Published online 2019. doi:10.1089/dia.2018.0384

20. Group TSS, Bell R. SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth: a multicenter study of the prevalence, incidence and classification of diabetes mellitus in youth. *Control Clin Trials*. 2004;25(5):458-471. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2004.08.002

21. Lawrence JM, Mayer-Davis EJ, Reynolds K, Beyer J, Pettitt DJ, D'Agostino RB, Marcovina SM, Imperatore G, Hamman RF, Group S for D in YS. Diabetes in Hispanic American Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S123-S132. doi:10.2337/dc09-s204

22. Bell RA, Mayer-Davis EJ, Beyer JW, D'Agostino RB, Lawrence JM, Linder B, Liu LL, Marcovina SM, Rodriguez BL, Williams D, Dabelea D, Group S for D in YS. Diabetes in Non-Hispanic White Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S102-S111. doi:10.2337/dc09-s202

23. Mayer-Davis EJ, Beyer J, Bell RA, Dabelea D, D'Agostino R, Imperatore G, Lawrence JM, Liese AD, Liu L, Marcovina S, Rodriguez B, Group S for D in YS. Diabetes in African American Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S112-S122. doi:10.2337/dc09-s203

24. Motulsky HJ, Brown RE. Detecting outliers when fitting data with nonlinear regression – a new method based on robust nonlinear regression and the false discovery rate. *Bmc Bioinformatics*. 2006;7(1):123. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-7-123

25. Susman EJ, Houts RM, Steinberg L, Belsky J, Cauffman E, Dehart G, Friedman SL, Roisman GI, Halpern-Felsher BL, Network EKSNECCR. Longitudinal Development of Secondary Sexual Characteristics in Girls and Boys Between Ages 9¹/₂ and 15¹/₂ Years. *Arch Pediat Adol Med.* 2010;164(2):166-173. doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.261

26. Eaves L, Silberg J, Foley D, Bulik C, Maes H, Erkanli A, Angold A, Costello EJ, Worthman C. Genetic and Environmental Influences on the Relative Timing of Pubertal Change. *Twin Res.* 2004;7(5):471-481. doi:10.1375/1369052042335278

27. Tanner JM. Sequence, Tempo, and Individual Variation in the Growth and Development of Boys and Girls Aged Twelve to Sixteen. *Daedalus*. Published online 1971:907-930. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/20024040</u>

28. Cole TJ, Pan H, Butler GE. A mixed effects model to estimate timing and intensity of pubertal growth from height and secondary sexual characteristics. *Ann Hum Biol*. 2014;41(1):76-83. doi:10.3109/03014460.2013.856472

29. Cheng HL, Raubenheimer D, Steinbeck K, Baur L, Garnett S. New insights into the association of mid-childhood macronutrient intake to pubertal development in adolescence using nutritional geometry. *Brit J Nutr.* 2019;122(3):274-283. doi:10.1017/s0007114519001326

30. Ram N, Grimm K. Using simple and complex growth models to articulate developmental change: Matching theory to method. *Int J Behav Dev.* 2007;31(4):303-316. doi:10.1177/0165025407077751

31. Flegal KM, Ogden CL, Fryar C, Afful J, Klein R, Huang DT. Comparisons of Self-Reported and Measured Height and Weight, BMI, and Obesity Prevalence from National Surveys: 1999-2016. *Obesity*. 2019;27(10):1711-1719. doi:10.1002/oby.22591

32. Millward DJ. Nutrition, infection and stunting: the roles of deficiencies of individual nutrients and foods, and of inflammation, as determinants of reduced linear growth of children. *Nutr Res Rev.* 2017;30(1):50-72. doi:10.1017/s0954422416000238

33. Crookston BT, Dearden KA, Alder SC, Porucznik CA, Stanford JB, Merrill RM, Dickerson TT, Penny ME. Impact of early and concurrent stunting on cognition. *Matern Child Nutr*. 2011;7(4):397-409. doi:10.1111/j.1740-8709.2010.00255.x

34. Dewey KG, Begum K. Long-term consequences of stunting in early life. *Matern Child Nutr*. 2011;7:5-18. doi:10.1111/j.1740-8709.2011.00349.x

35. Sawaya AL, Roberts S. Stunting and future risk of obesity: principal physiological mechanisms. *Cad Saúde Pública*. 2003;19(suppl 1):S21-S28. doi:10.1590/s0102-311x2003000700003

36. Kueper J, Beyth S, Liebergall M, Kaplan L, Schroeder JE. Evidence for the Adverse Effect of Starvation on Bone Quality: A Review of the Literature. *Int J Endocrinol*. 2015;2015:628740. doi:10.1155/2015/628740

37. Golub MS, Collman GW, Foster PMD, Kimmel CA, Meyts ERD, Reiter EO, Sharpe RM, Skakkebaek NE, Toppari J. Public Health Implications of Altered Puberty Timing. *Pediatrics*. 2008;121(Supplement 3):S218-S230. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1813g

38. Davidian M, Giltinan DM. Nonlinear models for repeated measurement data: An overview and update. *J Agric, Biol, Environ Stat.* 2003;8(4):387. doi:10.1198/1085711032697

39. Abbassi V. Growth and normal puberty. Pediatrics. 1998;102(2 Pt 3):507-511.

40. Babineau V, Fonge YN, Miller ES, Grobman WA, Ferguson PL, Hunt KJ, Vena JE, Newman RB, Guille C, Tita ATN, Chandler-Laney PC, Lee S, Feng T, Scorza P, Takács L, Wapner RJ, Palomares KT, Skupski DW, Nageotte MP, Sciscione AC, Gilman S, Monk C. Associations of Maternal Prenatal Stress and Depressive Symptoms With Childhood Neurobehavioral Outcomes in the ECHO Cohort of the NICHD Fetal Growth Studies: Fetal Growth Velocity as a Potential Mediator. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2022;61(9):1155-1167. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2022.03.021

Chapter 3: The Nutritional Geometry of Physical Height Growth in Children with T1DM ABSTRACT

Background: Growth is a key indicator of overall health, influenced by both physiological and environmental factors. Altered growth patterns in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) have been linked to inadequate metabolic control, with poor diet and excess consumption of simple carbohydrates recognized as contributing factors. Specific dietary interventions have been shown to improve glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c). However, whether macronutrient distribution, the relationship among protein, carbohydrate, and fat, can affect height growth in children with T1DM remains unexplored.

Objective: This study aims to gain a comprehensive understanding of the macronutrient distribution as it relates to growth outcomes in children with T1DM. Nutritional geometry (NG) methods enable statistical and visual analysis of the potential influence of the macronutrient distribution on outcomes. The primary objective was to establish NG methodology within Stata software to explore the macronutrient distributions associated with physical height growth in a longitudinal study of children with T1DM.

Participants: The analysis included 1416 children with etiologic T1DM, followed from ages 2 to 20 years (71% white, 53% female) with a mean age of diagnosis of 9 years. Dietary intake data were obtained from food frequency questionnaires and analyzed for percent and absolute (gram) energy from protein, carbohydrate, and fat.

Study Design & Statistical Analysis: Nutritional geometry (NG) was employed to analyze macronutrient distribution associations with physical height growth in children

with T1DM. Mixed effects modeling, with response surface methodology using quadratic polynomials, was utilized to assess longitudinal associations.

Results: In the absence of controlling for confounders, NG analysis revealed a significant positive main effect association between fat intake and maximal height in boys, but no macronutrient associations with maximal height were detected in girls. No relationships with z-height were observed in boys or girls, suggesting that macronutrient distribution is unrelated to normal growth in this population. Further, graphical heat-map exploration across ages uncovered age-specific variations in relative percent and absolute gram macronutrient intakes associated with normal growth.

Conclusion: This analysis demonstrated the potential for NG to explore macronutrient distributions associated with longitudinal growth outcomes in children. The method may provide future utility to explore age-, sex-, and disease- specific associations toward informing precision nutrition objectives. Future analysis should consider confounding factors for a more comprehensive understanding.

BACKGROUND

Despite advancements in therapies and technologies, just one in five patients with insulin-dependent Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) can maintain glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) within recommended levels.¹ Notably, blood glucose is more poorly controlled in children than in adults. In the T1DExchange Clinic Registry study, the average HbA1c in children was ~1-1.5% higher than in adults.¹ Concurrently, children consumed ~10% more calories from carbohydrates than adults.² Further, the overall macronutrient distribution of patients with T1DM across age groups differed from the U.S. population.²

It has been reported that the presence of T1DM can negatively impact child growth,³ principally seen as a reduction in height velocity during puberty,⁴ with alteration of the growth hormone-insulin-like growth factor 1 axis (GH/IGF-1 axis) implicated.^{5,6} Elevated HbA1c has been associated with lower height z-score,⁷ with many studies concluding that lack of metabolic control is the likely culprit for alteration of growth patterns.^{8–10} This is further supported by the fact that with metabolic control, children with T1DM reach their genetic height potential.^{4,11} Our recent analysis suggested that rates of stunting and wasting in this population may be cause for clinical concern, though final adult height models predicted the population to be taller than children without T1DM.¹²

The foundational document for advising current dietary recommendations is the Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) developed by the Institute of Medicine (IOM). This document sets the Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Ranges (AMDR) meant to inform the distribution of protein (PRO), fat (FAT), and carbohydrate (CHO) intakes for a healthy population. However, the AMDR in children were developed without considering optimal growth outcomes or specific disease states.¹³ Towards the goal of precision nutrition, the present analysis seeks to evaluate the potential impacts of macronutrient distribution on growth outcomes in children with T1DM.

The relationship of dietary macronutrient intake with outcomes is commonly studied using simple linear regression. Linear regression assumes a linear relationship between the predictor variable(s) and the outcome of interest to determine which individual predictors primarily affect the outcome. However, macronutrients do not exist in isolation in the diet. Thus, the relationship among the macronutrients poses statistical challenges because of this collinear nature. That is, if one macronutrient increases, the other(s) must decrease, occurring dynamically and interactively across all three of the primary macronutrients: protein (PRO), carbohydrate (CHO), and fat (FAT). Notably, the goal of studying dietary macronutrient distribution is not only to identify individual macronutrient impacts but also the impact of the distribution of the whole diet on outcomes.

A more robust method for assessing the complete macronutrient distribution could provide a more comprehensive picture. Recently, such a method, termed Nutritional geometry (NG), taken from the ecology field, has been applied and validated in human nutritional epidemiology. NG has been used extensively to explore the associations of dietary intake on growth, reproduction, and lifespan across the animal kingdom. In humans, NG methods have been applied to multiple disease states and life stages, including obesity, reproduction,¹⁴ cardiometabolic disease,¹⁵ aging,¹⁶ and pubertal menarche.¹⁷ In the menarche study, the authors compared the NG method to simple linear regression, with NG able to detect novel associations that simple linear regression could not.¹⁷

NG enables the quantification of the strength of associations of macronutrients on an outcome while simultaneously allowing visualization using response surface methodology.¹⁸ The response surface method in the present analysis employs multiple linear regression with conventional p-value evaluation of coefficients but with two statistical modifications. First, including quadratic polynomial predictors embraced any potential nonlinearity between predictor (macronutrient) and outcome (growth metric). Second, the standardization of macronutrient predictors moderated any multicollinearity. Once the relationship of the macronutrient variables has been statistically modeled using response surface analysis (RSA), visualizations can be produced using response surface mapping (RSM).

Here, we have applied NG response surface methodology to longitudinal dietary data to explore the relationship between macronutrient distribution and physical height outcomes in children with T1DM. Height and z-height were evaluated to enable quantification and visualization of relationships with macronutrient distribution. Height was evaluated to gain a clear picture of the macronutrient distribution associated with *maximal* physical height growth, while z-height provided context for comparison to a reference population in terms of *normal* physical height growth. Thus, the primary goal of the present analysis is to infer what macronutrient distribution is associated with physical growth metrics in children with T1DM.

Specifically, we address the following questions in this population: 1) What macronutrients are associated with maximal height and optimal z-height growth outcomes? 2) What is the relationship of the relative percent intake of each macronutrient with normal z-height, and how does this change with age? 3) What are the absolute gram intakes associated with normal z-height, and how does this change with age?

The central hypothesis for this study is: "Among the macronutrients, the main effects of PRO will have the strongest positive, and CHO will have the strongest negative, association with growth outcomes in children with T1DM."

METHODS

Data Acquisition

Data were obtained from a multicenter longitudinal study conducted from ~2000 to 2020 by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive Diseases (NIDDK). Study centers were located across five states, and the longitudinal study has resulted in hundreds of primary and secondary analysis publications.

The present secondary data analysis was approved by the coordinating center, and data were obtained through the Lifecourse Epidemiology of Adiposity & Diabetes (LEAD) Center at the Colorado School of Public Health of the University of Colorado (IRB#CRV018). Data were received in de-identified form and deemed exempt from oversight by South Dakota State University Institutional Review Board (#IRB-2210012-EXM). The present analysis is focused on physical child growth and dietary intake. The investigation in the present paper represents an extension of analysis from our previous publication using the same dataset exploring longitudinal physical height and weight in this population.¹²

Participant Characteristics and Data Collection

Methods for primary data collection¹⁹ and analysis¹² have been previously described. Briefly, anthropomorphic and demographic data were collected via surveys, and clinical data were collected by medical personnel at study visits. Surveys obtained self-reported information on income, race, and education.^{20–22} At initial enrollment, T1DM was confirmed via the presence of diabetes autoantibodies. Study visits consisted of physical examination and collection of height and weight. Z-height was derived from collected height data based on the 2000 CDC growth charts, adjusting for child sex and age. Participant data was collected over time, with a maximum of six visits during childhood. Data were collected at baseline, one-year, two-year, and five-year follow-up, with two later cohorts collected at approximately five-year intervals. Food frequency questionnaire data was collected as described previously²³ using a modified Block Kid's Food Questionnaire with cultural adaptations used in the Diabetes Prevention Program.^{24,25}

Inclusions and exclusions were consistent with our previous secondary analysis publication.¹² Briefly, only participants with exact known ages between 2 and 20 years were included. Outliers were detected using ROUT²⁶ utilizing the statistical height and weight models in our previous publication.¹² **Supplement 3.1** depicts the inclusion and exclusion flowchart which is identical to our previous publication except for one additional exclusion of participants without at least one dietary food frequency questionnaire (FFQ), resulting in a sample size of 1416 (647 boys and 769 girls). **Supplement 3.2** contains the participant baseline characteristics table.

In the context of growth, we previously reported height and z-height by age and sex in this population. Our prior nonlinear height models revealed a population that was taller in final adult height and entered puberty earlier, than their peers.¹² We also reported concerning stunting (z-height<-1) rates, particularly among children diagnosed with T1DM before ~8 years of age.¹²

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was conducted in Stata/SE 18.0. For all growth outcomes and models, separate analyses were conducted for boys and girls. Models contained

independent variables related to macronutrients only, no confounding factors such as demographics or socioeconomic status were included in the models. **Supplement 3.3** contains example code for fitted RSA models and RSM graphing. Macronutrients were explored for potential associations with height and z-height. Macronutrient variables were standardized for all modeling to a mean of 0 and a standard deviation (SD) of 1. For RSA, models were evaluated for absolute gram and relative percent macronutrient intakes. All RSM was accomplished using the *twoway contour* command in Stata, using thin-plate splines and six to ten color levels. Due to the computational expense of applying thin-plate splines, a random sample of 50 individuals per sex was used for graphing of primary models. RSMs which included *age* utilized a random sample of 100 individuals per sex.

To explore whether total energy (TE) intake was associated with either height or z-height outcomes, mixed-effects modeling with repeated measures was used to test longitudinal relationships. Participant id and AGE were included as REs in the height model and participant id as an RE in the z-height model (since z-height is already age-adjusted).

Response Surface Analysis (RSA)

The relationships among the macronutrients pose special challenges for modeling and visualization because of their multicollinear nature. Multicollinearity affects the coefficients and p-values but does not influence the predictions, the precision of the predictions, or the goodness of fit statistics. However, if multicollinearity can be overcome, one can both quantify the strength of associations and perform visualization. Thus, RSA methodology was used to overcome the limitations of traditional methods through several statistical approaches. First, quadratic polynomials were incorporated within the regression models to embrace any potential nonlinear relationships of diet variables with an outcome. Quadratic polynomials embrace the natural nonlinear "wiggliness" of the effect of diet variable(s) on the outcome.^{27,28} Second, the standardization of the diet variables to a mean of 0 and an SD of 1 facilitated the improvement of multicollinearity. However, even with these approaches, RSA modeling could not overcome the multicollinearity of more than two macronutrient variables in the models. Modeling beyond a 3-way (two predictors and one outcome) becomes difficult to interpret, particularly if interactive effects are present. Therefore, in the current analysis, two macronutrients were included in the RSA models at a time, and all permutations of variables were tested in independent two-macronutrient models to explore main, quadratic, and interaction effects (e.g., model permutations run were: PRO/FAT, PRO/CHO, and FAT/CHO). All RSA regressions were performed using linear mixed-effects models with fixed effects (FEs) and random effects (REs).

Main effects determined if there was a direct effect of the predictor variable in isolation on the outcome variable. Quadratic variables in the models enabled the evaluation of curvilinear relationships between the predictor and outcome. Interactions were explored to determine if the outcome was modified by the interaction of the predictors, which can be thought of as an added effect or adjustment to the main effect when the macronutrients are present together. If interactions were not significant and significant main effects were present, we concluded that the main effects of the variables were of primary importance. Finally, age was explored as an interaction effect in some models to investigate relationships between age and outcomes.

RSA: Height

For the height outcome variable, RSA models included random effects (RE) for individual participant (id) and participant age. Using these REs acknowledges that individuals may have unique growth patterns over time and allows for participantspecific deviations from the average growth trajectory. This design enabled the identification of which macronutrient patterns are associated with maximal height within each participant's unique growth trajectory. Thus, height was undertaken as an outcome to explore how the different macronutrient distributions were associated with variations in "maximal" physical height growth.

RSA: Z-Height

Z-height is a sex-adjusted clinical metric of child stature-for-age relative to a cross-sectional reference population portrayed as SD from the mean. Here, a negative value indicates an individual is shorter in stature than the mean height of the reference population, while a positive value implies an individual is taller than the average height of the reference population.

For the z-height outcome variable, RSA models also included the participant (id) as an RE, but age was used as an FE instead of an RE. With age as an FE, the model provided a more general view of how age is associated with growth and is not tailored to individual-participant age variations. Z-height as a population-standardized metric, does not have an upward trajectory signature as height does with increasing child age. Thus, the z-height was explored to examine how growth outcomes compare to a reference population to better understand which macronutrient distribution is related to *normal* height growth.

As described in our previous work, child z-height in this population exhibited high rates of stunting, with unique patterns across ages in males versus females.¹² Therefore, for z-height analysis, girls and boys were still modeled and graphed separately, despite z-height being age and sex-adjusted. However, the utility of the metric being depicted in SDs allows direct comparison between males and females.

RSA: Intakes Associated with Normal Z-Height by Age

Including age as an FE in the z-height models allowed expanded exploration of macronutrient relationships with age. Using gram variables had the added advantage of assessing the specific absolute gram amounts of each macronutrient associated with a given z-height at specific ages. Similarly, relative percent intake associations with normal growth by age were explored. For age exploration models, RSAs were run with AGE and AGE² included in each model permutation. Subsequent RSM of these relationships enabled a visual depiction of the level of each macronutrient, in terms of absolute gram or relative percent intakes, for a normal (0) z-height across childhood by age. Importantly, these RSMs provided valuable sex-specific, clinically actionable intakes associated with normal growth in this population. RSMs depict a random sample of 100 individuals per sex.

Response Surface Analysis (RSA) Coefficient Interpretation

Due to the standardization of the predictor variables to avoid multicollinearity, the coefficient values from the RSA represent the change in the outcome variable associated with a one-SD change in the predictor variable. In this way, the coefficients are readily and equally interpretable across all macronutrient predictor variables. However, the coefficient values are not directly interpretable in units of the outcome variable. A

coefficient of +0.3 for a given macronutrient does not indicate an increase in the absolute amount of that macronutrient but rather a positive relationship in units of SD. For example, a macronutrient coefficient value of +0.3 would suggest that a one-SD increase in the macronutrient would result in an outcome variable value of +0.3 SD higher than its mean, holding all other variables constant.

Response Surface Mapping (RSM) Interpretation

Notably, while RSA can quantify and detect significant associations, the primary purpose of NG modeling is visualization through RSM. Importantly, even if coefficient values do not indicate significance, the associations between variables can still be visualized, aiding in interpretation, particularly if complex interactions are involved. Accordingly, the effects of the coefficients are interpreted visually using a graphing method in which two axes (predictors) represent two variables of interest on the x and yaxes, and a colored heatmap represents the third (outcome) z-axis. Conveniently, the graphs can be represented in the original absolute units of the variable (rather than the SD units reported for the coefficients), allowing valuable contextual interpretation. The heatmap coloring allows the z-axis outcome to be visualized as the change in the outcome value, with red and blue colors representing higher and lower values, respectively. The presence of quadratic polynomials in the models facilitates the curvature of the contour lines, indicating the nonlinear effects of the predictor variables on the outcomes. A basic RSM depicts macronutrient A on the x-axis, macronutrient B on the y-axis, and the growth outcome on the z-axis. RSMs incorporate all variables included in the RSA model, including those that involve main, quadratic, and interactive effects.

Additional RSMs can also be produced from the same RSA, given that the variables of interest were included as FEs in the model. For example, in our analysis, we further explored RSMs depicting age (x-axis), z-height (y-axis), and macronutrient (z-axis).

When interpreting RSMs, the main effects are visually distinguished from interactive effects by looking at the response surface. The main effects often manifest as more organized, structured patterns, while interaction effects tend to introduce complexity and irregularities in the response surface. The main effects of a specific macronutrient as one moves along the axis manifest as a simple linear or curved trend along that variable's axis and can be interpreted as an independent influence of that variable on the outcome. However, interaction effects typically result in more complex shapes, such as curvature or nonlinearity in the response surface. Observation of a nonlinear or curved pattern not explained by a single variable's main effect suggests an interaction effect. Interaction effects change the direction, steepness, or curvature of the surface as one moves across both axes. These axis changes indicate that the combined influence of the variables is more than just an additive effect. Main effects commonly appear with a "rainbow" pattern, while interactive effects have complicated patterns. Irregular patterns can indicate a more complex 3-way interactive, or the absence of any, effect.

RESULTS

Descriptive Assessments

Baseline characteristics of the population can be found in **Supplement 3.2**. In boys and girls, the cross-sectional mean macronutrient distribution across ages was 16%PRO/37%FAT/47%CHO and 16%PRO/36%FAT/48%CHO, respectively.

Our prior analysis revealed that this population may be taller than their peers. Accordingly, the mean z-height across ages was 0.316 and 0.302 for boys and girls, respectively in the present analysis. Despite these above-normal mean z-heights, we reported concerning stunting rates in our previous analysis.¹²

Total energy (TE) was explored for associations with longitudinal height and zheight outcomes. For height, there was a significant positive association of TE with height (coeff= +0.0011, p=0.001) in boys, however, the minimal coefficient magnitude indicates a modest effect size and lack of any clinically meaningful impacts. No association of TE with height was detected in girls (coeff= +0.0002, p=0.539). Further, there was no association of TE with z-height in boys (coeff= 0.0000, p=0.436) or girls (coeff= 0.0000, p=0.809). Taken together, these results indicate that height and zheight are not associated with TE intake in this population.

Question 1: What macronutrients are associated with maximal height and normal z-height growth outcomes in children with T1DM?

Findings in Boys-Maximal Height

RSA of height in boys (**Table 3.1**) supported significant associations between FAT intake and maximal height. There were significant positive main effects of FAT in both model permutations containing FAT (PRO/FAT and FAT/CHO) across both variable formats (relative percent and absolute gram). This result was further reinforced by a lack of quadratic or interaction effects of FAT. These results highlight the primary importance of FAT for the maximal height of boys in this population. Evaluation of RSMs (**Figure 3.1, Columns A** and **C**) supports this conclusion of a positive relationship of FAT with maximal height. PRO as a relative percent variable uncovered negative associations with height in both PRO-containing models (e.g., PRO/FAT and PRO/CHO) with (coef= -0.637, p=0.05 and coef= -1.043, p=0.01). However, the significance of this PRO association disappears in the context of absolute gram intakes (coef= -0.857, p=0.33 and coef= +0.852, p=0.09). RSMs for PRO can be found in **Figure 3.1, Columns A and B**.

The two CHO-containing model permutations (e.g., PRO/CHO and FAT/CHO) showed significant main effects of relative percent of CHO, but in opposing directions (coef=-1.218, p=0.00 and coef=+1.912, p=0.05), preventing a conclusion. Further, there were no statistical associations of CHO when considering absolute gram intakes. Visualization of RSMs in **Figure 3.1, Columns B and C** support these conclusions.

Findings in Boys-Normal Z-Height

RSA exploring z-height in boys (**Table 3.1**) detected a significant 2-way interaction of PROxCHO in both the relative percent (coeff= +0.082, p=0.05) and absolute gram (coeff= 0.001, p=0.03) models. However, despite their significance, note that the coefficients themselves are near zero, suggesting no actual impact. Visualization of the RSM also supports a lack of any meaningful relationship (**Figure 3.2, Panels B1 and B2**). Similarly, a significant interaction effect of FATxCHO in the context of absolute gram intake was detected (coeff= -0.034, p=0.04), but again the coefficient is near zero (**Figure 3.2 Panel C2**). Further, there was no relationship detected for FATxCHO in the relative percent model (coeff= 0.131, p=0.33). However, note the interesting pattern of this relationship despite a lack of detection of statistical significance (**Figure 3.2, Panel C1**) using quadratic polynomial models. Taken together, these data suggest a strong main effect of FAT for maximal height in boys. However, for normal z-height, the results suggest no clear relationship of any macronutrient.

Findings in Girls-Maximal Height

For girls, there were no statistically significant relationships between dietary intake and maximal height growth. There were no main, quadratic, or interactive associations (**Table 3.2**), of any macronutrient variable for relative percent or absolute gram variable formats on height, suggesting that neither macronutrient distribution nor absolute gram intakes of macronutrients play major roles in maximal height growth in girls. However, despite a lack of significant associations, RSMs (**Figure 3.3**) still reveal interesting patterns for maximal height in girls. The lack of statistical association despite clear visible relationships is likely the result of a minimal scale impact; that is, the overall influence of dietary intake on maximal height in girls spans a smaller centimeter range than in boys. The non-significance may also result from more complex (**Figure 3.3**, **Panel A**) relationships that are statistically undetectable in quadratic polynomial models.

Findings in Girls-Normal Z-Height

RSAs (Table 3.2) and RSMs (Figure 3.4) in girls revealed a lack of association of any macronutrient with normal z-height. RSAs reported all small near-zero, and nonsignificant, coefficients. Importantly, all RSMs depict a z-height>0 suggesting that all macronutrient distributions among female participants in the dataset as associated with above-normal z-heights. Thus, there were no associations of macronutrients with maximal height or normal z-height in girls. *Question 2: What is the relationship of the relative percent intake of each macronutrient with normal z-height, and how does this change with age?*

An important strength of RSM is the visualization of relationships of macronutrients with outcomes in an interpretable and potentially clinically relevant context. Thus, RSMs were utilized to answer questions about specific intake quantities associated with normal z-height growth. These questions, in part, can be explored by examining **Figures 3.2 and 3.4** for boys and girls, respectfully. However, additional RSMs were created (**Figures 3.5 and 3.6**) using age-containing RSA models to explore these relationships according to child age.

Finding in Boys

RSMs depicting relative percent macronutrient intake relationships across ages in boys were explored to uncover whether specific macronutrient patterns are associated with variations in z-height across childhood. RSMs provided a visual assessment of the impact of the percentage of each macronutrient on z-height across different ages in boys (**Figure 3.5, Row 1.**) Unlike previous RSMs, the colors here represent the percent (%) intake rather than the outcome variable, with z-height instead depicted on the y-axis. This facilitated clear visual estimation of specific percent intakes by age.

In boys, there is a pattern of higher intakes of FAT and PRO, and concomitant lower intakes of CHO, associated with normal z-height until after puberty, when more moderate intakes of all three macronutrients are associated with normal z-height (**Figure 3.5, Panel A1**). Recall that there were strong main effect associations of FAT intake with maximal height in boys, but this effect was absent for z-height. Exploration of the RSM in the context of age and z-height provides evidence that the effect of %FAT on z-height is age-dependent in boys. Taken together, these results suggest an age-dependent relationship of percent macronutrient intake with z-height in boys.

Findings in Girls

We concluded that macronutrients are unlikely to be associated with z-height in girls. Examining interactions between the relative percent intake of macronutrients and age could help to confirm or further describe if macronutrients play a role in z-height by age. RSMs exploring the percent intake of each percent macronutrient across ages in girls on z-height can be found in **Figure 3.6**, **Row 1**. As in boys, the colors represent energy intakes rather than the outcome variable, with z-height depicted on the y-axis.

Percentage intake relationships with z-height across ages in girls suggest a more complex picture than in boys. Notably, all the RSMs produced for z-height in girls were absent of a below-zero-value on the z-axis, indicating that the entire population of females with T1DM, across all percent macronutrient distributions (**Figure 3.4, Row 1**) and gram intakes (**Figure 3.4, Row 2**), are above normal for z-height. This pattern persists in **Figure 3.6, Row 1**, in which the y-axis>0.1, suggesting that a wide range of percent macronutrient intakes across ages are associated with normal and slightly above normal z-heights in girls. Further, RSMs suggest that above normal z-heights (*z*-height>0.4) may be supported by higher FAT and lower CHO intakes, until the onset of puberty when lower FAT and higher CHO intakes are associated. These RSMs highlight the utility of NG to detect important patterns associated with growth. **Taken together**, **these results suggest that while girls had more complicated patterns of percent intakes across ages than boys for above-normal z-heights, normal z-heights were supported by a wide range of macronutrient patterns**.

Question 3: What are the absolute gram intakes associated with normal z-height, and how does this change with age?

To next explore the absolute gram intakes of each macronutrient associated with z-height across ages, RSAs were run with age included as an FE. Resulting RSMs can be found in **Figure 3.5, Row 2** for boys, and **Figure 3.6, Row 2** for girls. The colors represent the absolute gram intakes rather than the outcome variable, with z-height depicted on the y-axis. The example code for such models can be found in **Supplement 3.3**.

Findings in Boys

RSMs exploring the age-related relationships of absolute gram intakes of macronutrients reveal that remarkably low gram intakes of each macronutrient were associated with normal z-heights (**Figure 3.5, Row 2**) in boys. FAT intakes of ~0-50g, PRO intakes of ~20-40g, and CHO intakes of ~50-100g are associated with normal z-height in boys to ~age 17.

Findings in Girls

Associations of absolute gram intake of each macronutrient with normal z-height in girls contrasted with boys (**Figure 3.6, Row 2**) and exhibit more complicated patterns for above normal z-height. However, as with percent intakes, gram intakes represented on graphs depicted no below-normal z-heights. Based on relationships with above-normal zheights, the RSMs suggest that above-normal z-heights are supported across a wide range of gram intakes of each macronutrient. **Together, these results further support that girls grow normally across ages regardless of relative percent or absolute gram intakes of macronutrients.**
DISCUSSION

Applying NG to human populations holds exciting possibilities for more comprehensive dietary intake assessments on outcomes. Indeed, in our recent review,¹³ no studies could be found that reported all three macronutrient coefficient associations with height outcomes in children. In the present analysis, we first explored if TE was associated with height or z-height, finding no relationship. We then used NG to detect and visualize associations between macronutrients and physical height outcomes in children with T1DM. Exploration of these relationships expands our understanding of dietary impacts on growth towards the goal of precision nutrition. Through NG, we assessed two important growth metrics in children, enabling the evaluation of both *maximal* and *normal* height growth metrics. The analysis was further extended to explore the relationship of macronutrients with z-height by age. Additional age analysis for relative percent and absolute gram intakes associated with normal growth provided an important clinically relevant context. The utility of NG highlights that relationships can be visualized and explored, even without statistically significant associations, as patterns of the response surface can still yield relevant information.

Importantly, our analysis showed that children in this population grew normally across a wide range of macronutrient patterns and intakes. This was supported both statistically through RSA and graphically through RSM. These results reinforce the commonly held tenet that hormones^{29–32} and genetics^{33,34} are the primary drivers of growth in children. It is crucial to know that despite the presence of disease, this population has normal growth regardless of macronutrient distribution in the diet.

However, our analysis revealed unexpected associations in boys in the context of maximal growth. Here, we will discuss several potential explanations for our findings.

The requirement for dietary PRO for human height growth is widely accepted.^{35–} ³⁷ PRO is uniquely essential for growth since it cannot be stored and is the only macronutrient that can be converted into body tissue protein.¹³ In a study of 45 nations, while genetics and socioeconomic factors correlated with final adult height, the strongest correlates with final adult height were PRO quantity and PRO quality.^{38,39} Although FAT is known to play an important role in nervous tissue development, any impacts on height are commonly assumed to be due to total energy contribution⁴⁰, indirectly rather than directly driving growth. Similarly, CHO is primarily considered a source of energy, with no known association across studies as a driver of height growth.¹³ Thus, we hypothesized that PRO would have a strong main effect association with height growth in the present analysis. Further, given the presence of T1DM, we hypothesized that CHO may be negatively associated with height growth.

Interestingly, in the context of maximal height growth, our results were contrary to our hypothesis. First, girls showed no associations of any macronutrient with maximal height. However, our results showed that a diet higher in relative percent and absolute gram intakes of FAT was associated with increased maximal height in boys. Also contrary to our hypothesis, the relative percent of PRO had negative associations with maximal height in boys, though based on the RSMs may only impact higher PRO intakes >20% (**Figure 3.1, Panel B1**). Further, the main effects of relative percent CHO presented conflicting information in two different model permutations, preventing a conclusion. We propose that the unexpected finding of FAT's role in maximal height is specific to this population due to the presence of T1DM, though mechanisms need exploration. Further, given the important role of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1/GH) axis in driving child growth,⁶ the need for exogenous insulin in this population may also play a role.

While child growth is a sensitive metric of overall health, there is little evidence that taller stature has any physiologic benefit. Thus, we reasoned that understanding how macronutrients are related to *normal* growth may be more clinically relevant and actionable. To gain a complete picture of the macronutrient distribution associated with normal rather than maximal height, we next explored z-height. Nevertheless, girls and boys displayed no association of any macronutrient on z-height. Importantly, RSMs suggest that the entire population of girls in this analysis exhibited above-normal zheight, supported by a wide range of macronutrient intakes.

Together, these results highlight sex differences of the impacts of macronutrients on maximal height, but not z-height growth in this population. Maximal height in boys may be primarily affected by FAT in the diet. While is girls, there is little evidence that any specific macronutrient or macronutrient distribution plays roles in height or z-height.

Despite the lack of any associations of macronutrients with z-height, we wondered if age could be resulting in hidden relationships. We were left with clinical questions about what intakes at specific ages were associated with normal growth. Thus, we next employed expanded models with the effects of age included as interaction effects. When age was used as an RE for height models, it considered that the influence of age on height varies randomly across individuals. In other words, individuals have different growth trajectories. This approach accommodated individual variability in growth patterns and thus was appropriate for exploring maximal heights. However, models for standardized z-height included age as an FE to facilitate the investigation of age as a systematic predictor of z-height for the entire population. That is, age was considered to have a consistent and structured effect on z-height across all individuals in the sample. This provided the added benefit of being able to include age as an axis in the RSMs. The produced RSMs provided a rich picture of these relationships, enabling agespecific insight. Notably, a clearer picture was revealed by age in boys than in girls, suggesting that normal z-height in boys was supported with higher FAT and PRO as a percent of intake in the diet through childhood. Thus, the RSMs that include age are important because they tell a more complete story across child growth.

Finally, evaluating absolute gram intake across ages painted a different picture in girls versus boys. In boys, low levels of gram intake of each macronutrient were associated with normal z-height across childhood through age ~17. However, in girls, a higher gram intake of each macronutrient was associated with above-normal z-height, suggesting that girls have different minimum intake requirements than boys. Regardless, the utility of RSMs to inform potential intake recommendations holds great clinical promise.

There are important limitations of the present analysis that must be discussed. The average age of onset of T1DM among the study participants was ~10 years of age, with most participants enrolled within one year of diagnosis. As described our data is longitudinal; however, it was collected at inconsistent intervals across childhood. Thus, this type of data lent itself well to the mixed effects modeling we employed. However, since children were not enrolled until after diagnosis, this means there was limited

availability of FFQ and height data before age 10. Therefore, the assessment of relationships between child growth and dietary intake before age 10 may be less statistically robust. Further, our previous publication describing the growth trajectories of this population predicted the age of takeoff for height growth to be ~10 years old in boys and girls.¹² Both the onset of diabetes and the takeoff of puberty occurring simultaneously certainly complicates our understanding of the relationships between diet and growth. FFQ collected after age 10 may be missing important relationships of how diet may have already affected the trajectory of growth prior to diagnosis.

As mentioned, some RSMs showed complex relationships that may not be detectable with quadratic polynomial models. As such, future consideration of other modeling methods such as generalized additive models (GAM) and software that supports graphing of three macronutrients and an outcome concurrently, are proposed.¹⁷

The richness of NG analysis presents exciting potential to explore other outcomes in this population. Of future interest are diabetes-specific acute outcomes, such as HbA1c and insulin requirement, as well as chronic outcomes such as retinopathy and nephropathy.

Importantly, the results reported in the present analysis cannot be extrapolated to children without T1DM. Further, we acknowledge that confounding variables were not included in our NG analysis, presenting a severe limitation to our conclusion. As such, future use of the NG method must include control for birthweight, demographics and socioeconomic factors. Despite this, the illustrated methods provide exciting potential for application to other populations of children with and without disease. The fact that the DRI and AMDR are not informed based on optimal growth outcomes must be addressed. The use of NG to explore normal growth outcomes has potential utility for informing future dietary recommendations.

CONCLUSION

Whether a child is growing properly is a sensitive metric of overall health. The relationship of dietary intake with growth is especially important in children with T1DM due to challenges of blood glucose control. The evaluation of macronutrient distribution using NG enabled both statistical and graphical assessment of the potential impacts of the whole diet on physical height growth. Our results suggest that children with T1DM grow normally across a wide range of macronutrient distributions. However, boys and not girls, are sensitive to the intake of FAT in the diet in the context of maximal growth and this relationship is age-dependent. Additional NG graphing also supplied clinical context informing potential future intake recommendations toward the goal of precision nutrition in this population.

TABLES

Table 3.1

Table 3.1: Response surface analysis (RSA) of height and z-height in boys. RSA models exploring the association of macronutrients with physical height metrics in boys. Due to multicollinearity, two macronutrient combinations were modeled at a time. Coefficient significance represented as P>|z|. P<0.05 are designated with red squares.

Boys	height			z-height				
	PERC	ENT	GRA	AM	PERC	ENT	GRA	AM
	Coeff	P > z						
Model: PRO, FAT								
PRO	-0.637	0.05	-0.857	0.33	-0.020	0.44	0.026	0.72
FAT	0.965	0.00	2.007	0.02	0.009	0.74	0.018	0.81
PRO ²	-0.010	0.97	1.158	0.35	0.002	0.93	0.170	0.09
FAT ²	0.050	0.83	0.947	0.41	0.034	0.07	0.164	0.08
PRO x FAT	-0.134	0.73	-2.275	0.33	-0.036	0.23	-0.342	0.07
AGE	-	-	-	-	0.042	0.48	0.047	0.43
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	-0.003	0.09	-0.004	0.07
Model: PRO, CHO								
PRO	-1.043	0.01	0.852	0.09	-0.024	0.48	0.018	0.66
СНО	-1.218	0.00	0.348	0.48	-0.011	0.74	0.052	0.18
PRO ²	0.056	0.89	0.090	0.67	0.023	0.45	-0.001	0.98
CHO ²	0.080	0.83	0.070	0.80	0.055	0.07	-0.014	0.51
PRO x CHO	0.223	0.74	-0.418	0.35	0.082	0.05	0.001	0.03
AGE	-	-	-	-	0.042	0.48	0.052	0.38
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	-0.003	0.09	-0.004	0.06
Model: FAT, CHO								
FAT	2.480	0.01	1.347	0.01	0.057	0.48	0.017	0.67
СНО	1.912	0.05	-0.003	0.99	0.060	0.44	0.050	0.19
FAT ²	0.315	0.89	0.105	0.56	0.129	0.45	0.013	0.45
CHO ²	-0.086	0.97	0.264	0.38	0.014	0.93	0.005	0.84
FAT x CHO	0.266	0.95	-0.673	0.13	0.131	0.33	-0.034	0.04
AGE	-	-	-	-	0.042	0.48	0.051	0.39
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	-0.003	0.09	-0.004	0.06

PERCENT - Macronutrients are represented as a percentage of total energy intake to explore impacts of the relative distribution of macronutrients. GRAM - Models contain no adjustment for total energy intake to explore the direct impact of absolute grams of each macronutrient.

Table 3.2

Table 3.2: Response surface analysis (RSA) of height and z-height in girls. RSA models exploring the association of macronutrients with physical height metrics in girls. Due to multicollinearity, two macronutrient combinations were modeled at a time. Coefficient significance represented as P>|z|. P<0.05 are designated with red squares.

Girls	height				z-height				
	PERCENT		GRA	GRAM		PERCENT		GRAM	
	Coeff	P > z	Coeff	P > z	Coeff	P> z	Coeff	P > z	
Model: PRO, FAT		_							
PRO	-0.339	0.17	-0.137	0.85	0.010	0.66	0.085	0.19	
FAT	-0.054	0.82	0.249	0.73	-0.026	0.23	-0.084	0.20	
PRO ²	0.104	0.54	0.857	0.49	0.014	0.39	0.084	0.46	
FAT ²	0.037	0.82	0.609	0.62	0.009	0.54	0.050	0.65	
PRO x FAT	-0.193	0.43	-1.580	0.51	-0.005	0.84	-0.138	0.53	
AGE	-	-	-	-	-0.197	0.00	-0.191	0.00	
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	0.006	0.00	0.005	0.00	
Model: PRO, CHO									
PRO	-0.316	0.30	-0.386	0.33	0.021	0.46	-0.022	0.57	
СНО	0.068	0.82	0.650	0.09	0.033	0.23	0.037	0.30	
PRO ²	0.192	0.44	0.106	0.73	0.017	0.47	0.032	0.26	
CHO ²	0.058	0.82	-0.118	0.49	0.014	0.54	-0.008	0.66	
PRO x CHO	0.283	0.51	-0.145	0.75	0.015	0.70	-0.040	0.34	
AGE	-	-	-	-	-0.197	0.00	-0.191	0.00	
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	0.006	0.00	0.005	0.00	
Model: FAT, CHO									
FAT	0.752	0.30	-0.244	0.53	-0.049	0.46	-0.042	0.24	
СНО	1.017	0.17	0.538	0.13	-0.029	0.66	0.051	0.13	
FAT ²	1.087	0.44	0.134	0.61	0.096	0.47	0.033	0.17	
CHO ²	0.941	0.54	-0.048	0.76	0.123	0.39	-0.005	0.73	
FAT x CHO	2.071	0.47	-0.300	0.44	0.208	0.45	-0.049	0.17	
AGE	-	-	-	-	-0.197	0.00	-0.192	0.00	
AGE ²	-	-	-	-	0.006	0.00	0.005	0.00	

PERCENT - Macronutrients are represented as a percentage of total energy intake to explore impacts of the relative distribution of macronutrients. GRAM - Models contain no adjustment for total energy intake to explore the direct impact of absolute grams of each macronutrient.





Figure 3.1: Response surface maps (RSM) of height in boys. Response surface analysis (RSA) models were used to create RSM to visualize relationships of maximal height with macronutrient distribution. RSA model coefficient results and significance can be found in Table 3.1. **Row 1:** Relative percent variable analysis. **Row 2:** Absolute gram variable analysis. Protein (PRO), carbohydrate (CHO), and fat (FAT).



Figure 3.2

Figure 3.2: Response surface maps (RSM) of z-height in boys. Response surface analysis (RSA) models were used to create RSM to visualize relationships of normal z-height with macronutrient distribution. RSA model coefficient results and significance can be found in Table 3.1. Row 1: Relative percent variable analysis. **Row 2:** Absolute gram variable analysis. Protein (PRO), carbohydrate (CHO), and fat (FAT).



Figure 3.3

Figure 3.3: Response surface maps (RSM) of height in girls. Response surface analysis (RSA) models were used to create RSM to visualize relationships of maximal height with macronutrient distribution. RSA model coefficient results and significance can be found in Table 3.2. Row 1: Relative percent variable analysis. Row 2: Absolute gram variable analysis. Protein (PRO), carbohydrate (CHO), and fat (FAT).



Figure 3.4

Figure 3.4: Response surface maps (RSM) of z-height in girls. Response surface analysis (RSA) models were used to create RSM to visualize relationships of normal z-height with macronutrient distribution. RSA model coefficient results and significance can be found in Table 3.2. Row 1: Relative percent variable analysis. **Row 2:** Absolute gram variable analysis. Protein (PRO), carbohydrate (CHO), and fat (FAT).







Figure 3.5: Response surface maps (RSM) of z-height relationships in boys. Row 1: Relative percent macronutrient relationships across ages. **Row 2:** Absolute gram macronutrient relationships across ages. The dashed line defines normal (0) z-height.







AGE (years)

AGE (years)

SUPPLEMENTS

Supplement 3.1

Supplement 3.1: Inclusion and exclusion flowchart of participants.



Supplement 3.2

Supplement 3.2. Participant baseline characteristics.	
---	--

	Males	Females	Total	
		Mean and (SD)		
No. participants	589	704	1293	
Age (years)	10.32 (3.51)	9.71 (3.34)	9.99 (3.43)	
Age at diagnosis (years)	9.54 (3.50)	8.91 (3.37)	9.19 (3.45)	
Birthweight (grams)	3451.33 (602.58)	3329.64 (570.91)	3384.29 (588.18)	
HbA1c (%)	7.57 (1.45)	7.64 (1.38)	7.61 (1.41)	
		n and (%)		
Income (USD)				
=<\$25K	80 (14.7%)	87 (13.4%)	167 (14.0%)	
<i>\$25-49K</i>	111 (20.3%)	142 (21.9%)	253 (21.2%)	
\$50-75K	119 (21.8%)	136 (21.0%)	255 (21.4%)	
<i>\$75K</i> +	236 (43.2%)	282 (43.6%)	518 (43.4%)	
Race				
White	432 (73.3%)	489 (69.5%)	921 (71.2%)	
Hispanic	89 (15.1%)	105 (14.9%)	194 (15.0%)	
Black	40 (6.8%)	63 (8.9%)	103 (8.0%)	
Other	28 (4.8%)	47 (6.7%)	75 (5.8%)	
Parent Education				
Less than high school	22 (3.8%)	19 (2.7%)	41 (3.2%)	
High school degree	87 (14.9%)	99 (14.2%)	186 (14.5%)	
Some college to Associates	170 (29.2%)	220 (31.6%)	390 (30.5%)	
Bachelors or more	303 (52.1%)	359 (51.5%)	662 (51.8%)	

USD, United States Dollar.

Supplement 3.3

*-twoway contour- takes too long to run, so must use subsample for graphing of RSMs *all RSAs still run on FULL dataset

*50 set seed 12345 randomselect if GENDERr==0 & PROper!=., gen(selected_males) select(id) n(50) set seed 12345 randomselect if GENDERr==1 & PROper!=., gen(selected_females) select(id) n(50)

*RSA: HEIGHT, PERCENT, PRO/FAT, BOYS

mixed HEIGHT PROper_std FATper_std PROper_quad FATper_quad PROperxFATper if GENDERr==0 || id:AGE , covariance(unstructured) estat ic estimates store HEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED predict HEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED if e(sample) *RSM: HEIGHT(z), FATper(y), PROper(x) twoway contour HEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED FATper PROper if selected_males==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(6) ztitle(height (cm)) ytitle(FAT (%)) xtitle(PRO (%)) zlabel(#6)

*HEIGHT GRAM MODEL, id:AGE as REs

*RSA: HEIGHT, GRAM, PRO/FAT, BOYS

mixed HEIGHT PROgrm_std FATgrm_std PROgrm_quad FATgrm_quad PROgrmxFATgrm if GENDERr==0 \parallel id:AGE , covariance(unstructured) estat ic

estimates store HEIGHTm_TPFgrm_MIXED predict HEIGHTm_TPFgrm_MIXED if e(sample) *RSM: HEIGHT(z), FATgrm(y), PROgrm(x) twoway contour HEIGHTm_PFgrm_MIXED FATgrm PROgrm if selected_males==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(6) ztitle(height (cm)) ytitle(FAT (g/day)) xtitle(PRO (g/day)) zlabel(#6)

estimates store zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED predict zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED if e(sample) *RSM: HEIGHT(z), FATper(y), PROper(x) twoway contour zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED FATper PROper if selected_males==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(6) ztitle(z-height (sd)) ytitle(FAT (%)) xtitle(PRO (%)) zlabel(#6)

*AGE PERCENT RSM:

*RSM: FATper(z), z-height(y), AGE(x) twoway contour FATper zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED AGE if selected_males100==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(10) ztitle(FAT (%)) ytitle(z-height sd) xtitle(AGE (years)) zlabel(#10)

*RSM: PROper(z), z-height(y), AGE(x)

twoway contour PROper zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED AGE if selected_males100==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(10) ztitle(PRO (%)) ytitle(z-height sd) xtitle(AGE (years)) zlabel(#10)

* Z-HEIGHT + AGE, GRAMS, id as RE, AGE as FE

*RSA: Z-HEIGHT, GRAMS, PRO/FAT, BOYS mixed heightz PROgrm_std FATgrm_std PROgrm_quad FATgrm_quad PROgrmxFATgrm AGE AGE_quad if GENDERr==0 || id: , covariance(unstructured) estimates store zHEIGHTm_PFgrm_MIXED predict zHEIGHTm_PFgrm_MIXED if e(sample) *RSM: HEIGHT(z), FATgrm(y), PROgrm(x) twoway contour zHEIGHTm_PFgrm_MIXED FATgrm PROgrm if selected_males==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(6) ztitle(z-height (sd)) ytitle(FAT (g/day)) xtitle(PRO (g/day)) zlabel(#6)

*AGE GRAM RSM:

*RSM: FATgrm(z), z-height(y), AGE(x) twoway contour FATgrm zHEIGHTm_PFgrm_MIXED AGE if selected_males100==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(10) ztitle(FAT (%)) ytitle(z-height sd) xtitle(AGE (years)) zlabel(#10)

*RSM: PROgrm(z), z-height(y), AGE(x)

twoway contour PROgrm zHEIGHTm_PFper_MIXED AGE if selected_males100==1, interp(thinplatespline) level(10) ztitle(PRO (%)) ytitle(z-height sd) xtitle(AGE (years)) zlabel(#10)

REFERENCES

1. Foster NC, Beck RW, Miller KM, Clements MA, Rickels MR, DiMeglio LA, Maahs DM, Tamborlane WV, Bergenstal R, Smith E, Olson BA, Garg SK. State of Type 1 Diabetes Management and Outcomes from the T1D Exchange in 2016–2018. *Diabetes Technol The*. Published online 2019. doi:10.1089/dia.2018.0384

2. Powers MA, Gal RL, Connor CG, Mangan M, Maahs DM, Clements MA, Mayer-Davis EJ. Eating patterns and food intake of persons with type 1 diabetes within the T1D exchange. *Diabetes Res Clin Pr.* 2018;141:217-228. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2018.05.011

3. Parthasarathy L, Khadilkar V, Chiplonkar S, Khadilkar A. Longitudinal growth in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Indian Pediatr*. 2016;53(11):990-992. doi:10.1007/s13312-016-0974-1

4. Santi E, Tascini G, Toni G, Berioli MG, Esposito S. Linear Growth in Children and Adolescents with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Int J Environ Res Pu.* 2019;16(19):3677. doi:10.3390/ijerph16193677

5. Bizzarri C, Benevento D, Giannone G, Bongiovanni M, Anziano M, Patera IP, Cappa M, Cianfarani S. Sexual dimorphism in growth and insulin-like growth factor-I in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Growth Horm Igf Res.* 2014;24(6):256-259. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2014.08.004

6. Raisingani M, Preneet B, Kohn B, Yakar S. Skeletal growth and bone mineral acquisition in type 1 diabetic children; abnormalities of the GH/IGF-1 axis. *Growth Horm Igf Res.* 2017;34:13-21. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2017.04.003

7. Svensson J, Schwandt A, Pacaud D, Beltrand J, Birkebæk NH, Cardona-Hernandez R, Casteels K, Castro S, Cherubini V, Cody D, Fisch N, Hasnani D, Kordonouri O, Kosteria I, Luczay A, Pundziute-Lyckå A, Maffeis C, Piccini B, Luxmi P, Sumnik Z, Beaufort C de. The influence of treatment, age at onset, and metabolic control on height in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes—A SWEET collaborative study. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19(8):1441-1450. doi:10.1111/pedi.12751

8. Holl RW, Grabert M, Heinze E, Sorgo W, Debatin KM. Age at onset and long-term metabolic control affect height in type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Pediatr*. 1998;157(12):972-977. doi:10.1007/s004310050980

9. Elamin A, Hussein O, Tuvemo T. Growth, puberty, and final height in children with Type 1 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complicat*. 2006;20(4):252-256. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2005.07.001

10. Marcovecchio ML, Heywood JJ, Dalton RN, Dunger DB. The contribution of glycemic control to impaired growth during puberty in young people with type 1 diabetes and microalbuminuria. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2014;15(4):303-308. doi:10.1111/pedi.12090

11. Bizzarri C, Timpanaro TA, Matteoli MC, Patera IP, Cappa M, Cianfarani S. Growth Trajectory in Children with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: The Impact of Insulin Treatment and Metabolic Control. *Horm Res Paediat*. 2018;89(3):172-177. doi:10.1159/000486698

12. Freeling JL. Longitudinal Analysis of Physical Growth in Children with T1DM: The Potential Impacts of Disease Duration and Blood Glucose Control [Unpublished manuscript]. *Unpublished Manuscript*.

13. Freeling JL. Dietary Macronutrients and Child Height: A Narrative Review [Unpublished Manuscript]. *Unpublished Manuscript*.

14. Pini T, Raubenheimer D, Simpson SJ, Crean AJ. Obesity and Male Reproduction; Placing the Western Diet in Context. *Front Endocrinol*. 2021;12:622292. doi:10.3389/fendo.2021.622292

15. Wali JA, Raubenheimer D, Senior AM, Couteur DGL, Simpson SJ. Cardio-metabolic consequences of dietary carbohydrates: reconciling contradictions using nutritional geometry. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2020;117(2):386-401. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvaa136

16. Simpson SJ, Raubenheimer D. Calorie Restriction, Aging and Longevity. Published online 2010:111-122. doi:10.1007/978-90-481-8556-6_7

17. Cheng HL, Raubenheimer D, Steinbeck K, Baur L, Garnett S. New insights into the association of mid-childhood macronutrient intake to pubertal development in adolescence using nutritional geometry. *Brit J Nutr.* 2019;122(3):274-283. doi:10.1017/s0007114519001326

18. Raubenheimer D, Simpson SJ. Nutritional Ecology and Human Health. *Annu Rev Nutr*. 2015;36(1):1-24. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-071715-051118

19. Group TSS, Bell R. SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth: a multicenter study of the prevalence, incidence and classification of diabetes mellitus in youth. *Control Clin Trials*. 2004;25(5):458-471. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2004.08.002

20. Lawrence JM, Mayer-Davis EJ, Reynolds K, Beyer J, Pettitt DJ, D'Agostino RB, Marcovina SM, Imperatore G, Hamman RF, Group S for D in YS. Diabetes in Hispanic American Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S123-S132. doi:10.2337/dc09-s204

21. Bell RA, Mayer-Davis EJ, Beyer JW, D'Agostino RB, Lawrence JM, Linder B, Liu LL, Marcovina SM, Rodriguez BL, Williams D, Dabelea D, Group S for D in YS. Diabetes in Non-Hispanic White Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S102-S111. doi:10.2337/dc09-s202

22. Mayer-Davis EJ, Beyer J, Bell RA, Dabelea D, D'Agostino R, Imperatore G, Lawrence JM, Liese AD, Liu L, Marcovina S, Rodriguez B, Group S for D in YS.

Diabetes in African American Youth. *Diabetes Care*. 2009;32(Suppl 2):S112-S122. doi:10.2337/dc09-s203

23. Mayer-Davis EJ, Nichols M, Liese AD, Bell RA, Dabelea DM, Johansen JM, Pihoker C, Rodriguez BL, Thomas J, Williams D, Group S for D in YS. Dietary Intake among Youth with Diabetes: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2006;106(5):689-697. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2006.02.002

24. Mayer-Davis EJ, Sparks KC, Hirst K, Costacou T, Lovejoy JC, Regensteiner JG, Hoskin MA, Kriska AM, Bray GA, Group TDPPR. Dietary intake in the Diabetes Prevention Program cohort: baseline and 1-year post-randomization. *Ann Epidemiology*. 2004;14(10):763-772. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2004.02.004

25. Liese AD, Crandell JL, Tooze JA, Fangman MT, Couch SC, Merchant AT, Bell RA, Mayer-Davis EJ. Relative validity and reliability of an FFQ in youth with type 1 diabetes. *Public Heal Nutr*. 2015;18(3):428-437. doi:10.1017/s1368980014000408

26. Motulsky HJ, Brown RE. Detecting outliers when fitting data with nonlinear regression – a new method based on robust nonlinear regression and the false discovery rate. *Bmc Bioinformatics*. 2006;7(1):123. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-7-123

27. Moatt JP, Fyfe MA, Heap E, Mitchell LJM, Moon F, Walling CA. Reconciling nutritional geometry with classical dietary restriction: Effects of nutrient intake, not calories, on survival and reproduction. *Aging Cell*. 2019;18(1):e12868. doi:10.1111/acel.12868

28. Bonduriansky R, Runagall-McNaull A, Crean AJ. The nutritional geometry of parental effects: maternal and paternal macronutrient consumption and offspring phenotype in a neriid fly. *Funct Ecol.* 2016;30(10):1675-1686. doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12643

29. Robson H, Siebler T, Shalet SM, Williams GR. Interactions between GH, IGF-I, Glucocorticoids, and Thyroid Hormones during Skeletal Growth. *Pediatr Res*. 2002;52(2):137-147. doi:10.1203/00006450-200208000-00003

30. Vijayakumar A, Novosyadlyy R, Wu Y, Yakar S, LeRoith D. Biological effects of growth hormone on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. *Growth Horm Igf Res*. 2010;20(1):1-7. doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2009.09.002

31. Styne DM. The Regulation of Pubertal Growth. *Horm Res Paediat*. 2003;60(Suppl 1):22-26. doi:10.1159/000071222

32. Devesa J, Almengló C, Devesa P. Multiple Effects of Growth Hormone in the Body: Is it Really the Hormone for Growth? *Clin Medicine Insights Endocrinol Diabetes*. 2016;9:47-71. doi:10.4137/cmed.s38201

33. Perkins JM, Subramanian SV, Smith GD, Özaltin E. Adult height, nutrition, and population health. *Nutr Rev.* 2016;74(3):149-165. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuv105

34. Rogol AD, Clark PA, Roemmich JN. Growth and pubertal development in children and adolescents: effects of diet and physical activity. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 2000;72(2):521S-528S. doi:10.1093/ajcn/72.2.521s

35. Pencharz P, Elango R. 1.3.3 Protein. Published online 2008:37-41. doi:10.1159/000155244

36. Martorell R, Lechtig A, Yarbrough C, Delgado H, Klein RE. Protein-calorie supplementation and postnatal physical growth: a review of findings from developing countries. *Arch Latinoam Nutr*. 1976;26(2):115-128.

37. DUGDALE AE, CHEN ST, HEWITT G. Patterns of Growth and Nutrition in Childhood. *Am J Clin Nutrition*. 1970;23(10):1280-1287. doi:10.1093/ajcn/23.10.1280

38. Grasgruber P, Hrazdíra E. Nutritional and socio-economic predictors of adult height in 152 world populations. *Econ Hum Biol.* 2020;37:100848. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2020.100848

39. Grasgruber P, Cacek J, Kalina T, Sebera M. The role of nutrition and genetics as key determinants of the positive height trend. *Econ Hum Biol*. 2014;15:81-100. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2014.07.002

40. Panel, Macronutrients. *Dietary Reference Intakes (DRI) for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids.*; 2005. doi:10.17226/10490